

## **Transgenics: Fast Track to Plant Stress Amelioration**

## Gulzar S. Sanghera<sup>1\*</sup> • Prem L. Kashyap<sup>2</sup> • Gurpreet Singh<sup>3</sup> • Jaime A. Teixeira da Silva<sup>4\*\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> SKUAST (K) Rice Research and Regional Stationa, Khudwani, Anantnag-192102, J&K, India <sup>2</sup> Department of Plant Pathology, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, 141004, India

<sup>3</sup> Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, 141004, India

<sup>4</sup> Faculty of Agriculture and Graduate School of Agriculture, Kagawa University, Miki-cho, Ikenobe 2393, Kagawa-ken, 761-0795, Japan

Corresponding author: \* g\_singh72@rediffmail.com \*\* jaimetex@yahoo.com

### ABSTRACT

Crop researchers are under increasing pressure to breed designer crops that are able to survive a plethora of biotic and abiotic threats while enhancing their nutritional or other inherent value. Conventional crop breeding is no longer able to meet the challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Genetic transformation is a realistic and viable means of modifying traits of economic significance in crops that ultimately provide a solution to solve the global problems of hunger and malnutrition. Genetically modified crops can now overcome biotic (pathogens and insect pests) and abiotic stresses (herbicides, drought, salinity, salt, etc.) while maintaining the same productivity. This review focuses on the significant achievements of genetic transformation in crops built to be tolerant to different biotic and abiotic stresses.

Keywords: Transgenics, insects, pathogen, salinity, drought, herbicide

## CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
TRANSGENIC STRATEGIES TO COMBAT BIOTIC STRESSES	2
Transgenics for insect resistance	2
Trangenics for fungal disease resistance	4
Transgenics for bacterial disease resistance.	6
Transgenics for viral disease resistance	
Transgenics to combat nematode pathogens	9
TRANSGENICS FOR AMELIORATION TO ABIOTIC STRESS TOLERANCE	11
Transgenics for drought tolerance	11
Transgenics for salt tolerance	14
TRANSGENICS FOR HERBICIDE RESISTANCE	16
FIELD TRIALS: SUCCESSES AND FAILURES	16
CONCLUSION	17
REFERENCES	17

## INTRODUCTION

Population growth and climate change present the biggest challenges to crop researchers in the  $21^{st}$  century to breed designer crops in an environment overcast by different biotic and abiotic threats in addition to nutritional enrichment (Park *et al.* 2010). Conventional crop technologies that were able to feed the growing world in the  $20^{th}$  century were highly input dependent with a primary emphasis on fertilizers, high-yielding varieties, management of water resources, etc., as witnessed in the era of the green revolution (Swaminathan 2006). Moreover, the availability of arable land is declining due to malfunctioning agro-practices (non-sustainable farming), natural stresses viz. droughts, storms, floods, heat waves and rises in sea-level that are predicted to occur more frequently amid soil health problems (soil salinity and other toxicities), which are likely to be much more problematic in some areas (Ashraf and Akram 2009). So, there is a need to find alternatives for environmentally safe and economically viable solutions to enhance crop production. In this context, genetic transformation has emerged as an important means for crop researchers to modify traits of economic significance in crops that

ultimately provide solutions to solve the global problem of hunger and malnutrition. Redesigning crops to ameliorate biotic (pathogen and insect pests) and abiotic stresses (herbicide, drought, salinity, salt, etc.) by using genetic transformation is a better way for tailoring the genetic architecture of plants for dramatically enhancing agricultural production under adverse conditions (Lemaux 2008). The advent of molecular genetic technologies have recently advanced our understanding of crop stress resistance mechanisms that allow us to address these emerging issues much more effectively and efficiently than in the past. Moreover, the powerful combination of biotechnological tools (genetic engineering and transgenesis) and conventional breeding permits exploration and utilization of valuable traits encoded by transgene(s) to be introduced into commercial crops within an economically viable time frame. During the last two and a half decades, improved resistance against insect pests, pathogens, drought and salinity has been observed in transgenic plants that express/overexpress genes regulating osmolytes, specific proteins, antioxidants, ion homeostasis, transcription factors and membrane composition. Transformed plant 'factories' are also being designed for high volume production of pharmaceuticals, nutraceuticals and other beneficial chemicals. Transgenic plants have become devices for drug-delivery, being synthesized in plants (fruits and vegetable crops) that have been engineered to produce edible vaccines. Moreover, with the establishment and expansion of the "omics" (genomics, proteionomics and metabolomics) era, a much broader range of genes with potential for crop improvement are being identified and, in some cases, tailored for further enhancement of their properties within specific crops. This review focuses on the significant achievements of genetic transformation in crops to ameliorate them for tolerance to different biotic and abiotic stresses.

Conventional breeding methods alone cannot feed the extra hungry mouths as the global population is expected to reach 8.1 billion by the 2025 (PRB 2009). Despite the successes of the green revolution with substantial strides in food grains production, India is still classified by FAO as a low income, food deficit country, nearly 26% of India's population is considered food insecure, consuming less than 80% of minimum energy requirements and account for about a third of the world's population that suffers from chronic hunger (Kumar and Bhatt 2006). The biggest limitation of traditional breeding is its notoriously slow nature of transferring a desired trait which is often associated with linkage drag (undesirable traits) into an otherwise superior crop cultivar. The time needed to transfer a desired gene into a crop plant depends on the source of the gene and the evolutionary distance of that source to the recipient crop plant (Jauhar 2006). If the gene source is a landrace or a related species, forming a primary gene pool with the crop species in question, the gene transfer may take five to eight years if not longer. Less related wild species belonging to the secondary or even tertiary gene pool may be rich reservoirs of genes for agronomic traits like disease or pest resistance, but to transfer such genes into crop cultivars may take 10 to 15 years or even longer, if they are at all possible. Pre- and post-fertilization barriers may impede sexual hybridization between the donor and the crop species and compound the problem of alien gene transfers (Jauhar 2006). In some cases, it may not even be possible to incorporate a certain trait by conventional means because a suitable donor may not be available or, if available, it may not be possible to hybridize the donor species with the cultivated crop plant. Moreover, the great challenge of food security being faced these days world over, has directed plant scientists towards gene revolution after green revolution due to advances in field of plant biotechnology. The gene revolution, in fact, involves a direct modification of qualitative and quantitative traits in an organism by transferring desired genes from one species to another by using tools of biotechnology (tissue culture and genetic engineering). This strategy is referred to as the 'transgenic approach' or 'genetic transformation'. In contrast to classical breeding, the genetic engineering offers an excellent tool for asexually inserting a wellcharacterized gene(s) of unrelated organisms into plant cells, which on regeneration produce full plants with the inserted gene(s) integrated into their genome (Sanghera et al. 2009). This process may take less than a year to about 18 months in some cases, thus accelerating the process of genetic improvement of crop plants. In addition, this exciting technology allows access to an unlimited gene pool without the constraint of sexual compatibility. Over the past few decades, breeding possibilities have been broadened by genetic engineering and gene transfer technologies, as well as by gene mapping and identification of the genome sequences of model plants and crops which resulted in efficient transformation and generation of transgenic lines in a number of crop species (Gosal et al. 2009). Further, pyramiding of desirable genes with similar effects can also be achieved by using these approaches. Genetic transformation by Agrobacterium-mediated and microprojectile bombardment has been the most successful approach (Sanghera et al. 2009) used in plant transformation and successfully demonstrated for different economically important traits including biotic resistance (insect and disease) and abiotic stress tolerance

(herbicide, drought and salt) enhancement in different crop plants. In this review, an attempt has been made to cover the most important crop improvements through transgenic technologies.

# TRANSGENIC STRATEGIES TO COMBAT BIOTIC STRESSES

Tremendous loss in yield of several economically important crops occurs due to biotic stresses (insect infestation and diseases). Recently, significant research and development efforts have been made to produce plants with high degree of tolerance or resistance to insect pest and diseases following transgenic technology which are described in subsequent section. The knowledge of the molecular basis of disease caused by plant pathogens and herbivory interactions shown by insects has allowed testing different strategies to produce resistant transgenic plants.

It is well known that plant pathogens represent real threat to world agriculture (Gurr and Rushton 2005). Even now, after adoption of various agricultural practices and agrochemicals, every year plant diseases account approximately 12% yield loss at the field level, to which is added 9-20% during post-harvest stages (Agrios 2005). For some diseases, chemical control is very effective, but it is often non-specific in its effects, killing beneficial organisms as well as pathogens, and it may have undesirable health, safety, and environmental risks (Manczinger et al. 2002; Haggag 2008; Park et al. 2010). Our knowledge of molecular events occurring during plant-pathogen interactions has expanded significantly in the last few decades. Based on this knowledge, several strategies have emerged for developing crop varieties resistant to pathogens. Strategies include the manipulation of resistance by expression of PR proteins, antifungal peptides and manipulation of biosynthesis of phytoalexins (Quaim 2005; Punja 2007). The exploitation of genetic transformation technology to engineer plants in crops and aganst different pathogens has been elaborated in this section.

#### Transgenics for insect resistance

The one of the most practical way of increasing crop yield would be to preserve more of what is grown from loss to insect pests, which are estimated to consume around 14% of total global agricultural output (Oerke et al. 1994). Insects are not only responsible for massive direct losses of productivity as a result of their herbivoury, but also cause massive indirect losses due to their role as vectors for various plant pathogens. These losses occur despite the extensive use of pesticides and fungicides. Moreover, more than 600 pests have been reported to develop resistant against chemical pesticides (Raman 1995). So, durability in the inherent resistance capacity of particular crop against insect pest is essential. This can be achieved by exploiting tools like genetic transformation to tailor insect resistance transgenic crops carrying genes that encode proteins toxic to insects. Since the first reports of transgenic plants appeared in 1984 (Horsch et al. 1984) there has been very rapid progress directed at using this technology for the practical ends of crop improvement (James 2008).

As an example, transgenic plants expressing the *Cry* genes from the soil bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis* (*Bt*) has become the most prevalent method of insect control for several commercial crops. Besides the *cry* genes from *Bt*, other bacterial genes such as *choM* and *ipt* from *Actinomyces* and *Agrobacterium*, respectively, have strong insecticidal properties and have been transformed into cotton, brinjal, tobacco plants, etc. in order to determine their ability to control insect infestation (Jauhar 2006). European corn borer [ECB, *Ostrinia nubilalis* (Hübner)], for example, causes a loss of up to 2000 million US\$ annually in the USA alone (Hyde *et al.* 1999). Resistance breeding by conventional means is cumbersome and fraught with uncertainty. To breed a corn cultivar with resistance or even par-

tial resistance to ECB may well take 10 to 15 years by traditional breeding, provided a suitable resistance donor is available. Thus, through 12 years of breeding, Syngenta, a Swiss agrochemical company, was able to produce a corn cultivar with only 10% resistance to ECB. However, a gene from a soil-borne bacterium, Bt, when bioengineered into the corn genome, confers almost complete resistance to ECB. This is an efficient means of eliminating the pest damage and pesticide application without affecting grain yields. Thus, *Bt*-corn acquired the capacity of an efficient pesticide a biopesticide. It took Syngenta only 5 years to engineer the *Bt* gene into corn. Scientists at the University of Minnesota estimated that farmers averaged several times greater returns on their investment by using Bt corn for insect control, compared to the use of a chemical insecticide (Ostlie et al. 1997). The Bt corn hybrids had 4 to 8% higher grain yields than standard hybrids when infested with ECB (Lauer and Wedberg 1999). Moreover, Bt corn is beneficial to the environment and the Bt-induced insect resistance in corn is much safer to farmers and other field workers, compared with the use of a chemical insecticide. Based on safety data, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) authorized commercial planting of *Bt* corn varieties (Palevitz 2001). Several transgenic crops with insecticidal genes have been introduced in temperate regions of the world (Sharma et al. 2003). Transgenic rice varieties resistant to yellow stem borer [Scirpophaga incertulas (Walker)] have been produced in India (Ramesh et al. 2004). Because of its higher productivity and positive health effects through reduced pesticide use, Bt cotton has been commercialized aggressively especially in Asian countries like China (Huang et al. 2002a) and India (Whitfield 2003). Carrière et al. (2003) found long-term regional suppression of pink bollworm [Pectinophora gossypiella (Saunders)] by Bt cotton. Bt rice has the potential to eliminate yield losses caused by lepidopteran insects, estimated at 2 to 10% of Asia's annual rice yield of 523 million tons (High et al. 2004). Field trials of transgenic rice suggested high tolerance of transgenic rice against yellow stem borer (Bashir et al. 2004). Most recently, an insect-resistant variety GM Xianyou 63 that was produced by inserting a Chinese-created B. thuringiensis gene, showed resistance to rice stem borer (S. incertulas) and leaf roller [Cnaphalocrocis exigua (Butler)] and is on the threshold of being released for commercial cultivation in China. This insect-resistant variety is reported to benefit small farmers because of higher crop yields and reduced use of pesticides, which is important for health reasons (Huang et al. 2005).

Cotton boll weevil larvae, which feeds inside young fruits (bolls) is one of the most damaging cotton pests in the United States. The choM gene, isolated from Actinomyces A19249, encodes the enzyme cholesterol oxidase (ChoM), which has powerful insecticidal properties against the boll weevil larvae (Corbin et al. 1994). This enzyme acts by oxidizing cholesterol in the insect's midgut epithelial membrane, disrupting the physical and functional properties of the membrane and causing death. Corbin et al. (2001) developed transgenic tobacco plants expressing the Actinomyces *ChoM* gene. The transgenic tobacco plants were produced through Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. The researchers observed that the mortality rate of cotton boll weevil larva feeding on these transgenic plants ranged from 54 to 87%. These data indicate that expression of bacterial ChoM in the tissues of transgenic plants can result in an effective and environmentally safe eradication method against cotton boll weevil.

Tobacco hornworm (caterpillars of Manduca sexta) is one of the most destructive insect pests of tobacco plants. The transfer of the *Agrobacterium ipt* gene, encoding cytokinin *isopentenyl transferase*, to transgenic plants has been shown to increase the levels of endogenous cytokinin and effectively enhance the resistance of plants to a number of insects. Smigocki *et al.* (1993) introduced the *ipt* gene into tobacco plants by *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. The transgene was placed under the control of a woundinducible promoter from the potato proteinase inhibitor II (PI-IIK) gene. Transgenic tobacco plants had a 25- to 35fold increase in *ipt* mRNA following induction by wounding of the plant tissue. Exogenous application of the transgenic leaf crude extracts reduced the hatch rate of hornworm eggs by 30%. In insect feeding assays, hornworm larvae consumed up to 70% less leaf material from the transgenic tobacco plants compared to wild-type plants.

Mehlo et al. (2005) engineered plants with a fusion protein combining the  $\delta$ -endotoxin *Cry1Ac* with the galactosebinding domain of the non-toxic ricin B-chain (RB). Transgenic rice and corn plants designed to express the fusion protein (BtRB) were significantly more toxic in insect bioassays than those containing the Bt gene alone, due to increased number of potential fusion protein-receptor interactions at the molecular level in target insects. Transgenic rice plants overexpressing ASAL under the control of phloem specific promoters at the insect feeding site were constructed by Bandyopadhyay et al. (2001). The transgenic plants contained high level of ASAL (1.01% of total soluble protein) and showed adverse effect on survival, growth and populations of brown planthopper and green leafhopper pests (Saha et al. 2006). Recently, Choi et al. (2009) isolated the Brassica rapa Defensin 1 (BrD1) gene and introduced it into rice (Oryza sativa L.) to produce brown planthopper (Nilaparvata lugens) resistant transgenic plants.

The simultaneous introduction of three genes expressing insecticidal proteins (Cry1Ac, Cry2A, and Gna) into rice to control three major pests (rice leaf folder, yellow stemborer and the brown planthopper) imparted more resistance than combinations of only two of these transgenes (Bano-Maqbool et al. 2001). Another study of transgene pyramiding showed that transgenic cotton containing two Bt genes (Cry1Ac and Cry2Ab) performed better than either the single gene Cry1Ac or the Cry2Ab transgenic cotton (Jackson et al. 2004). A cry2Aa gene with a sequence-modified open reading frame encoding an insecticidal crystal protein from Bt was introduced into chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) by Acharjeea et al. (2010). Insect bioassays using the progeny of selected trangenic lines showed elevated level of resistance to pod borer larvae (Helicoverpa armigera). The genetic transformation and pyramiding of aprotinin-expressing sugarcane with *cry1Ab* was also utilized to enhance the level of resistance in sugracnce towards C. infuscatellus (Arvinth et al. 2010). As a result, transgenics sugarcane produced considerably lower percentage of deadhearts in comparision to untransformed plants. Zheng et al. (2005) expressed Cry1Ca in transgenic shallots under the control of a chrysanthemum Rubisco small subunit promoter, and the transgenic plants showed high resistance to beet armyworm. Similarily, a modified novel cry1C<sup>\*</sup> gene (Tang and Lin 2007) was driven by the rice *rbcS* promoter, when introduced into Zhonghua 11 (Oryza sativa L.) by Agrobac-terium-mediated transformation. Transgenic plants were examined for both insect resistance and agronomic traits under field conditions against yellow stem borer (Tryporyza incertulas), striped stem borer (Chilo suppressalis) and leaf folder (Cnaphalocrocis medinalis) (Ye et al. 2009). Weng et al. (2010) synthesized a truncated insecticidal gene mcry1Ac by increasing its GC content from 37.4 to 54.8%, based on the codon usage pattern of sugarcane genes, and transferred it into two sugarcane cultivars (ROC16 and YT79-177). In a greenhouse plant assay, about 62% of the transgenic lines exhibited excellent resistance to heavy infestation by stem borers. In field trials, the m-cry1Ac transgenic sugarcane lines expressing high levels of Cry1Ac were immune from insect attack.

The plant expression vectors harbouring the bivalent *Vitreoscilla haemoglobin VHb* gene and insectidal gene insectidal gene (GFM*cryIA*) were sucessfully transferred to tobacco plants by Youru and Sandui (2010). The toxicity assay indicated that most of the transgenic plants showed high resistance to *Heliothis armigera*. Among 32 transgenic tobacco plants, 46.8% of the transgenic plants showed high

Transgenic plant	Gene	Insect	Reference
Tobacco	VHb and GFMcryIA	Heliothis armigera	Youru and Sandui 2010
Chickpea	cry2Aa	Helicoverpa armigera	Acharjeea et al. 2010
Sugarcane	Cry1Aa + Cry1Ab+ Cry1Ac Chilo infuscatellus		Arvinth et al. 2010
Sugarcane	m-cry1Ac	C. infuscatellus	Weng et al. 2010
Rice	BrD	Nilaparvata lugens	Choi et al. 2009
Sugarcane	Aprotinin	Scirpophaga excerptalis	Christy et al. 2009
Tobacco	Magi 6	Spodoptera frugiperda	Hernández-Campuzano et al. 2009
Chickpea	ASAL	Aphis craccivora	Chakraborti et al. 2009
Rice	pin2	Scirpophaga incertulas	Rao et al. 2009
Rice	ASAL	N. virescens and N. lugens	Saha et al. 2006
Sorghum	<i>cry</i> 1Ac	Chilo partellus (Swinhoe)	Girijashankar et al. 2005
Rice	cry1Ac, 2A	S. incertulas and S. medinalis	Bashir et al. 2005
Rice	cry1Ac and gna	S. incertulas and N. lugens	Ramesh et al. 2004
Rice	<i>cry</i> 1Ac	Scirpophaga incertulus	Khanna and Raina 2002
Rice	Gna	Nilaparvata lugens (Stal)	Foissac et al. 2000
Rice	SKTI	Nilaparvata lugens (Stal)	Lee et al. 1999
Potato	CpTi	Lacanobia oleracea (Linnaeus)	Gatehouse et al. 1999
Rice	gna	Nilaparvata lugens (Stal)	Rao et al. 1998
Rice	<i>cry</i> 1Ab	Scirpophaga incertulus	Datta et al. 1998
Rice	PI-II	C. suppressalis (Walker)	Daun et al. 1996
Rice	CpTi	S. incertulas	Xu et al. 1996
Tobacco	PI-II	Spodoptera exigua (Hubner)	Jongsma et al. 1995
Tobacco	M.sexta PI	Bemisia tabaci (Gennadius)	Thomas et al. 1995
Pea	a-amylase	Callosobrunchus spp.	Shade et al. 1994
Rice	<i>cry</i> 1Ab	Chilo suppressalis (Walker)	Fujimoto et al. 1993
Potato	cry3a	Leptinotarsa decemlineata (Say)	Perlak et al. 1993
Corn	cry1Ab	Ostrinia nubilalis (Hubner)	Koziel et al. 1993
Cotton	<i>cry</i> 1Ab/1Ac	Pectinophora gossypiella (Saunders)	Perlak et al. 1990
Tobacco	PI-II	Menduca sexta (Johannson)	Johnson et al. 1989
Tobacco	CpTi	Heliothis virescens (Fabricius)	Hilder et al. 1987

resistance to the insect. Taken together, the findings from these studies indicate a promising potential of engineering an insect-resistant gene to tailor its protein expression levels in transgenic sugarcane to combat insect infestations. Wang and Guo (2010) transferred synthesized *VHb* gene and insectidal gene *GFMcryIA* to tobacco plants by *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. Toxicity assay indicated that insectidal gene expressed pesticidal toxin protein. The net weight of transgenic tobacco plants exceeded that of nontransgenic ones by 8%. Compared to non-transgenic tobacco plants, transgenic plants appeared to be high-yielding, insect-resistant varieties.

Various studies have illustrated the importance of continued identification of bacterial genes and genes from other sources (**Table 1**) that have insecticidal properties for the control of imprtantant agricultural insects in a more efficient and environmentally safe manner.

#### Trangenics for fungal disease resistance

With the beginning of the molecular era of plant biology in the early 1980s, many complex mechanisms that evolved in plants in response to pathogen infection have been identified. The role of multitude genes that are involved in immune responses after fungus infestation and the various pathways involved therein, have been elucidated (Melchers and Stuiver 2000). Transgenic plants have been produced with genes involved in differnet pathways to enhance disease resistance against fungal pathogens. The first report on developing fungus resistant transgenic plant came in 1991. Broglie et al. (1991) constitutively expressed bean chitinase in tobacco and Brassica napus to enhance resistance towards Rhizoctonia solani. Similarly, antifungal genes have been engineered in various crop plants to render resistance against fungal pathogens (Jauhar and Khush 2002; Sahrawat et al. 2003). The role of chitinases in fungal protection has been documented in rice (Datta et al. 2001; Itoh et al. 2003). Transgenic peanut expressing a tobacco chitinase gene was shown to possess enhanced resistance to the late leaf spot caused by Phaeosariopsis personata (Rohini and

Sankara Rao 2001; Anuradha et al. 2008). Genetic engineering has been employed to contain Fusraium head blight, a ravaging disease of wheat (Anand et al. 2003, 2004). Expression of genes for suitable pathogenesis related proteins and defensing offers a suitable approach for controlling diseases that affect crop productivity. Some proteins, called defensins, are small cysteine-rich peptides with antimicrobial activity. Transgenic expression of plant defensins has been reported to enhance protection in vegetative tissues against pathogen attack. Constitutive expression of RsAFP-2 enhanced resistance of tobacco plants to Alternaria longipes (Terras et al. 1995) and tomato to Alternaria solani (Parashina et al. 2000) and rice to M. grisea and R. solani (Jha and Chattoo 2010). Canola expressing a pea defensin showed enhanced resistance against blackleg disease caused by Leptosphaeria maculans (Wang et al. 1999). The constitutive expression of an alfalfa defensin in potato provided robust resistance against the agronomically important fungus Verticillium dahliae under field conditions (Gao et al. 2000). Overexpression of BSD1 (stamen specific defensin) in transgenic tobacco plants enhanced their tolerance against the pathogen Phytophthora parasitica (Park et al. 2002). Another alfalfa defensin was shown to inhibit the growth of the FHB pathogen Fusarium graminearum in vitro in wheat (Spelbrink et al. 2004). The generation of transgenic tomato plants constitutively expressing the chili defensin (cdef1) gene resulted in enhanced resistance against Phytophthora infestans and Fusarium spp. (Zainal et al. 2009). Expression of Dahlia defensin, Dm-AMP1, in rice directly inhibits the pathogen, Magnaporthe oryzae and Rhizoctonia solani. It was observed that constitutive expression of Dm-AMP1 suppresses the growth of *M. oryzae* and *R. solani* by 84 and 72%, respectively (Jha *et al.* 2009). Chenault et al. (2005) expressed a rice chitinase and an alfalfa glucanase in transgenic peanut and observed enhanced resistance against Sclerotinia blight in the transgenic plants. Expression of a barley oxalate oxidase in transgenic peanut also enhanced resistance to Sclerotinia minor (Livingstone et al. 2005). Overexpression of pepper pathogen induced genes CAPIP2, CASAR82A and RAV1 in transTable 2 Transgenic crops engineered for enhanced resistance against fungal pathogens.

Transgenic crop	Gene/gene product	Donor	Target pathogen	References
Rice	Rs-AFP2	Raphanus sativus	Magnaporthe oryzae and Rhizoctonia solani	Jha and Chattoo 2010
Cotton	NPR1	Arabidopsis	Verticillium dahliae, Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. vasinfectum, Rhizoctonia solani, and Alternaria alternata	Parkhi <i>et al.</i> 2010
Cotton	$hpa_{Xoo}$	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Verticillium dahliae	Miao et al. 2010
Poplar ( <i>Populus</i> tomentosa Carr.)	LJAMP2	Leonurus japonicus	Alternaria alternata and Colletotrichum gloeosporioides	Jia et al. 2010
Tomato	cdef1	Capsicuum annuum	<i>Phytophthora infestans and Fusarium spp</i>	Zainal et al. 2009
Rice	Dm-AMP1	Dahlia	Magnaporthe oryzae and Rhizoctonia solani	Jha <i>et al.</i> 2009
Carrot	Acidic wheat class IV chitinase + acidic wheat $\beta$ 1,3-glucanase + rice cationic peroxidase ( <i>POC1</i> )	Wheat, rice	Botrytis cinerea and Sclerotinia sclerotiorum.	Wally <i>et al.</i> 2009
Rice	hrf1	X. oryzae pv. oryzae	M. grisea	Shao et al. 2008
Carrot	Microbial factor 3 (MF3)	Pseudomonas	Alternaria dauci, Alternaria radicina and	Baranski et al. 2007
		fluorescence	Botrytis cinerea	
Tobacco	hrp N	Erwinia amylovora	Botrytis cinerea	Sohn et al. 2007
Rice	PRm5	Maize	Enhanced resistance to multiple fungal	Gomez-ariza <i>et al.</i>
~			pathogen	2007
Carrot	Lipid transfer protein gene and chitinase	Wheat, barley	Foliar fungal pathogen	Jayaraj and Punja 2007
Tobacco	Vv WRKY 1	Grape	Multiple fungal pathogen	Marchive <i>et al.</i> 2007
Rice	RCH10, RAC22, $\beta$ -glucanase, $\beta$ - RIP	Rice, alfalfa, barley	Magnaporthe grisea	Zhu <i>et al.</i> 2007
Barley	Chitinase and Thaumatine like protein	Rice	Resistance not tested	Tobias <i>et al.</i> 2007
Tobacco Arabidopsis	PR1 SAR 8.2 gene (CASAR82A)	<i>W. japonica</i> Pepper	B. cinerea Fusarium and Botrytis	Kiba <i>et al.</i> 2007 Lee and Hwang 2006
Rice	Allene oxide synthase	Rice	Magnaporthe grisea	Mei <i>et al.</i> 2006
Wheat	Ace-AMP1	Onion	Enhanced antifungal activity	Ro-barman <i>et al.</i> 2006
Tobacco	GAFP (gastrodia antifungal gene)	Gastrodia (orchid)	Rhizoctonia spp., Phytophthora spp.	Cox <i>et al.</i> 2006
Rice	PR3	T. viride	R. solani	Balasubramaniam 2005
Tobacco	PR3	Bean	R. solani	Mohandas 2005
Rice	Cercosporin A	Giant silk moth	Magnaporthe grisea	Coca et al. 2006
Tobacco	hrp N	Erwinia amylovora	Botrytis cinerea	Jang et al. 2006
Pearl millet	Afp	Aspergillus giganteus	Rust and Downy mildew	Girgi et al. 2006
Wheat	NPR 1	Arabidopsis	Fusarium graminaereum	Makandar et al. 2006
Rice	AFP	Aspergillus giganteus	Magnaporthe grisea	Moreno et al. 2005
Wheat	Stilbene synthase	Grape	Puccinia recondite	Serazetdinova <i>et al.</i> 2005
Tobacco	Cercopin-A-melittin peptide gene	Hybrid peptide	Fusarium solani	Yevtushenko <i>et al.</i> 2005
Italian rye grass	Chitinase	Rice	Crown rust disease	Takahashi et al. 2005
Tomato	NPR1	Arabidopsis	Resistance to fungal and bacterial disease	Lin <i>et al.</i> 2004
Rice	AFP	Aspergillus giganteus	Magnaporthe grisea	Coca <i>et al.</i> 2004
Arabidopsis	<i>Fusarium</i> specific antibody linked to antifungal peptides	Fusion proteins	Multiple fungal pathogens	Peschen <i>et al.</i> 2004
Rice	ech42, nag 70, gluc 78	Trichoderma atroviridae	Magnaporthe grisea	Liu <i>et al.</i> 2004
Peanut	PR2	Alfalfa	S. minor	Chenault et al. 2003
Pea nut	PR3	Rice	S. minor	Chenault et al. 2003
Rice	Glucose oxidase gene	Aspergillus niger	Magnaporthe grisea	Kachroo <i>et al.</i> 2003
Sunflower	Oxalate oxidase gene	Wheat	Sclerotinia sclerotiorum	Hu <i>et al.</i> 2003
Rice	<i>Chitinase C</i> (Chi C)	Streptomyces griseus	Magnaporthe grisea	Itoh <i>et al.</i> 2003
Wheat (spring)	Thaumatin like protein, chitinase, glucanase	Wheat (Sumai-3 cultivar)	Fusarium graminearum	Anand <i>et al.</i> 2003
Tomato	<i>Pn-AMPs</i> (hevein like protein)	Pharbitis nil	Phytophthora spp., Fusarium spp.	Lee <i>et al.</i> 2003 Chalmabarti <i>et al.</i> 2002
Tobacco and	MSI-99 peptide	African clawed frog	Alternaria, Botrytis, Mycosphaerella	Chakrabarti et al. 2003
banana Tomato	PR2	Tobacco	musicola F. oxysporum	Foolad et al. 2002
Tobacco	Mannitol dehydrogenase	Celery	Alternaria alternata	Jennings <i>et al.</i> 2002
Tobacco	Spi-2 (peroxidase gene)	Norway spruce	Phytophthora spp.	Elfstrand <i>et al.</i> 2002
Apple	Endochitinase, Exochitinase	Trichoderma harzianum		Bolar <i>et al.</i> 2002
Pea nut	Chitinase	Tobacco	Cercospora arachidicola	Rohini and Rao 2001
Rice	Puroindolines (antimicrobial peptide gene)	Wheat	Magnporthe grisea, Rhizoctonia solani	Krishnamurthy <i>et al.</i> 2001
Tobacco	Magainin analog	Xenopus laevis	Peronospora tabacina	Li et al. 2001
Wheat	Chitinase	Barley	Blumeria graminis, Puccinia recondita	Oldach <i>et al.</i> 2001
Poplar	Oxalate oxidase	Wheat	Septoria musiva	Liang et al. 2001
Rice	Chitinase	Rice	Rhizoctonia solani	Datta et al. 2001
			Rhizoctonia solani	Datta et al. 2000

Transgenic crop	Gene/gene product	Donor	Target pathogen	References
Grape	Endochitinase	Trichoderma harzianum	Botrytis cinerea	Kikkert et al. 2000
Tobacco	Chitinase	Baculovirus	Alternaria alternate	Shi et al. 2000
Potato	Defensins (alfAFP)	Alfalfa	Verticillium dalhiae	Gao et al. 2000
Potato	Cercosporin-melittin cationic peptide	Synthetic gene	Multiple pathogens	Osusky et al. 2000
Tomato	Gene1-2	Tomato	Fusarium spp.	Mes et al. 2000
Tobacco	Sarcotoxin peptide gene	Sarcophaga peregrine	Rhizoctonia solani, Pythium aphanidermatum, Phytophthora nicotianae	Mitsuhara et al. 2000
Tobacco	Chloroperoxidase	Pseudomonas	Colletotrichum destructivum	Rajsekaran et al. 2000
Wheat	RIP	Barley	Blumeria graminis	Bieri et al. 2000
Alfalfa	Resveratrol synthase	Peanut	Phoma medicaginis	Hipsking and Paiva 2000
Tomato	Defensin	Raddish	Alternaria solani	Parashina et al. 2000
Carrot	Human lysozyme	Human	Erysiphe heraclei, Alternaria dauci	Takaichi and Oeda 2000
Grape	Chitinase	Rice	Uncinulla necatar, Elsinoe ampelina	Yamamoto et al. 2000
Grape	Polygalacturoase inhibiting protein	Pear	Botrytis cinerea	Powell et al. 2000
Tobacco	Salicylic acid synthase	Bacterial origin	Oidium lycopersicon	Verberne et al. 2000
Carrot	Chitinase	Tobacco	Alternaria dauci, A. radicina,	Melchers and Stuvier
			Colletotrichum corotae	2000
Potato	Lactoferrin	Human	Not tested	Chong and Langridge 2000
Tobacco	Antimicrobial peptide	Synthetic	Colletotrichum destructivum	Cary et al. 2000
Tomato	Oxalate decarboxylase	Collybia velutipes	Sclerotinia sclerotiorum	Kesarwani et al. 2000
Wheat	TL protein	Rice	Fusarium graminearum	Chen et al. 1999
Rice	TL protein	Rice	Rhizoctonia solani	Datta et al. 1999
Rice	RIP	Maize	No effect on M. grisea or R. solani	Kim et al. 1999
Potato	Osmotin gene	Tobacco	Phytophthora infestans	Li et al. 1999
Chrysanthemum	Chitinase	Rice	Botrytis cinerea	Takatsu <i>et al</i> . 1999
Geranium	Antimicrobial protein	Onion	Botrytis cinerea	Bi et al. 1999
Wheat	PR5	Barley	E. graminis	Bliffeld et al. 1999
Tobacco	β-cryptogein elicitor	Phytophthora cryptogea	Phytophthora parasitica	Tepfer et al. 1998
Tobacco	PAPII	Phytolacca americana	Broad spectrum resistance to viral and fungal pathogens	Wang et al. 1998
Potato	Endochitinase	Trichoderma harzianum	Foliar and soil borne fungal pathogen	Lorito et al. 1998

genic plants resulted in disease resistance (Lee and Hwang 2006; Sohn *et al.* 2006). The *chit1* gene from the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae*, encoding the endochitinase *CHIT42*, showed enhanced resistance in tobacco plants against *Rhizoctonia solani* (Kern *et al.* 2010). Three genes, *ech42*, *nag70* and *gluc78*, encoding hydrolytic enzymes, from a biocontrol fungus *Trichoderma atroviride*, were introduced in single or in combinations into rice. *Gluc78*-overexpressing transgenic plants showed enhanced resistance to *Magnaporthe grisea*, while transgenic plants over expressing the *ech42* gene encoding for an endochitinase increased resistance to *R. solani*, resulting in a reduction of 62% in the sheath blight disease index (Liu *et al.* 2004; Shah *et al.* 2008).

Shao *et al.* (2008) introduced a harpin-encoding gene *hrf1*, derived from *X. oryzae* pv. *oryzae*, into rice and generated transgenic rice lines with overexpression of the *hrf1* gene. Disease assays revealed that the *hrf1*-overexpressing transgenic rice plants and were highly resistant to all major *M. grisea* races in rice-growing areas. Jhang *et al.* (2010) introduced antifungal puroindoline proteins, *PINA* and *PINB* into corn under the control of a corn *Ubiquitin* promoter. Two *Pina/Pinb* expression–positive transgenic events were evaluated for resistance to *Cochliobolus heterostrophus*, the corn southern leaf blight (SLB) pathogen. Transgenic corn expressing Pins showed significantly increased tolerance to *C. heterostrophus*, averaging 42.1% reduction in symptoms.

It is evidenced from the aforementioned reports that genetic transformation approach is an example of environmentally friendly biotechnology that could save threatened agricultural landscapes and ecosystems worldwide (Gartland *et al.* 2002, 2003). Several examples where this technology have been applied to different crops to combat fungal diseases (**Table 2**).

#### Transgenics for bacterial disease resistance

Many bacterial genes involved in pathogenicity have been identified and expressed in transgenic plants. The genetically transformed plants carrying these genes showed spontaneous activation of different defense mechanisms, leaving the plant in a elevated state of defense. This 'defense mode' greatly enhances the plant's ability to quickly react to a pathogen invasion and more successfully overcome the infection. This has been made possible by genetic engineering by using genes found in fungi, insects, animals and other plants. Antimicrobial proteins, peptides, and lysozymes that naturally occur in insects (Jaynes *et al.* 1987), plants (Broekaert *et al.* 1997), animals (Vunnam *et al.* 1997), and humans (Mitra and Zhang 1994; Nakajima *et al.* 1997) are now a potential source of plant resistance.

Antibacterial lytic peptides like cecropins are found in the hemolymph of the giant silk moth (Hyalophora cecro-pia) (Durell et al. 1992; Tripathi et al. 2004). Transgenic tobacco plants expressing cecropins have increased resistance to P. syringae pv. tabaci, causing wildfire of tobacco (Huang et al. 1997). Synthetic lytic peptide analogs, Shiva-1 and SB-37, produced from transgenes in potato plants reduce bacterial infection caused by Erwinia carotovora subsp. atroseptica in transgenic potato plants (Arce et al. 1999). Similarly, transgenic rice plants overexpressing cecropin B gene showed a significant reduction in development of lesions caused by X. oryzae pv. oryzae (Coca et al. 2004). Moreover, expression of SB-37 lytic peptide analog in transgenic apple plants showed increased resistance to E. amylovora under field tests (Norelli et al. 1998). Further, the expression of the D4E1 in poplar has resulted resistance to Agrobacterium tumefaciens and Xanthomonas populi (Mentag et al. 2003; Montesinos 2007).

Similarily, attacins are another group of antibacterial proteins produced by *Hyalophora cecropia* pupae (Hult-

 Table 3 Transgenic crops engineered for enhanced resistance against bacterial pathogens.

Transgenic plant	Gene/gene product	Source	Target pathogen	Reference
Rice	Np3 and Np5	Chinese shrimp	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Wei et al. 2011
Tomato	Cationic lytic peptide cecropin B	Hyalophora cecropia	Ralstonia solanacearum and	Jan et al. 2010
			Xanthomonas campestris pv.	
			vesicatoria	
Potato	magainin II	Synthetic peptide	Erwinia carotovora	Barrell and Conner 2009
Tomato	ferredoxin-I protein	Sweet pepper	Ralstonia solanacearum	Huang et al. 2007
Poplar hybrid (Populus	D4E1	Synthetic peptide	Agrobacterium tumefaciens and	Mentag et al. 2007
<i>tremula</i> L. x <i>Populus alba</i> L)			Xanthomonas populi	
Rice	Rxo1	Maize	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Zhao et al. 2005
Rice	NPR1 orthologue (NH1)	Rice	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Chern et al. 2005
Arabidopsis	hrap	Sweet pepper	E. carotovora subsp. carotovora	Pandey et al. 2005
Potato (cv. cv. Irish Cobbler)	shiva-1	Synthetic peptide	Erwinia carotovora	Yi et al. 2004
Rice	cecropin B		X. oryzae pv. oryzae	Coca et al. 2004
Rice	GOX/ Glucose oxidase	Aspergillus niger	X. oryzae pv. oryzae	Kachroo et al. 2003
Tobacco	<i>M28L</i> /mutated esculentin gene	Bean	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, P. syringae pv. tabaci	Ponti <i>et al.</i> 2003
Poplar hybrid (Populus	D4E1	Synthetic peptide	Agrobacterium tumefaciens and	Mentag et al. 2003
tremula L. x Populus alba L)		-)	Xanthomonas populi	
Tomato	Lactoferrin gene	Tomato	Ralstonia solanacearum	Lee et al. 2002
Rice	ferredoxin-like protein (AP1)	Sweet pepper	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Tang <i>et al</i> . 2001
Tobacco	<i>bO</i> /Bacterio-opsin (BO)	Halobacterium	Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci	Rizhsky and Mittler 200
	1	halobium	2 0 1	,
Tobacco	exp1/N-oxoacyl-homoserine	Erwinia carotovora	Erwinia carotovora	Mae et al. 2001
	lactone (OHL)			
Tobacco	aiiA /Acyl-homoserine lactonase	Bacillus sp. 240B1	Erwinia carotovora	Dong et al. 2001
Rice	cecropin B	Bombyx mori	Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae	Sharma et al.2000
Apple/Pear	attacin E gene (attE)	Sarcophaga peregrina	E. amylovora	Ko et al.2000
Potato	34-aa chimaeric peptide MsrA1+	Bee venom	E. carotovora ssp. atroseptica	Osusky et al. 2000
	melittin			
Potato	cecropin SB-37		<i>Erwinia carotovora</i> subsp. <i>atroceptica</i>	Arce et al. 1999
Tomato	Bs2	Pepper	X. campestris pv. vesicatoria	Tai <i>et al.</i> 1999
Apple	attacin E gene (attE)	Sarcophaga peregrina	E. amylovora	Norelli et al. 1998
Potato	sarco gene coding for sarcotoxin	Sarcophaga peregrina	E. carotovora, P. syringae pv.	Galun <i>et al.</i> 1996
	IA	r	lachrymans and R. solanacearum	
Apple	attacin E gene (attE)	Sarcophaga peregrina	E. amylovora	Norelli et al. 1994
Tobacco	argK/ROCT ornithine	Pseudomonas syringae	Pseudomonas syringae pv.	Hatziloukas and
	carbamoyltransferase	official official	phaseolicola	Panopoulos 1992

mark *et al.* 1983). Attacin expressed in transgenic potato enhanced its resistance to bacterial infection by *E. carotovora* subsp. *atrospetica* (Arce *et al.* 1999). Transgenic pear and apple expressing attacin genes have significantly enhanced resistance to *E. amylovora* in *in vitro* and greenhouse (Ko *et al.* 2000). In field tests, reduction of fire blight disease has been observed in transgenic apples expressing attacin genes (Norelli *et al.* 1999).

The lysozyme genes have been used to confer resistance against plant pathogenic bacteria in transgenic plants (Trudel *et al.* 1995). T4L, from the T4-bacteriophage has been reported to enhance resistance of transgenic potato against *E. carotovora*, which causes bacterial soft rot (Düring *et al.* 1993). Transgenic apple plants with the T4L gene showed significant resistance to fire blight infection (Ko 1999).

Thionins are plant antimicrobial proteins which are able to inhibit a broad range of pathogenic bacteria *in vitro* (Molina *et al.* 1993). Carmona *et al.* (1993) reported the expression of alpha-thionin gene from barley in transgenic tobacco confers enhanced resistance to *P. syringae*.

Pathosystem-specific plant resistance (R) genes have been cloned from several plant species (Bent 1996). The Bs2 resistance gene of pepper specifically recognizes and confers resistance to strains of X. campestris pv. vesicatoria that contain the corresponding bacterial avirulence gene, avrBs2 (Tai *et al.* 1999). Transgenic tomato plants expressing the pepper Bs2 gene suppress the growth of X. campestris pv. vesicatoria.

Hatziloukas and Panopoulos (1992) used Agrobacterium-mediated transformation to produce tobacco plants carrying the argK gene, which encodes *ROCT*. Since in plant cells *OCT* is produced in the chloroplast, argK was fused to the chloroplast transit sequence of the pea Rubisco small subunit (rbcS) gene for localized expression of the enzyme. The *ROCT* enzyme produced by the transgenic tobacco showed greater resistance to phaseolotoxin. In a different approach, Rizhsky and Mittler (2001) used the Halobacterium halobium bacterio-opsin (bO) gene under the control of the wound-inducible promoter Pin2, to develop transgenic tobacco plants resistant to Pseudomonas syringae pv. tabaci via Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. Bacterio-opsin activates the self-defense mechanisms in plants by enhancing proton pumping across the cell membrane (Mittler et al. 1995). Transgenic tobacco plants expressing the bO gene produced hypersensitive response (HR), and showed enhanced expression of different types of defense-related proteins such as chitinase, glucanase, and salicylic acid. The resulting transgenic tobacco plants expressing the bO gene, when challenged with P. syringae pv. tabaci, slowed down the growth of the pathogen. Tang et al. (2001) showed that transgenic rice plants expressing ferredoxin like protein (PFLP) from sweet pepper enhanced resistance to pathogenic Gram-negative bacteria. Along the same line, the expression of hrap gene in transgenic potatoes may enhance their resistance to pathogenic Gram-negative bacteria. Haung et al. (2007) demonstrated that expressing sweet pepper ferredoxin-I protein (PFLP) in transgenic plants can enhance disease resistance to *E. carotovora* subsp. *carotovora* that attack tomato plants. Similarly, Pandey et al. (2005) also showed that constitutive expression of the hrap gene in Arabidopsis enhanced the level of disease resistance towards E. carotovora subsp. carotovora.

An interesting example concerns the NPR1 (or NIM1)

gene, a key defence regulator first identified in Arabidopsis (Durrant and Dong 2005). Transgenic rice plants over-expressing the rice NPR1 orthologue (NH1) acquire high levels of resistance to Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae (Chern et al. 2005). In addition, Rxo1, an R-gene derived from maize (Zea mays), a non-host of the rice bacterial pathogen, Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzicola was successfully transformed into rice (Oryza sativa) and shown to confer resistance against X. oryzae pv. oryzae (Zhao et al. 2005).

Besides genetic transformation, a new approach to protect plants against bacterial diseases is based on interference with the communication system, quorum-sensing, used by several phytopathogenic bacteria to regulate expression of virulence genes according to population density (Cui and Harling 2005). The enzyme, AiiA, isolated from bacterial strain, Bacillus sp. 240B1, was found to degrade the quorum-sensing signalling molecule of the soft rot pathogen, Erwinia carotovora, and thereby rendering the bacteria incapable of infecting the host (Dong et al. 2000). Transgenic expression of AiiA in planta was subsequently demonstrated to provide significant enhancement of resistance against soft rot in potato (Dong et al. 2001). Recently, Tripathi et al. (2010) reported that the constitutive expression of the sweet pepper *Hrap* gene in banana results in enhanced resistance to BXW (Banana Xanthomonas wilt) caused by the bacterium Xanthomonas campestris pv. musacearum. The majo-rity of transgenic lines (six of eight) expressing Hrap did not show any symptoms of infection after artificial inoculation of potted plants in the screen house, whereas control non-transgenic plants showed severe symptoms resulting in complete wilting. Transgenic tomato plant transformed with cationic lytic peptide cecropin B (CB), isolated from the giant silk moth (Hyalophora cecropia) demonstrated significant resistance to bacterial wilt and bacterial spot diseases Jan et al. (2010). The levels of CB expressed in transgenic tomato plants were  $\sim 0.05 \ \mu g$  in 50 mg of leaves. Integration of the CB gene into the tomato genome was confirmed by PCR, and its expression was confirmed by Western blot analyses. Comprehensive information on quorum quenching has been recently documented by Kashyap et al. (2010), wherein authors have given a deep insight of this approach operating in various systems of phytopathogenic bacteria. Table 3 represents a detailed account on various crops engineered through genetic transformation, showing promise to reduce the harmful effects of bacterial pathogens.

#### Transgenics for viral disease resistance

Transgenic technology also offers an excellent option to protect crop plants against devastating viral pathogens (Wani and Sanghera 2010). Transformation of plants with nucleotide sequences derived from viral genomes has been shown to provide protection against the virus from which the sequences were derived. The evidence for such a pathogen-derived resistance (PDR) was provided by Powell-Abel et al. (1986), who demonstrated that transgenic tobacco plants expressing Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) coat protein were resistant to the virus. Beachy et al. (1990) suggested that expression of a virus coat protein as a transgene in a plant confers resistance to the virus in direct proportion to the quantity of coat protein produced by the transformed plant. This novel technique opened up new avenues of controlling viral diseases (Lomonossoff 1995; Bendahmane et al. 2007) in crop plants and fruit trees. Rice yellow mottle virus (RYMV) is a serious viral disease causing enormous losses in rice yields. Because of lack of a conventional solution to this problem, a transgenic approach based on PDR was successfully employed to produce an RYMV-resistant rice variety (Pinto et al. 1999). Similarly, transgenic wheat plants, engineered with the coat-protein gene of Wheat streak mosaic virus (WSMV) conferred protection against some WSMV strains (Sivamani et al. 2002). The PDR technology offers a promising means for inducing

virus resistance in a variety of plants (Wesseler 2003) including potato (Schubert *et al.* 2004). Coat-protein-mediated resistance has helped to control *Papaya ring spot virus* (*PRSV*) in papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) in Hawaii (Gonsalves 1998; Ferreira *et al.* 2002) and the papaya industry was spared from disaster posed by *Papaya ring spot virus* (*PRSV*) (Gonsalves 2003).

Engineering virus resistance by using genes encoding viral RNAdependent RNA-polymerases (RdRps) was first reported for TMV (Golemboski et al. 1990). Biotechnological approaches expressing sense and antisense RNA in transgenic plants have been employed successfully against Tomato golden mosaic virus (TGMV) (Day et al. 1991), TYLCSV (Bendahmane and Gronenborn 1997) and TYLCV (Yang et al 2004), confirming the suggestion that RNA silencing can be harnessed for antiviral defence (Lapidot and Friedman 2002). In attempts to improve transgenic resistance further, Pooggin et al. (2003) obtained recovery from virus infection in a transient assay using IR constructs containing the common region of the begomovirus Vigna mungo yellow mosaic virus (VMYMV). Gafni and colleagues obtained plants resistant to TYLCV by targeting the CP gene with an IR construct (Zrachya et al. 2007). Similarly, Noris et al. (2004) and Ribeiro et al. (2007) produced transgenic plants expressing siRNAs against TYLCSV and Tomato chlorotic mottle virus (ToCMoV), respectively. More recent attempt to confer resistance to CMV using a small RNA pathway focused on transgenic artificial microRNAs (miRNA) that targeted a 21-nucleotide sequence within the 2b gene by using an inverted-repeat construct (Qu et al. 2007). When expressed in Arabidopsis, 64% of the plants were resistant to the target strain. A transformation system of pepper was set up using Agrobacterium that had been transfected with the coat protein gene, CMVP0-CP, with the aim of developing a new CMVP1-resistant pepper line. A large number of transgenic peppers (T1, T2 and T3) were screened for CMVP1 tolerance using CMVP1 inoculation. Transgenic peppers tolerant to CMVP1 were selected in a plastic house as well as in the field. Three independent T3 pepper lines highly tolerant to the CMVP1 pathogen were found to also be tolerant to the CMVP0 pathogen. These selected T3 pepper lines were phenotypically identical or close to the nontransformed lines. However, after CMVP1 infection, the height and fruit size of the non-transformed lines became shorter and smaller, respectively, while the T3 pepper lines maintained a normal phenotype (Lee et al. 2009). In a number of crops, transgenics resistant to an infective virus have been developed by introducing a sequence of the viral genome in the target crop by genetic transformation (Table 4). For the effective control of Papaya ringspot virus (PRSV) and Papaya leaf-distortion mosaic virus (PLDMV), an untranslatable chimeric construct containing truncated PRSV YK CP and PLDMV P-TW-WF CP genes has been transferred into papaya (Carica papaya cv. 'Thailand') by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation via embryogenic tissues derived from immature zygotic embryos of papaya (Kung et al. 2009). Based on sequence profile of silencing suppressor protein, HcPro, it was that PRSV-HcPro, acts as a suppressor of RNA silen-cing through micro RNA binding in a dose-dependent manner. In planta expression of PRSV-HcPro affects developmental biology of plants, suggesting the interference of suppressor protein in micro RNA-directed regulatory pathways of plants. Besides facilitating the establishment of PRSV, it showed strong positive synergism with other heterologous viruses as well (Mangrauthia et al. 2010). Therefore, resistance in transgenic papaya can be overcome by PRSV with distant homology to the transgene, or by PRSV strains with HCPro that can sufficiently suppress the silencing mechanism of transgenic papaya. It would therefore be important to develop transgenic papaya that could avoid the impact of these PRSV strains (Tripathi et al. 2008).

 Table 4 Transgenic crops engineered for enhanced resistance against viral pathogens.

Mechanism/Strategies employed	Transgenic plant	Source/gene product	Virus	Reference
RNA interference	Tobacco	Pns10	Rice dwarf virus (RDV)	Zhou et al. 2010
	Rice	Viroplasm matrix protein/Pns12	Rice dwarf virus (RDV)	Shimizu et al. 2010
	Common bean	replication initiator protein ( <i>rep</i> ; AC1), transactivator protein ( <i>TrAP</i> ; AC2), replication enhancer protein ( <i>REn</i> ; AC3) and movement protein ( <i>BC1</i> )	Bean golden mosaic virus (BGMV)	Aragão and Faira 2009
Coat protein-mediated resistance	Tobacco	Coat protein (CP)	Cowpea aphid-borne mosaic virus (CABMV)	Mundembe et al. 2009
resistance	Tobacco	СР	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) sub group IB	Srivastava and Raj 2008
	Tomato	N gene	Tomato spotted wilt virus (TSWV)	Goldbach et al. 2003
	Tobacco	N gene	TSWV, Impatiens necrotic spot virus (INSV), Groundnut ringspot virus (GRSV)	Vaira <i>et al.</i> 1995
	Tobacco	СР	CMV	Cuozzo et al. 1988
	Papaya	CP	Papaya ringpost virus (PRSV)	Gonsalves 1998
	Tobacco	CP	Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV)	Powell Abel et al. 1986
	Tobacco	CP	Tobamoviruses (TMV)	Nejidat and Beachy 1990
	Tobacco	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Namba et al. 1991
	Tobacco	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Quemada et al. 1991
	Cucumber	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Gonsalves et al. 1992
	Tobacco	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Yie <i>et al.</i> 1992
	Melon	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Gonsalves <i>et al.</i> 1994
	Tomato Squash	CP CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Xue <i>et al.</i> 1994 Tricoli <i>et al.</i> 1995
	Tomato	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Gielen <i>et al.</i> 1995
	Tomato	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Fuchs and Provvidenti 1996
	Tobacco	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Rizos <i>et al.</i> 1996
	Tobacco	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Singh <i>et al.</i> 1998
	Tomato	CP	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Kaniewski et al. 1999
	Tomato	СР	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Tomassoli et al. 1999
	Tobacco	СР	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Jacquemond et al. 2001
	Pepper	СР	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Shin <i>et al.</i> 2002a
	Tobacco	CP	Alfalfa mosaic virus (AMV)	Tumer et al. 1987a
RNA dependent RNA polymerase-mediated resistance	Tobacco	Gene encoding viral RNA dependent RNA-polymerases (RdRps)	Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV)	Golemboski et al. 1990
Replicase-mediated resistance	Tobacco	Modified tobacco mosaic virus replicase transgene	Broad spectrum ressitance to Tobamoviruses (TMV)	Donson et al. 1993
	Tobacco	replicase gene ( <i>rep</i> )	Pea early browning virus RNA1	MacFarlane and Davies 1992
	Tobacco	rep	Potato virus X (PVX)	Braun and Hemenway 1992
	Tobacco	rep	Potato virus Y (PVY)	Audy et al. 1994
	Tobacco	rep	Alfalfa mosaic virus (AMV)	Brederode et al. 1995
	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Anderson et al. 1992
	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Zaitlin et al. 1994
	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Hellwald and Palukaitis 1994
	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Suzuki et al. 1996
	Tomato	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Gal-On <i>et al.</i> 1998
	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Canto and Palukaitis 1998
DNIA	Tobacco	rep	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Wintermantel and Zaitlin 200
RNA satellites	Tobacco	Sat-117N Sat-117N	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Harrison <i>et al.</i> 1987
	Tobacco Tobacco	Sat-RNA1, Sat-RNA1 + CP (CMV-O)	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Jacquemond <i>et al.</i> 1988 Yie <i>et al.</i> 1992
	Tobacco	Sat-KINAT, Sat-KINAT + CF (CMV-O)	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Peña <i>et al.</i> 1992
	Pepper	Sat-5 Sat-117N	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Kim <i>et al.</i> 1997
	Tomato	Sat-S	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Stommel <i>et al.</i> 1998
Antisense RNAs	Tobacco	CMV-D	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Tumer <i>et al.</i> 1987a
	Tobacco	CMV-Q	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Ali <i>et al.</i> 1988
	Tobacco	CMV-D	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Cuozzo <i>et al.</i> 1988
RIP	Tobacco, potato	PAP ( <i>Phytolacca americana</i> )	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Lodge <i>et al.</i> 1993
	Tobacco	TCS (Trichosanthes kirilowii)	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Krishnan <i>et al.</i> 2002
Ribonucleases	Tobacco	pac1 (Yeast)	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Watanabe <i>et al.</i> 1995
	Tobacco	2-5Aase + RNaseL	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Ogawa et al. 1996
	Tobacco	2-5Aase + RnaseL	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Honda et al. 2003
Enhancement of	Tobacco	2-5Aase + RNaseL	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Ogawa et al. 1996
HR/SAR	Pepper	Tsil (Tobacco)	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Shin et al. 2002b
	Tobacco	2-5Aase + RnaseL	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Honda et al. 2003
Hammerhead ribozyme	Tobacco	Conserved sequences of RNA1 and 2 of CMV-Y	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Kwon et al. 1997

Mechanism/Strategies	Transgenic	Source/gene product	Virus	Reference
employed	plant			
Plantibodies	Tomato	ScFv antibodies	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Villani et al. 2005
	Tobacco	ScFv antibodies	Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV)	Aebig et al. 2006
	Potato	ScFv antibodies	Potato virus Y (PVY)	Gargouri-Bouzid et al. 2006
	Tobacco	ScFv antibodies	Tomato bushy stunt virus (TBSV)	Boonrod et al. 2004

#### Transgenics to combat nematode pathogens

Table 4 (Cont.)

Nematodes are the principal obligate parasites of plants causing >\$100 billion each year in global agriculture (Chitwood 2003). Improved plant resistance to parasitic nematodes is highly desirable to reduce the need for nematicides, some of which belong to the most unacceptable pesticides used in agriculture. Of the several possible approaches based on anti-invasion and migration, feeding-cell attenuation and anti-nematode feeding, developing transgenic plants with improved nematode resistance is a promising one (Atkinson *et al.* 1995).

Multiple studies have demonstrated that transgenic expression of a modified version of oryzacystatin,  $Oc-1\Delta D86$ , can interfere with nematode replication (Urwin et al. 1995). In Arabidopsis thaliana, expression of Oc-1/D86 using the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV35S) promoter and infection with the beet cyst nematode (Heterodera schachtii) resulted in adult females that were greatly diminished in size relative to controls (Urwin et al. 1997). Similarly, infection of transgenic plants with root-knot nematode (Meloidogyne incognita) resulted in fewer full size adults (Urwin et al. 1997). However, using same genes in transformation of potato plants and challenged with potato cyst nematode (Globodera pallida) in a field trial resulted in a 55-70% decrease in cyst number. Though, cysts formed were of normal size with a similar number of eggs to control, suggesting the potential for escape from digestive disruption. Transgenic banana plants expressing Oc-1/2D86 from the maize ubiquitin gene promoter and challenged with burrowing nematode (Radopholus similes) in greenhouse trials identified eight of 115 lines that expressed the protein and showed substantial control (Atkinson et al. 2004).

*Bacillus thuringiensis* bacteria produce specific toxins (*Cry* proteins) which have shown nematicidal properties (Schnepf *et al.* 2003) and testing of a *Bt* panel against freeliving nematodes demonstrated the nematicidal activity of *Cry5B*, *Cry6A*, *Cry14A*, and *Cry21A* against various plant parasitic nematodes (Wei *et al.* 2003). Griffitts *et al.* (2005) reported that *Cry5B* interacts with the luminal surface of the *C. elegans* intestine via an invertebrate-specific glycolipid, loss of which conveys resistance, while expression of codon-optimized *Cry6A* in transgenic tomato roots by the CaMV35S promoter reduced 56–76% egg production in

#### Meloidogyne incognita (Li et al. 2007).

Plant resistance (R) genes have been the underlying basis for successes in breeding efforts generating nematoderesistant tomato, soybeans, tobacco and other crops with pronounced economic benefits (Starr *et al.* 2002). One classical example is the tomato *Mi 1.2* gene (Milligan *et al.* 1998; Vos *et al.* 1998), which encodes a leucine-rich repeat protein and confers resistance to three *Meloidogyne* species as well as aphids and white flies. *Mi 1.2* can be transgenically expressed and provide *Meloidogyne* resistance in some tomato-related plant species (such as eggplant) but not in others (Goggin *et al.* 2006). *Mi 1.2* is likely part of a surveillance cascade that detects a specific nematode factor and triggers localized host cell death where giant-cells would normally form near the head of the invading J<sub>2</sub> worm.

Winter et al. (2002) demonstrated that the acetylcholinesterase-blocking nematicide aldicarb interferes with H. glycines chemosensation at a 1,000,000-fold lower dose (1 picomolar) than was required for inhibition of locomotion, indicating that disruption of chemosensation is likely a key feature of aldicarb's efficacy. Expression of the aldicarb-like peptides as secretory products in transgenic potato resulted in root exudates with acetylcholinesterase-blocking activity, which in greenhouse trials reduced Globodera pallida infection with cyst number declining 36-48% relative to vector controls (Liu et al. 2005). Peptide mimics of levamisole also reduced Globodera infection in a potato hairy root system. Similar results were obtained by Marra et al. (2009) who introduced a cysteine proteinase prodomain, obtained from Heterodera glycines (HGCP prodomain), into soybean cotyledons; there was a significant reduction in the soybean cyst nematode population.

Besides conventional transgenic technology, Mann *et al.* (2008) described the potential application of RNA interfereence as an eco-friendly tool for the management of plant parasitic nematodes. Though, the first published demonstration of transgenic plants with RNAi-based resistance to plant-parasitic nematode infection was reported by Yadav *et al.* (2006) for tobacco challenged with *Meloidogyne incognita*. Expression of dsRNA for a *Meloidogyne splicing fac*tor protein decreased gall formation and nematode reproduction almost entirely. Subsequent demonstration of RNAi-based resistance has come from work by Huang *et al.* (2006) for *Arabidopsis* challenged with *M. incognita*, *M.* 

Table 5 Transgenic crops engineered for enhanced resistance against nematodes

Transgenic crop	Gene/gene product	Donor	Target nematode	References
Tomato	Cysteine proteinase	Colocasia esculenta	Meloidogyne incognita	Chan et al. 2010
	inhibitor (CeCPI)			
Brinjal	cry1Ab	Bacillus thuringiensis (Berliner)	M. incognita	Phap et al. 2010
Soybean	cysteine proteinase (CPs)	Heterodera glycines	H. glycines	Marra et al. 2009
	propeptide			
Tomato	<i>chi</i> 11	Oryza sativa	M. incognita	Kalaiarasan et al. 2008
Tomato	Cry6A	Bacillus thuringiensis (Berliner)	Root knot nematode	Li et al. 2007
Tomato	CaMi	Hot pepper (Capsium annuum L.)	Meloidogyne spp.	Chen et al. 2007
Arabidopsis thaliana	16D10	Arabidopsis thaliana	M. incognita, M. javanica, M.	Huang et al. 2006
			arenaria, and M. hapla	
Triticum durum	pin2	Potato	Heterodera avenae	Vishnudasan et al. 2005
(cv. PDW215)				
Banana	Oc-1ΔD86	Maize	Radopholus similis	Atkinson et al. 2004
Pine apple	Oc-1ΔD86	Maize	M. incognita	Urwin et al. 2000
A. thaliana	protease inhibitors	-	Rotylenchulus reniformis	Urwin et al. 2000
Rice	Oc-1ΔD86	Maize	M. incognita	Vain et al. 1998
Tomato	Mi-1	S. peruvianum	M. incognita	Milligan et al. 1998
A. thaliana	Cystatin, Oc-I delta D86	Rice	Heterodera schachtii and M. incognita	Urwin et al. 1997

*javanica*, *M. arenaria*, and *M. hapla*. Expression of dsRNA for a secreted *Meloidogyne* parasitism gene *16D10* decreased eggs per gram of root by 69–93%. Sanghera *et al.* (2010) reviewed the potential exploitation of RNAi in commercial nematode control through transgenic plant-delivered dsRNA. Some examples showing the utilization of transgenic technology to develop nematode-tolerant lines in different crops are listed in **Table 5**.

#### TRANSGENICS FOR AMELIORATION TO ABIOTIC STRESS TOLERANCE

Abiotic stresses present a major challenge in our quest for sustainable food production, as these may reduce the potential yields by 70% in crop plants (Katiyar-Agarwal *et al.* 2006). Drought and salinity stresses also limit crop production even under irrigated conditions (Chinnusamy *et al.* 2006). Many bacterial genes involved in different environmental stresses have been identified and engineered. The expression of certain bacterial stress-related proteins in plants may directly or indirectly protect plants against specific environmental stresses such as drought, high salinity, high UV radiation and low temperature. As the role of different bacterial genes in stress adaptation becomes known, genetic transformations strategies have been devised to improve abiotic stress tolerance in economically important crops and are detailed below.

#### Transgenics for drought tolerance

Drought is the most significant environmental stress in agriculture worldwide and improving yield under drought is a major goal of plant breeding (Cattivelli et al. 2008). Nevertheless, direct selection for grain yield under water-stressed conditions has been hampered by low heritability, polygenic control, epistasis, significant genotype by- environment (G × E) interaction and quantitative trait loci (QTLs)-by-environment (QTL  $\times$  E) interaction (Gosal *et al.* 2009; Ashraf 2010; Sanghera et al. 2010). In recent years, crop physiology and genomics have led to new insights in drought tolerance providing plant engineers with new knowledge and tools for crop improvement (Tuberosa and Salvi 2006). Efforts have been made during the last few decades to generate transgenic lines of different crops, showing enhanced tolerance to drought stress (Table 6). The major emphasis of agricultural scientists has been on engineering genes that encode compatible organic osmolytes, plant growth regulators, antioxidants, heat-shock and late embryogenesis abundant proteins, and transcription factors involved in gene expression (Gosal et al. 2009; Ashraf 2010).

Compatible organic solutes play a central role in plant drought tolerance (Ashraf and Foolad 2007). Overproduction of such compatible organic osmotica (glycine betain, proline, trehalose, etc.) is one of the prominent responses of plants exposed to osmotic stress (Serraj and Sinclair 2002) and the genes encoding the synthesis of such organic solutes can be engineered to enhance the production of these solutes in transgenic plants. Glycine betaine (GB) is a quaternary ammonium compound, known to play a substantial role in stress tolerance and accumulated in response to dehydration stress with in a plant system (Mansour 2000; Mohanty *et al.* 2002; Yang *et al.* 2003). The biosynthesis of GB in higher plants is controlled by two enzymes viz. choline monooxygenase (CMO) and betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase (BADH).

Multiple studies showed genes encoding CMO enzymes have been engineered. These transgenic lines showed higher accumulation of GB under water limited conditions and hence enhanced drought tolerance (Shen *et al.* 2002; Zhang *et al.* 2008). A potential maize inbred line DH4866 was transformed with the *E. coli betA* gene encoding choline dehydrogenase (Quan *et al.* 2004). The transformed maize plants contained higher levels of GB and showed higher tolerance to drought as compared to wild-type plants when tested at the initial growth stages. Like GB, proline is also an important compatible organic osmolyte that plays a key role in stress tolerance. Pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CR) is the key enzyme for proline biosynthesis. The gene for this enzyme has been engineered in soybean (Ronde *et al.* 2004), petunia (Yamada *et al.* 2005) and tobacco (Gubis *et al.* 2007). All these transgenic lines showed enhanced accumulation of proline as well as high drought tolerance.

Trehalose, a non-reducing sugar, is also a potential organic osmoticum which has a substantial role in the protection of plants against stresses. However, transgenic lines of different crops have been generated using the genes of some key enzymes involved in trehalose biosynthesis. For example, enhanced drought tolerance has been achieved by transforming the gene TPS1 for trehalose-6-phosphate synthase in tobacco (Romero et al. 1997; Karim et al. 2007). Enhanced drought tolerance has also been observed in transformed rice plants expressing chimeric gene Ubi1:: TPSP due to increased accumulation of trehalose (Jang et al. 2003). In these studies and some other reported in the literature, engineering constitutive over-expression of genes encoding TPS and/or TPP (trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase) resulted in enhanced trehalose accumulation as well as drought tolerance. However, the main problem with such transformation had been that it led to abnormal plant development under normal growth conditions, because the gene transformed remained turned on all the time. To resolve this problem, Wu and Garg (2003) alternatively adopted another way to engineer enhanced trehalose accumulation in such a manner that trehalose biosynthesis took place only when the plant encountered abiotic stress. They employed a stressinducible promoter for the over-expression of E. coli trehalose biosynthesis genes (otsA and otsB) as fusion gene (TPSP, trehalose-6-phosphate synthase phosphatase) for developing abiotic stress tolerance in rice. It is pertinent to note here that the TPSP fusion gene transformation resulted in normal growth under non-stress conditions, but the expression of the fusion gene occurred only under stress conditions. In another study, a TPS1-TPS2 fusion gene construct was incorporated into Arabidopsis thaliana through Agrobacterium using either the 35S or the stress regulated rd29A promoter (Miranda et al. 2007). The lines over-expressing the TPS1-TPS2 construct showed normal growth as well as enhanced tolerance to multiple stresses such as salinity, drought, freezing, and high temperature. Mannitol is another important osmo-protectant that plays a vital role in plant stress tolerance. However, attempts have been made to achieve improved drought tolerance by the over-expression of mannitol in plants by engineering genes involved in the biosynthesis of mannitol. Tobacco plants transformed with a mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase gene resulted in enhanced mannitol accumulation, but enhanced mannitol accumulation did not affect osmotic adjustment or drought tolerance in the transformed plants as compared to those in the untransformed plants (Karakas et al. 1997).

Drought stress also leads to increased accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plants thus causing an oxidative stress. To counteract these ROS, plants can intrinsically develop different types of antioxidants (Pastori and Foyer 2002; Sunkar et al 2006). Genes encoding different types of antioxidants have been engineered in different plants for achieving enhanced drought tolerance. For example, engineering of the gene SOD encoding superoxide dismutase caused enhanced drought tolerance in potato (Perl et al. 1993), alfalfa (McKersie et al. 1997) and rice (Wang et al. 2005). Transgenic lines of tobacco produced by overexpressing the monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDAR) gene from Arabidopsis showed a 2.1-fold higher MDAR activity and 2.2-fold higher level of reduced ascorbic acid than that in non-transformed plants (Eltayeb et al. 2007). Further, Liu et al. (2008) generated transgenic tobacco plants over-expressing VTE1 gene encoding tocopherol cyclase (VTE1), a key enzyme of tocopherol biosynthesis. The transformed plants exhibited enhanced drought tolerance which was associated with decreased electrolyte leakage,

Transgenic crop	Gene	Gene product	Donor	smolytes, transcription factors, late embryogenesis proteins a Remarks	Reference
Cotton	AVP1	Vacuolar	Arabidopsis	20% higher fibre yield of AVP1-expressing cotton plants,	Pasapula et
		pyrophosphatase		improved tolerance to both drought and salt stresses	al. 2010
Tomato (Lycopersicon	SINAGS1	N-acetyl-glutamate	Arabidopsis	Improved germination ability and higher accumulation of	Kalamaki <i>et</i>
esculentum L.) Tobacco (Nicotiana	BhLEA1	synthase Boea hygrometrica	thaliana L. Boea	ornithine The relative water content of leaves and activities of	<i>al.</i> 2009 Liu <i>et al.</i>
tabacum L.)	and	late embryogenesis	hygrometrica	photosystem II, superoxide dismutase and peroxidase	2009
,	BhLEA2	abundant proteins		increased, while membrane permeability decreased in	
<b>D</b> : (0) (: 1)	O DICKI		<b>D</b> : (0)	transgenic plants	<b>T</b>
Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	OSRACK1	Receptor for activated C-kinase 1	Rice (Oryza sativa L. subsp.	Reduced membrane peroxidation and production of malondialdehyde, while enhanced activity of superoxide	Li <i>et al.</i> 2009
		e kindse i	Japonica cv.	dismutase in transgenic rice plants, RACK1 negatively	2009
			Nipponbare	regulated the redox system-related tolerance to drought stress	
Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	TaSTRG	Triticum aestivum salt	Triticum	Improved plant survival rate, fresh weight, chlorophyll	Zhou et al.
		tolerance gene	aestivum L.	content, higher praline, and soluble sugar contents, and	2009
				significantly higher expression of putative praline synthetase and transporter genes than the non-transgenic	
				plants	
Rice (Oryza sativa L.)		Transcription factor	Rice (Oryza	Improved grain filling rate and grain yield (16-57%) and	Oh et al.
	OsCc1	(encoding Oryza	sativa L.)	drought tolerance of transgenic plants	2009
		<i>sativa</i> cytochrome c gene			
Arabidopsis thaliana	MYB15	R2R3 MYB	Arabidopsis	Transgenic lines were hypersensitive to ABA in	Ding et al.
L.		transcription factor	<i>thaliana</i> L.	germination assays, more susceptible to ABA-elicited	2009
				inhibition of root elongation, and more sensitive to ABA- induced stomatal closure. The transcript levels of ABA	
				biosynthesis, signaling and responsive genes were	
				generally higher in the seedlings of transgenic plants than	
Doomut (Augehia		Auchidonaia thaliana	Anghidangia	those in wild types	Dhotmogon
Peanut (Arachis hypogea L.)	AtDREB1 A	Arabidopsis thaliana dehydration-	Arabidopsis thaliana L.	Enhanced activities of superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase and enhanced	Bhatnagar- Mathur <i>et al</i> .
···// •8••• =·/		responsive element-		praline level in the transgenic plants, while a dramatic	2009
		binding protein		increase in the lipid peroxidation was observed in the	
Tobacco (Nicotiana	BvCMO	Choline	Beet (Beta	untransformed controls under water limited conditions Higher accumulation of glycinebetaine in leaves, roots and	Zhang <i>et al</i> .
tabacum L.)	DVCMO	monooxygenase	vulgaris)	seeds. Transgenic line exhibited improved tolerance to	2008
			Ŭ,	toxic level of choline and drought and stress	
Tobacco ( <i>Nicotiana</i>	VTE1	Tocopherol cyclase	Arabidopsis thaliana L.	Lower lipid peroxidation, electrolyte leakage and H2O2	Liu <i>et al.</i> 2008
tabacum L.)			inaliana L.	content, while higher chlorophyll and tocopherol contents in transgenic plants as compared to wild type	2008
Mulberry (Morus	HVA1	Late embryogenesis	Barley (Hordeum	The transgenic plants showed better memebrane stability	Lal <i>et al</i> .
indica)		abundant protein	vulgare L.)	(CMS), photosynthetic yield, less photo-oxidative damage	2008
Tobacco (Nicotiana	Ta-Ub2	Triticum aestivum	Wheat (Triticum	and better water use efficiency under drought stress Faster germination, seedlings grew vigorously under water	Guo <i>et al</i> .
tabacum L.)		ubiquitin 2	aestivum L.)	deficit conditions, improved CO2 assimilation rate of	2008
				transgenic plants both under drought and non-drought	
Tobacco (Nicotiana	P5CSF129	??-pyrroline-5-	Vigna acontifolia	conditions Transgenic plants accumulated high levels of praline and	Gubis <i>et al</i> .
tabacum L.)	A and <i>nptII</i>		right acomijona	chlorophyll content and were better adapted to water stress	
	-	and neomycine			
Tobacco (Nicotiana	TPS1 and	phosphotransferase Trehalose-6-phosphate	Saccharonweas	Enhanced drought tolerance by water retention and root	Karim <i>et al</i> .
tabacum L.)	TPS2	synthase 1 and 2	cerevisiae	development	2007
Triticum aestivum L.	P5CS	Pyrroline-5-	Vigna acontifolia	Improved drought tolerance was mainly due to protection	Vendruscolo
cv. CD200126		carboxylate synthetase		against oxidative stress; praline accumulation was high in	et al. 2007
Tall fescue (Festuca	DREB1A/	Dehydration-	Arabidopsis	transgenic plants Transgenic plants showed increased resistance to drought	Zhao <i>et al</i> .
arundinacea Schreb.)	CBF3	responsive element-	thaliana L.	and high praline accumulation	2007
	~	binding protein	_		~ .
Arabidopsis thaliana L.	CaXTH3	<i>Capsicum annuum</i> xyloglucan	Pepper (Capsicum	Transgenic plants exhibited abnormal leaf morphology, showed variable twisting and bending along the edges,	Cho and Hong 2006
L.		endotransglucosylase/	annuum L. cv.	resulting in a severely wrinkled leaf shape resulting into a	110lig 2000
		hydrolase	Pukang)	marked improvement in tolerance to severe water deficit	
Pice (Omma sating I)	Mn SOD	Manganasa	Dan (Diana	conditions Reduced electrolyte leakage, injury, oxidative damage	Wang at al
Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	mn-SOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase	Pea (Pisum sativum L.)	Reduced electrolyte leakage, injury, oxidative damage, while improved photosynthetic rate, SOD activity and	Wang <i>et al.</i> 2005
		Tr		drought tolerance	
Arabidopsis thaliana	AtP5CS or	Pyrroline-5-	Petunia (Petunia	Transgenic plants accumulated 1.5-2.6 times greater	Yamada et
L. and <i>Oryza sativa</i> L.	OsP5CS	carboxylate synthetase	<i>hybrida</i> cv. Mitchell	praline and showed better growth than wild type plants under drought stress	al. 2005
Tobacco (Nicotiana	PsTP	Pleurotus sajor-caju	Pleurotus sajor-	Transgenic plants showed normal growth, and better	Han <i>et al</i> .
tabacum L.)		trehalose	caju	capacity to retain water, while the wild type and the only	2005
		phosphorylase		empty vector-transformed control withered severely	

Table 6 (Cont.)	~	~	-		-
Transgenic crop	Gene	Gene product	Donor	Remarks	Reference
Arabidopsis thaliana L.	AREB1	Abscisic acid- responsive element- binding protein 1	Escherichia coli	AREB1 regulated novel ABRE-dependent ABA signaling that enhanced drought tolerance in vegetative tissues	Fujita <i>et al.</i> 2005
Soybean ( <i>Gycine max</i> cv. Ibis)	P5CR	Pyrroline-5- carboxylate reductase	Arabidopsis thaliana L.	NADP+ levels decreased in wild type/ antisense, while increased in transgenic/sense plants. Sense plants accumulated highest amount of praline	Ronde <i>et al.</i> 2004
Zea mays L. inbred line DH4866	betA	Choline dehydrogenase	Escherichia coli	Higher accumulation of glycinebetaine, more tolerant to drought stress at germination stage and the young seedling stage. Most importantly, improved grain yield, integrity of the cell membrane and activities of enzymes under drought stress	Quan <i>et al.</i> 2004
Nicotiana tabacum L. cv. SR-1	APX5	Ascorbate peroxidase	Arabidopsis thaliana L.	Enhanced net photosynthetic rate, 3.8 fold higher level of APX activity, while reduced toxicity of $H_2O_2$ in transgenic plants	Badawi <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2004
Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	<i>TPSP</i> (fusion gene of otsA and otsB)	Trehalose-6-phosphate synthase or phosphatase	Escherichia coli	The genetically-engineered rice plants produced higher amounts of trehalose, exhibited sustained plant growth, less photo-oxidative damage, and more favorable mineral balance under drought stress conditions	Wu and Garg 2003
Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)	mt1D	Mannitol-1-phosphate dehyrogenase	Escherichia coli	Improved fresh and dry weights, plant height, and flag leaf length in transgenic plants	Abebe <i>et al.</i> 2003
Tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum L.)	AhCMO	Choline monooxygenase	Atriplex hortensis		Shen <i>et al.</i> 2002
Zea mays	zm-Asr1	Zea mays ABA/ water stress/ ripening induced protein	Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor)	Transgenic plants showed increased intrinsic water use efficiency accompanied by a dry weight increase under drought conditions	Jeaneau et al. 2002
Ryegrass (Lolium multiforum Lam.)	sacB	<i>Bacillus subtilis</i> chimeric gene	Bacillus subtilis	Transgenic plants had a lower level of total fructose, unchanged sucrose levels and a slight reduction in hexose levels. However, growth of the levan-accumulating sac <i>B</i> - <i>t</i> ransgenic plants was decreased with the onset of reproductive phase	Ye <i>et al.</i> 2001
Arabidopsis thaliana L.		Ssuperoxide dismutase and Ascorbate peroxidase	Alfalfa ( <i>Medicago sativa</i> L.)	Improved seed germination, plant growth, osmotic adjustment, and activities of superoxide dismutase and ascorbate peroxidase	Luo <i>et al.</i> 2000
Tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum L.)	mt1D	Mannitol-1-phosphate dehyrogenase	Escherichia coli	•	Karakas <i>et</i> al. 1997
Tobacco ( <i>Nicotiana tabacum</i> L.)	TPS1	Trehalose-6-phosphate synthase	Escherichia coli	Trehalose accumulating plants exhibited multiple phenotypic alterations including stunted growth, lancet- shaped leaves, reduced sucrose content and improved drought tolerance	Romero <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 1997

lipid peroxidation and  $H_2O_2$  content, but increased chlorophyll content compared with the non-transformed plants.

Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins play a vital role in plant protection against the adverse effects caused by drought stress (Hong et al. 2005; Gosal et al. 2009). Efforts have been made during the last two decades to engineer LEA genes for enhanced plant drought tolerance. For example, engineering the LEA genes PMA1959 and PMA80 from wheat and transformed in rice resulted in enhanced drought tolerance (Cheng et al. 2002). Similarly, a LEA gene HVA1 from barley was engineered in rice (Xu et al. 1996), and wheat (Sivamani et al. 2000). Both rice and wheat transformed lines so produced showed enhanced tolerance to drought stress. In two independent studies, a LEA protein gene ME-lea N4 from Brassica napus was transferred through Agrobacterium to lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) (Park et al. 2005a) and Chinese cabbage (Brassica campestris Pekinensis) (Park et al. 2005b) using the CaMV 35S promoter. The transgenic lines of both crops showed enhanced tolerance to drought. Another LEA protein gene OsLEA 3-1 has been incorporated into rice via Agrobacterium under the operation of different promoters (Xiao et al. 2007). The rice transgenics developed particularly under the control of constitutive CaMV 35S and stress-inducible HVA1 promoters showed enhanced drought tolerance when tested under natural field conditions.

Jeanneau *et al.* (2002) examined the role of an ABA and drought regulated maize gene *ASR1* coding for an ABA stress ripening protein, and the effect of photosynthesis regulation through the ectopic expression of the *S. bicolor* 

C4-phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase gene, *C4-PEPC*, in transgenic maize. The transgenic maize lines so produced showed enhanced photosynthetic capacity, water use efficiency as well as high biomass production under mild water deficit conditions. Transgenic expression of *MYB15*, encoding a transcription factor, *R2R3 MYB*, in *Arabidopsis*, showed considerable sensitivity to exogenous ABA and enhanced tolerance to drought (Ding *et al.* 2009).

Transcription factors are specific types of proteins that bind DNA and are involved in the regulation of gene transcription, hence gene regulation. Several transcription factors have been identified, which are involved in gene regulation in plants under water limited conditions (Bartels and Sunkar 2005; Vinocur and Altman 2005). Of a number of transcription factors listed elsewhere (Gosal et al. 2009), dehydration-responsive element-binding factors (DREB) have attracted the attention of many plant reseachers since Jaglo-Ottosen et al. (1998) and Liu et al. (1998) first reported the up-regulation of many genes in DREB1/CBF transgenic Arabidopsis involved in tolerance to a variety of stresses. Transgenic Arabidopsis plants over-expressing DREB1/CBF3 operated by the constitutive promoter CaMV 35S also exhibited improved tolerance to drought (Kasuga et al. 1999). Introduction of DREB1A into wheat driven by rd29A promoter resulted in enhanced drought tolerance (Pellegrineschi et al. 2004). Ecotypic expression of Arabidopsis DREB1A/(CBF3) into transformed rice plants under the operation of constitutive promoter CaMV 35S, resulted in improved tolerance to drought (Oh et al. 2005). In maize, over-expression of ZmDREB2A under the control of constitutive or stress-inducible promoter resulted in enhanced drought tolerance in plants (Qin *et al.* 2007). Bhatnagar-Mathur *et al.* (2009) generated transgenic plants of peanut over-expressing *Arabidopsis AtDREB1A*, driven by a stress-inducible promoter, *Atrd29A*.

Apart from DREB, other transcription factors are also known to be involved in plant stress responses. One such type is that with APETELA2 (AP2)-domain. Oh et al. (2009) identified 42AP2 genes in rice, which are triggered by various stresses including salinity, drought, freezing, and ABA. The transformed rice plants over-expressing AP37 and AP59 under the operation of the constitutive promoter OsCc1 showed enhanced resistance to high drought at the vegetative growth stage. However, compared to OsCc1: AP59 plants, OsCc1:AP37 plants showed considerably higher tolerance to drought by producing 16-57% more grain yield than non-transgenic controls under severe drought conditions of the field. Recently, Jeong et al. (2010) reported the results of a functional genomics approach that identified a rice NAC (an acronym for NAM [No Apical Meristem], ATAF1-2, and CUC2 [Cup-Shaped Cotyledon]) domain gene, OsNAC10, which improved performance of transgenic rice plants under field drought conditions. Overexpression of OsNAC10 in rice under the control of the constitutive promoter GOS2 and the rootspecific promoter RCc3 increased the plant tolerance to drought, high salinity, and low temperature at the vegetative stage. More importantly, the RCc3:OsNAC10 plants showed significantly enhanced drought tolerance at the reproductive stage, increasing grain yield by 25 to 42% and by 5 to 14% over controls in the field under drought and normal conditions, respectively.

Wei et al. (2010) reported that maize plants transgenic for both *betA* (encoding choline dehydrogenase from *Esche*richia coli) and TsVP (encoding V-H<sup>+</sup>-PPase from Thellungiella halophila) were produced by cross-pollination. The existence of the transgenes in the pyramided plants was demonstrated by PCR and Southern blotting. The examination of the drought resistance characteristics demonstrated that the pyramided transgenic plants had higher glycinebetaine contents and H<sup>+</sup>-PPase activity compared with the parental lines, which had either betA or TsVP, and contained higher relative water content (RWC), greater solute accumulation and lower cell damage under drought stress treatment. The pyramided plants grew more vigorously with less growth retardation, shorter anthesis-silking interval and higher yields than their parental lines and the wild-type. However, most of the transgenic lines of different crops were tested under controlled laboratory or glasshouse conditions in which remarkable performance under simulated stress conditions were shown. Most drought-tolerant transgenic lines of different crops developed are based on only a single gene transformation (Table 6), and where the claims of the authors regarding the performance of the lines with respect to drought tolerance seems to be overstated, although manipulation of a number of genes predominantly involved in drought tolerance to transgenic plants seems to be a plausible approach that allows pyramiding of desirable traits to achieve considerable advance in crop drought tolerance.

#### Transgenics for salt tolerance

It is estimated that 20% of the irrigated land in the world is presently affected by salinity (Yamaguchi and Blumwald 2005; Ruan *et al.* 2010; Ruan and Teixeira da Silva 2011). Salinity imposes water deficit that results from the relatively high solute concentra-tion in the soil, causes ion specific stresses resulting from altered  $Na^+/K^+$  ratios, and leads to buildup in  $Na^+$  and  $Cl^-$  concentrations that are detrimental to growth and other life processes of plants (Vinocur and Altman 2005). Plant sys-tems respond to salt stress by restricting the uptake of salt and adjust their osmotic pressure by the synthesis of com-patible solutes (proline, glycinebetaine, sugars) (Greenway and Munns 1980) and sequestering salt into the cell vacuoles for the maintenance of low cytosolic Na<sup>+</sup> levels (Blumwald and Grover 2006). Transgenics that have shown a comparable level of salt tolerance to their wild types and are presented in **Table 7**.

Salt tolerance of transgenic tobacco engineered to over accumulate mannitol was first demonstrated by Tarczynski *et al.* (1993). The other examples of compatible solute genetic engineering includes the transformation of genes for ectoine synthesis with enzymes from the halophilic bacterium *Halomonas elongata* (Ono *et al.* 1999; Nakayama *et al.* 2000) and trehalose synthesis in potato (Yeo *et al.* 2000), rice (Garg *et al.* 2002), and sorbitol synthesis in plantago (*Plantago ovata* L.) (Pommerrenig *et al.* 2007).

Initial strategies aimed at engineering higher concentrations of proline began with the overexpression of genes encoding the enzymes pyrroline-5-carboxylate (*P5C*) synthetase (*P5CS*) and P5C reductase (*P5CR*). *P5CS* overexpression in transgenic tobacco dramatically elevated free proline (Kishor *et al.* 1995).

Hayashi et al. (1997) used choline oxidase of Arthro*bacter globiformis* to engineer glycinebetaine syn thesis in Arabidopsis and subsequently tolerance to salinity during germination and seedling establishment was improved markedly in the transgenic lines. The enhancement of glycinebetaine syntheses in target plants has received much attention (Rontein et al. 2002). Huang et al. (2000) used COX from Arthobacter panescens, which is homologous to the A. globiformis COD, to transform Arabidopsis, B. napus and tobacco. In this set of experiments COX protein was directed to the cytoplasm and not to the chloroplast. Improvements in tolerance to salinity, drought and freezing were observed in some transgenics from all three species, but the tolerance was variable. The results offered the possibility that the protection offered by glycinebetaine is not only osmotic but also function as scavengers of oxygen radicals.

Plants use antioxidants such reduced glutathione (GSH) and different enzymes such as superoxide dismutases (SOD), CAT, APX, glutathione-S-transferases (GST) and glutathione peroxidases (GPX) to scavenge ROS. Reduction of oxidative damage could provide enhanced plant resistance to salt stress. Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing both GST and GPX showed improved seed germination and seedling growth under stress (Roxas et al. 1997). However, Xu et al. (1996) generated transgenic rice (cv. 'Nipponbare') over-expressing barley hval gene encoding LEA protein and reported that the transgenic plants maintained a higher growth rate initially and showed better recovery on removal of salt stress. Further, Sakamoto et al. (1998) genetically engineered rice with the ability to synthesize GB by introducing the *codA* gene (encoding for choline oxidase obtained from Arthrobacter globiformis) and found that levels of GB were as high as 1 and 5 µmol per gram fresh weight of leaves in two types of transgenic plant in which choline oxidase was targeted to the chloroplasts (ChlCOD plants) and to the cytosol (CytCOD plants), respectively.

Saijo et al. (2000) generated transgenic rice (cv. 'Notohikari') plants over-expressing a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent protein kinase (OsCDPK7). The youngest leaves wilted 3 days after salt stress of 200 mM NaCl in wild type plants, while transgenic plants exhibited greater tolerance. Mohanty et al. (2002) generated transgenic lines of indica rice Pusa basmati 1 (PB 1) by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation with *codA* gene. In this work, more than 50% of the transgenic plants could survive salt stress and set seed whereas the wild type plants failed to recover. Garg et al. (2002) generated transgenic indica rice PB 1, expressing the fusion gene comprising both trehalose-6-phosphate synthase and trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase obtained from Escherichia coli. Compared to wild type rice, transgenic lines exhibited sustained plant growth, less photo-oxidative damage, and more favorable mineral balance under salt stress conditions. Jang et al. (2003) reported the generation of trehalose-producing, transgenic japonica rice plants by the introduction of a gene encoding a bifunctional fusion (TPSP) of

Transgenic crop	Gene	Gene product	Donor	xpression of ion transporters and compatible solute Remark	Reference
(Cultivar)	Gene	Gene product	Dolloi	Kemar K	Kelerence
Cotton	AVP1	Vacuolar pyrophosphatase	Arabidonsis	20% higher fibre yield of AVP1-expressing	Pasapula et al.
cotton	11/11	vacaolai pyrophosphaase	11 40 40 0 5 15	cotton plants, improved tolerance to both	2010
				drought and salt stresses	2010
Poplar (Populus	TaMnSOD	Superoxide dismutases	Tamarix androssowii	1.3–4-folds enhacement in SOD activity in	Wang et al. 2010
davidiana X P.	TuningoD	Superovide distilutions	Tuntar in anai 0550mi	transgenic plants, 8- to 23-fold increase in	Wang er an. 2010
bolleana)				relative weight gains of the transgenic plants	
Tobacco	PcINO1	Myo-inositol 1-phosphate	Porteresia coarctata	Elevated level of total inositol and methylated	Patra et al. 2010
1000000	and	synthase and inositol	and	inositol and the capability of the double	1 and <i>ci ui</i> . 2010
	McIMT1	methyl transferase	Mesembryanthemum	transgenic plants to withstand a higher degree of	
	MCIMII	mentyl transferase	crystallinum	salt stress	
Tobacco	W6	Ethylene responsive factor	2	Enhancement in superoxide dismutase activity	Lu et al. 2008
Tobacco	<i>w</i> 0	Eurylene responsive factor	aestivum L.)	and chlorophyll content in the transgenic plants	Lu e <i>i ui</i> . 2000
			landrace Xiaobaimai		
Rice (Cv. Pusa	-	Cytosolic copper/zinc	Avicennia marina	Enhacement in SOD activity in transgenic plants	Prashanth et al.
Basmati-1)		superoxide dismutase			2008
Plantago major	PmSDH1	Sorbitol dehydrogenase	Plantago major	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to salt stress	Pommerrenig <i>et al.</i> 2007
A. thaliana	AtNHX1	Vacuoloar Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup>	Festuca arundinacea	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Luming <i>et al.</i> 2006
n. manana	111111111	antiporter	1 concer al anamacea	salt stress as a result of Na <sup>+</sup> sequestration	Eanning er an. 2000
Rice (Zhonghua	SOD2	Vacoular Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Saccharomyces	Transgenics had enhanced P-ATPase hydrolytic	Zhao <i>et al</i> . 2006a
no. 11)	5002	vacoular iva /11 antiporter	pombe	activity, increased photosynthesis and root	21100 01 01. 20000
10.11)			pomoe	proton exportation capacity, reduced ROS	
				generation	
Rice (Zhonghua	SsNHX1	Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Suaeda salsa	Transgenic plants increase salt stress resistance,	Zhao <i>et al.</i> 2006b
no. 11)	J514IIAI	ina /11 anuponoi	Suucuu suisu	which resulted from Na <sup>+</sup> sequestration; plants	Linao ei ui. 20000
110. 11)				had an increase in $H^+$ -ATPase and $H^+$ -PPase	
				activity, reduced ROS generation and increased	
				photosynthesis	
Rice (Zhongzou	nhaA	Na+/H+ antiporter gene	Escherichia coli	Transgenics grew faster as compared to the wild	Why at al. 2005
321)	IIIIaA	Na+/H+ anuporter gene	Escherichia coli	types under stress conditions	Wu <i>et al.</i> 2005
Tobacco	HbNHX1	Vacoular Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Houdown	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Lu et al 2005
Tobacco	IIUMIAI	vacoular Na /H anuporter	brevisubculatum		Lu et al. 2005
Dias (Nimmanhana)	O-MIIVI	No //II - ontin orton		salt stress	Eulanda at al. 2004
Rice (Nipponbare)	OsNHX1	Na+/H+ antiporter	Oryza sativa	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to salt stress	Fukuda et al. 2004
Pico	TPS +	Trehalose-6- phosphate	Escherichia coli	Trehalose levels in seeds and leaves were more	Inng at al. 2002
Rice	TPS + TPP		Escherichia coli		Jang <i>et al</i> . 2003
	fusion	synthase and T-6-P		in putative transgenic than control plants	
Aughidonaia		phosphatase Plasma membrane Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup>	Auchidonaia	Transportion algerts showed in proposed to large on to	Shi <i>et al.</i> 2003
Arabidopsis	AtSOS1		Arabidopsis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to salt stress due to Na <sup>+</sup> extrusion	Sill <i>et al</i> . 2005
Arabidopsis	SOD2	antiporter Plasma membrane Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup>	Schizosaccharomy-	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Gao et al. 2003
Arabiaopsis	30D2				Gao <i>ei ui</i> . 2003
Diag (Vinuhiltani)	AgNHX1	antiporter	ces pombe Atriplex gmelini	salt stress due to Na <sup>+</sup> extrusion	Ohta <i>et al</i> . 2002
Rice (Kinuhikari)	AgNHAI	Na+/H+ antiporter gene	Airipiex gmeiini	Transgenic plants survived under conditions of	Onta <i>el al</i> . 2002
D: (DD 1)	1.4		4 .1 1 .	300 mM NaCl for 3 days	
Rice (PB 1)	codA	Choline oxidase A	Arthrobacter	50% R1 plants survived after exposure to salt	Mohanty <i>et al.</i>
D' (DD1)		T 1 1 ( 1 1 (	globiformis	stress for 1 week	2002
Rice (PB1)	otsA +	Trehalose-6-phosphate	Escherichia coli	Transgenic plants showed enhanced tolerance	Garg et al. 2002
	otsB	synthase and trehalose-6-		both during and after stress and had longer and	
<b>—</b>	(TPSP)	phosphate phosphatase		thicker roots	
Tomato	BADH	Betaine dehydrogenase	Atriplex hortensis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Jia <i>et al.</i> 2002
T (	4 - 3 77 73/1	X7 1 X7 <sup>+</sup> /17 <sup>+</sup> / (	4 1 • 1 •	salt stress	771 1
Tomato	AtNHX1	Vacoular Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Arabidopsis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Zhang and
р :	4.3777777	<b>X7 1 X7 +</b> / <b>77</b> <sup>+</sup> <i>x</i> <sup>+</sup>		salt stress	Blumwald 2001
Brassica napus	AtNHX1	Vacoular Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Arabidopsis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Zhang <i>et al.</i> 2001
_	~	~		salt stress	~
Japanese	Stpd1	Sorbitol-6-phosphate	Apple	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Gao et al. 2001
permission		dehydrogenase		salt stress	
Arabidopsis	AVP1	Vacuolar H <sup>+</sup> -pyro-	Arabidopsis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Gaxiola et al. 2001
		phosphatase		salt stress due to vacuolar acidification	
Tobacco	betA	Choline dehyrogenase	E. coli	Transgenic plants exhibited greater salt tolerance	
					2000
Rice (Kinuhikari)	c-GS2	Chloroplastic glutamine	Oryza sativa	over-expression reduced the increase of Na+	Hoshida et al. 2000
		synthetase		content at high salinity	
Tobacco	EctA	L-2,4-diaminobutyric acid	Halomonas elongata	Transgenic plants exhibited greater salt tolerance	
		acetyltransferase			2000
Rice (Notohikari)	Oscdpk7	Calcium-dependent	Oryza sativa	Transgenic plants exhibited greater salt tolerance	Saijo et al. 2000
		protein kinase			
Arabidopsis	ProDH	Proline hydrogenase	Arabidopsis thaliana	Transgenic plants exhibited greater salt tolerance	Nanjo <i>et al</i> . 1999
Rice (Sasanishiki)	Mn-SOD	Superoxide dismutase	Saccharomyces	Transgenics showed enhanced tolerance to salt	Tanaka et al. 1999
			cerevisiae		
A	AtNHX1	Vacoular Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter	Arabidonsis	Transgenic plants showed increased tolerance to	Apse et al. 1999
Arabidopsis	1161 (11211	vacoulai i la /ii anapoitei	III de la polo		- Post of most state

Transgenic crop	Gene	Gene product	Donor	Remark	Reference
(Cultivar)					
Rice (Nipponbare)	ch-codA,	Choline oxidase A	Arthrobacter	Transgenic plants had high levels of glycine	Sakamoto et al.
	cycodA		globiformis betaine and grew faster compared to wild type on removal of stress	1998	
Arabidopsis	COX	Choline oxidase	Arthrobacter globiformis	Transgenics showed enhanced tolerance to salt	Hayashi <i>et al.</i> 1997
Rice (Nipponbare)	hva 1	LEA protein	Hordeum vulgare	Transgenic seedlings maintained a higher growth rate during stress and plants showed faster recovery on removal of stress	Xu <i>et al.</i> 1996

the trehalose-6-phosphate (*T*-6-*P*) synthase (*TPS*) and T-6-P phosphatase (*TPP*) of *E. coli*, under the control of the maize *ubiquitin* promoter. Increased trehalose accumulation in transgenic plants resulted in increased tolerance to salt.

Considering that mechanisms that reduce cytosolic Na<sup>+</sup> concentrations could provide a degree of tolerance to relatively low NaCl concentrations (Blumwald and Grover 2006). Ohta *et al.* (2002) engineered salt sensitive rice cul-tivar Kinhuikari using the Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter gene from *Atriplex gmelini* (*AgNHX1*). The activity of the vacuolartype  $Na^+/H^+$  antiporter in the transgenic rice plants was 8fold higher than in wild type rice plants. Salt tolerance assays followed by non-stress treatments showed that the transgenic plants over-expressing AgNHX1 could survive under conditions of 300 mM NaCl for 3 days while the wild type plants could not. Zhao and Zhang (2006) generated transgenic rice plants with SsNHX1 from Suaeda salsa which showed markedly enhanced tolerance to salt stress compared with non transgenic controls grown under outdoor conditions. Yanga et al. (2009) produced six different transgenic Arabidopsis plants that overexpress AtNHX1, SOS3, AtNHX1+SOS3, SOS1, SOS2+SOS3, or SOS1+SOS2 +SOS3. Northern blot analyses confirmed the presence of high levels of the relevant gene transcripts in transgenic plants and reported that transgenic Arabidopsis plants overexpressing AtNHX1 alone did not present any significant increase in salt tolerance, contrary to earlier reports. However, transgenic plants overexpressing SOS3 exhibit increased salt tolerance similar to plants overexpressing SOS1.

Recenly, Patra et al. (2010) reported that co-expression of PcINO1 (L-myo-inositol 1-phosphate synthase or MIPS coding gene from the wild halophytic rice, Porteresia coarctata) or McIMTI (inositol methyl transferase, IMTI coding gene from common ice plant Mesembryanthemum crystallinum) gene in transgenic tobacco plants either in cytosol or in chloroplasts accumulate higher amount of total inositol (free and methyl inositol) compared to non-transgenic plants. These transgenic plants were more competent in terms of growth potential and photosynthetic activity and were less prone to oxidative stress under salt stress. A positive correlation between the elevated level of total inositol and methylated inositol and the capability of the double transgenic plants to withstand a higher degree of salt stress compared to the plants expressing either PcINO1 or McIMT1 alone. Addionally, Kim et al. (2010) reported that overexpression of AtABCG36 improves drought and salt stress resistance in transgenic Arabidopsis and produced higher shoot biomass and less chlorotic leaves than the wild type.

#### TRANSGENICS FOR HERBICIDE RESISTANCE

The use of herbicides to reduce loss in crop yield due to weed competition has become an integral component of modern agriculture. Developments in plant genetic engineering and knowledge of biochemical action of herbicides on plants spurred innovative approaches to engineer crops to withstand herbicides. These strategies usually involve isolation and introduction of a gene from other organisms, mostly bacteria, which is able to overcome the herbicide-induced metabolic blockage (Kim *et al.* 1999). A number of

other genes have been identified that can alleviate the herbicide action through various ways (such as detoxification, sequestration, etc.) and thus confer resistance to the plants carrying them. Thus genetic engineering technology has made it possible to tailor crop varieties to resist specific herbicides by introducing relevant genes (Padgette *et al.* 1995). Consequently, the range of selective herbicides has now greatly expanded, wherein specific genotypes and varieties can confer resistance rather than generic crops displaying resistance to specific herbicides.

Over the last two decades, extensive efforts were put into generating glyphosate-resistant crops, culminating in the use of the *CP4* gene from *Agrobacterium* spp., which encodes a glyphosate-resistant form of 5-enolpyruvyl-shikimate-3-phosphate synthase (*EPSPS*) (Padgette *et al.* 1996). All commercial glyphosate-resistant crops except some maize varieties contain this gene. Glyphosate-resistant canola also contains a gene that encodes a glyphosate oxidoreductase (*GOX*) from the microbe *Achrobactrum anthropi* (strain LBAA). This enzyme degrades glyphosate to glyoxylate, a ubiquitous and safe natural product, and aminomethylphosphonate (*AMPA*), a non-toxic compound. However, accumulation of *AMPA* in glyphosate-resistant soybeans has been correlated with mild phytotoxicity to the crop (Reddy *et al* 2004).

One of the first selectable transformation marker genes was the *bar* gene from *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, the same organism that produces phosphinothricin, the natural form of glufosinate. This gene makes plants resistant to glufosinate by inactivating this herbicide through acylation (Thompson *et al.* 1987; Lydon and Duke 1999). To date, only five transgenes have been used in commercial crops to confer resistance to herbicides: *CP4*, *GOX* and the mutated maize *EPSPS* for glyphosate resistance, the gene encoding a nitrilase for bromoxynil resistance, and the *bar* gene for glufosinate resistance (Duke 2005).

### FIELD TRIALS: SUCCESSES AND FAILURES

Data from the biotech industry suggest that since wide-scale planting started in 1996, the area of transgenic crops grown globally has increased from 2 to 134 Mha in 2009 (James 2009), of which 131 Mha are grown in eight countries: USA, Brazil, Argentina, India, Canada, China, Paraguay and South Africa. The release of the first transgenic events with insect resistance (Bt) (Bates et al. 2005) was not engineered to increase yield directly, but experience has shown that, by reducing losses from pests these varieties have in many cases delivered increased yields when compared with conventional crops. For Bt cotton, Fernandez-Cornejo and Caswell (2006) reported that the increases in cotton yields in the Southeast United States were associated with the adoption of HT and Bt cotton in 1997. The same authors quote a 2001 US government survey data showing that maize yield was 9% higher for *Bt* maize than for conventional maize. Gianessi (2008) reported the outcome of a study in Mississippi over 3 years, in which Bt cotton produced higher lint yields and had an economic advantage when compared with conventional cotton varieties. In China, Bt cotton was first approved in 1997 and by 2004 accounted for 69% of cotton grown in China, with 100% adoption in Shandong province, where pest pressure was greatest (James 2008). Approval came later in India, in 2002, but as early as 2006, India's Bt cotton area exceeded that of China, and in 2008 accounted for 80% of India's cotton output (James 2009). Karihaloo and Kumar (2009) noted that between 2003-04 and 2006-07 cotton yields in India indicate a significant yield advantage of more than 30% with Bt cotton compared with conventional varieties with corresponding increase in farm income. Transgenic cotton that produced one or more Bt insecticidal proteins was planted on over 15 million ha in 11 countries in 2009 and has contributed to a reduction of over 140 million kg of insecticide active ingredient between 1996 and 2008. As a highly selective form of host plant resistance, Bt cotton effectively controls a number of key lepidopteran pests and has become a cornerstone in overall integrated pest management (IPM).

A study by Fernadez-Cornejo and McBride (2002) suggests that for HT soya bean, a 10% increase in adoption in the USA would lead to a 0.3% yield increase. Better results were obtained for HT corn where a 10% increase in adoption generated a 1.7% increase in yield and a 1.8% increase in net returns (Park et al. 2010). The Canola Council of Canada reported yield increases of up to 10% for transgenic compared with conventional varieties of canola. Direct comparison between mean yields of adopters versus nonadopters needs treating with caution as the adopters could be the more productive farmers anyway. HT Canola was grown commercially in Canada for the first time in 1997. Within 6 years of the transgenic varieties being available, over 90% of the area was HT Canola and the overall area of the crop grown had increased from 12 to 16 Mha. One of the main reasons for adoption was that HT canola is used as a 'cleaning crop'. In this way, the need for fallow is removed and farmers can have one more crop in the rotation.

#### CONCLUSION

The tremendous potential of biotechnology as an applied science that uses biological knowledge to meet practical needs and the great advantages that will come to humankind from its applications, makes it likely that GT technology will continue to flourish. It could be considered as the 'silver bullet' that will solve the problems of 21<sup>st</sup> century arising from abiotic and biotic stress including human malnutrition. To realize the full potential of this technology, concerted efforts in research and development are further needed to enhance the efficiency of various procedures/ techniques used in different crops against multiple stresses, as witnessed with the success stories Bt cotton, brinjal, maize, canola, soybean, tobacco, etc. that have been transformed with one or more economic traits so far. Recent advances in the field of molecular biology and transgenic technologies have enabled the plant tailors to know the pitfalls regarding the expression of transgenes, emerging trends involving fusion proteins, deployment of antimicrobial peptides, stacked genes and various genes regulating metabolic pathways require special attention. Further, largescale field trials are needed to test whether expression of the introduced genes will affect yields, quality, or agronomic traits. Although the introduced genes are well-defined, the field trials also provide the opportunity to ascertain whether any unexpected or undesirable consequences have resulted from the transformation procedure. Genetically engineered crops are just beginning to make their way into the hands of breeders. Their potential for changing the characteristics of plants have already been demonstrated to a great extent. It remains for the market place to put a value on those traits and, ultimately, on the technology that makes these changes possible.

#### REFERENCES

Abebe T, Guenzi AC, Martin B, Cushman JC (2003) Tolerance of mannitolaccumulating transgenic wheat to water stress and salinity. *Plant Physiology*  131, 1748-1755

- Acharjeea S, Sarmaha BK, Kumar PA, Olsenc K, Mahonc R, Moard WJ, Moore A, Higginse TJV (2010) Transgenic chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum* L.) expressing a sequence-modified *cry2Aa* gene. *Plant Science* **178**, 333-339
- Aebig JA, Albert HH, Zhu BL, Hu JS, Hsu HT (2006) Cloning and construction of single-chain variable fragments (scFv) to *Cucumber mosaic virus* and production of transgenic plants. *Acta Horticulturae (ISHS)* 722, 129-136
  Agrios GN (2005) *Plant Pathology* (5<sup>th</sup> Edn), Elsevier Academic Press, City,
- Ali RM, Ken G, Skene M, Ellis JG (1988) Anti-sense RNAs of *Cucumber*
- *mosaic virus* in transgenic plants assessed for control of the virus. *Plant Molecular Biology* **11**, 463-471
- Altenbach SB, Pearson KW, Meeker G, Staraci LC, Sun SSM (1989) Enhancement of the methionine content of seed proteins by the expression of a chimeric gene encoding a methionine-rich protein in transgenic plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 13, 513-522
- Anand A, Zhou T, Trick HN, Gill BS, Bockus WW, Muthukrishnan S (2003) Greenhouse and field testing of transgenic wheat plants stably expressing genes for thaumatin-like protein, chitinase and glucanase against *Fusariun graminacearum. Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 101-111
- Anderson JM, Palukaitis P, Zaitlin M (1992) A defective replicase gene induces resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* in transgenic tobacco plants. *Proceedingss of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 89, 8759-8763
- Anuradha TS, Divya K, Jami SK, Kirti PB (2008) Transgenic tobacco and peanut plants expressing a mustard defensin show resistance to fungal pathogens. *Plant Cell Reports* 27, 1777-1786
- Apse MP, Aharon GS, Snedden WA, Blumwald E (1999) Salt tolerance conferred by overexpression of a vacuolar Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter in *Arabidopsis. Science* 285, 1256-1258
- Aragão FJL, Faria JC (2009) First transgenic geminivirus-resistant plant in the field. *Nature Biotechnology* 27, 1086-088
- Arce P, Moreno M, Gutierrez M, Gebauer M, Dell'Orto P, Torres H, Acuna I, Oliger P, Venegas A, Jordana X, Kalazich J, Holuigue L (1999) Enhanced resistance to bacterial infection by *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *atroseptica* in transgenic potato plants expressing the attacin or the cecropin SB-37 genes. *American Journal of Potato Research* 76, 169-177
- Arvinth S, Arun S, Selvakesavan RK, Srikanth J, Mukunthan N, Ananda Kumar P, Premachandran MN, Subramonian N (2010) Genetic transformation and pyramiding of aprotinin-expressing sugarcane with Cry 1Ab for shoot borer (Chilo infuscatellus) resistance. Plant Cell Reports 29, 383-395
- Ashraf M (2010) Inducing drought tolerance in plants: Recent advances. Biotechnology Advances 28, 169-183
- Ashraf M, Akram NA (2009) Improving salinity tolerance of plants through conventional breeding and genetic engineering: An analytical comparison. *Biotechnology Advances* 27, 744-752
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycinebetaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environment and Experimental Botany* 59, 206-216
- Atkinson HJ (1995) Plant nematode interactions: molecular and genetic basis. In: Kohmoto K, Singh US, Singh RP (Eds) Pathogenesis and Host Specificity in Plant Diseases (Vol II) Eukaryotes, Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp 355-370
- Atkinson HJ, Johnston K, Robbins M (2004) *Prima facie* evidence that a phytocystatin for transgenic plant resistance to nematodes is not a toxic risk in the human diet. *Journal of Nutrition* **134**, 431-434
- Audy P, Palukaitis P, Slack SA, Zaitlin M (1994) Replicase mediated resistance to *Potato virus Y* in transgenic tobacco plants. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 7, 15-22
- Babu RC, Zhang J, Blum A, Ho THD, Wu R, Nguyen HT (2004) HVA1, a LEA gene from barley confers dehydration tolerance in transgenic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) via cell membrane protection. *Plant Science* 166, 855-862
- Badawi GH, Kawano N, Yamauchi Y (2004) Over-expression of ascorbate peroxidase in tobacco chloroplasts enhances the tolerance to salt stress and water deficit. *Physiologia Plantarum* **121**, 231-838
- Bandyopadhyay S, Roy A, Das S (2001) Binding of garlic (*Allium sativum*) leaf lectin to the gut receptors of homopteran pests is correlated to its insecticidal activity. *Plant Science* 161, 1025-1033
- Bano-Maqbool S, Riazuddin S, Loc NT, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse JA, Christou P (2001) Expression of multiple insecticidal genes confers broad resistance against a range of different rice pests. *Molecular Breeding* 7, 85-93
- Baranska M, Baranski R, Schulz H, Nothnagel T (2006) Tissue-specific accumulation of carotenoids in carrot roots. *Planta* 224, 1028-1037
- Baranski R, Klocke E, Nothnagel T (2007) Enhancing resistance of transgenic carrot to fungal pathogens by the expression of *Pseudomonas fluorescence* microbial factor 3 (MF3) gene. *Physiology and Molecular Plant Pathology* 71, 88-95
- **Barrell PJ, Conner AJ** (2009) Expression of a chimeric magainin gene in potato confers improved resistance to the phytopathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. *The Open Plant Science Journal* **3**, 14-21
- Bartels D, Sunkar R (2005) Drought and salt tolerance in plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Science* 21, 1-36
- Bashir K, Fatima T, Latif Z, Mehdi SA, Riazudin S (2004) Field evaluation and risk assessment of transgenic indica basmati rice. *Molecular Breeding* 13, 301-312

- Bashir K, Husnain T, Fatima T, Riaz N, Makhdoom R, Riazuddin S (2005) Novel *indica* basmati line (B-370) expressing two unrelated genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis* is highly resistant to two *Lepidopteran* insects in the field. *Crop Protection* 24, 870-879
- Bates S, Zhao J-Z, Roush RT, Shelton AM (2005) Insect resistance management in GM crops: past, present and future. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 57-62
- Beachy RN, Loesch-Fries S, Tumer NE (1990) Coat protein-mediated resistance against virus infection. Annual Review of Phytopathology 28, 451-474
- Bendahmane M, Chen I, Asurmendi S, Bazzini AA, Szecsi J, Beachy RN (2007) Coat protein-mediated resistance to TMV infection of *Nicotiana tabacum* involves multiple modes of interference by coat protein. *Virology* **366**, 107-116
- Bendahmane M, Gronenborn B (1997) Engineering resistance against Tomato yellow leaf curl virus (TYLCV) using antisense RNA. *Plant Molecular Biology* 33, 351-357
- Bent AF (1996) Plant disease resistance genes: Function meets structure. *Plant Cell* 8, 1757-1771
- Bhatnagar-Mathur P, Devi MJ, Vadez V, Sharma KK (2009) Differential antioxidative responses in transgenic peanut bear no relationship to their superior transpiration efficiency under drought stress. *Journal of Plant Phy*siology 166, 1207-1217
- Bi YM, Cammue BPA, Goodwin PH, Krishna Raj S, Saxena PK (1999) Resistance of *Botrytis cinerea* in scented geranium transformed with a gene encoding the antimicrobial protein Ace-AmP1. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 835-840
- Biemelt S, Sonnewald U, Galmbacher P, Willmitzer L, Muller M (2003) Production of human papillomavirus type 16 virus-like particles in transgenic plants. *Journal Virology* 77, 9211-9220
- Bieri S, Potrykus I, Futterer J (2000) Expression of active barley seed ribosome inactivating protein in transgenic wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 100, 755-763
- Bliffeld M, Mundy J, Potrykus I, Futterer J (1999) Genetic engineering of wheat for increased resistance to powdery mildew disease. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 98, 1079-1086
- Blumwald E, Grover A (2006) Salt tolerance. In: Halford N (Ed) Plant Biotechnology, Current and Future Applications of Genetically Modified Crops, Agritech Publications, New York, pp 206-224
- Bolar JP, Norelli JL, Harman GE, Brown SK, Aldwinkle HS (2001) Synergistic activity of endochitinase and exochitinase from *Trichoderma atroviride* (*T. harzianum*) against the pathogenic fungus (*Venturia inaequalis*) in transgenic apple plants. *Transgenic Research* 10, 533-543
- Boonrod KJ, Galetzka D, Nagy PD, Conrad U, Krczal G (2004) Singlechain antibodies against a plant viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase confer virus resistance. *Nature Biotechnology* 22, 856-862
- Braun CJ, CL Hemenway (1992) Expression of amino-terminal portion or full-length viral replicase genes in transgenic plants confers resistance to *Potato virus X* infection. *Plant Cell* 4, 735-744
- Brederode FT, Taschner PE, Posthumus E, Bol JF (1995) Replicase-mediated resistance to alfalfa mosaic virus. Virology 207, 467-474
- Broekaert WF, Cammue BPA, De Bolle M, Thevissen K, De Samblanx G, Osborn RW (1997) Antimicrobial peptides from plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 16, 297-323
- Broglie K, Chet I, Holliday M, Cressman R, Biddle P, Knowlton S, Mauvais CJ, Broglie R (1991) Transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to the fungal pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Science 254, 1194-1197
- Canto T, Palukaitis P (1998) Transgenically expressed *Cucumber mosaic virus* RNA 1 simultaneously complements replication of *Cucumber mosaic virus* RNAs 2 and 3 and confers resistance to systemic infection. *Virology* **250**, 325-336
- Carlsson A, Nyström T, de Cock H, Bennich H (1998) Attacin-an insect immune protein-binds LPS and triggers the specific inhibition of bacterial outermembrane protein synthesis. *Microbiology* 144, 2179-2189
- Carmona MJ, Molina A, Martin-Fernández JA, López-Fando JJ, García-Olmedo F (1993) Expression of the alpha-thionin gene from barley in tobacco confers enhanced resistance to bacterial pathogens. *Plant Journal* 3, 457-462
- Carrière Y, Ellers-Kirk C, Sisterson M, Antilla L, Whitlow M, Dennehy TJ, Tabashnik BE (2003) Long-term regional suppression of pink bollworm by Bacillus thuringiensis cotton. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100, 1519-1523
- Cary JW, Rajasekaran K, Jaynes JM, Cleveland TE (2000) Transgenic expression of a gene encoding a synthetic antimicrobial peptide results in inhibition of fungal growth *in vitro* and in plants. *Plant Science* 154, 171-181
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck FW, Mazzucotelli E, Francia AMEM, Mare AT, Tondelli A, Stanca MA (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: An integrated view from breeding to genomics. *Field Crops Research* 105, 1-14
- Chakrabarti A, Ganapathi TR, Mukherjee PK, Bapat VA (2003) MSI-99, a magainin analogue, imparts enhanced disease resistance in transgenic tobacco and banana. *Planta* 216, 587-596
- Chakraborti D, Sarkar A, Mondal HA, Das S (2009) Tissue specific expression of potent insecticidal, *Allium sativum* leaf agglutinin (ASAL) in important pulse crop, chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) to resist the phloem feeding

Aphis craccivora. Transgenic Research 18, 529-544

- Chan Y-L, Yang A-H, Chen J-T, Yeh K-W, Chan M-T (2010) Heterologous expression of taro cystatin protects transgenic tomato against *Meloidogyne incognita* infection by means of interfering sex determination and suppressing gall formation. *Plant Cell Reports* **29**, 231-238
- Chen R, Li H, Zhang L, Zhang J, Xiao J, Ye Z (2007) CaMi, a root-knot nematode resistance gene from hot pepper (Capsium annuum L.) confers nematode resistance in tomato. Plant Cell Reports 26, 895-905
- Chen WP, Chen PD, Liu DJ, Kynast R, Friebe B, Velazhahan R, Muthukrishnan S, Gill BS (1999) Development of wheat scab symptoms is delayed in transgenic wheat plants that constitutively express a rice thaumatinlike protein gene. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 99, 755-760
- Chenault KD, Melouk HA, Payton ME (2005) Field reaction to Sclerotinia blight among transgenic peanut lines containing antifungal genes. Crop Science 45, 511-515
- Chern MS, Fitzgerald HA, Canlas PE, Navarre DA, Ronald PC (2005) Overexpression of a rice NPR1 homolog leads to constitutive activation of defense response and hypersensitivity to light. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18, 511-520
- Chinnusamy V, Xiong L, Zhu JK (2006) Use of genetic engineering and molecular biology approaches for crop improvement for stress environments. In: Ashraf M, Harris PJC (Eds) *Abiotic Stresses, Plant Resistance through Breeding and Molecular Approach*, IBDC, India, pp 47-89
- Chitwood DJ (2003) Research on plant-parasitic nematode biology conducted by the United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service. Pest Management Science 59, 748-753
- Cho EK, Hong CB (2006) Over-expression of tobacco NtHSP70-1 contributes to drought-stress tolerance in plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 349-358
- Choi MS, Kim YH, Park HM, Seo BY, Jung JK, Kim ST, Kim MC, Shin DB, Yun HT, Choi IS, Kim CK, Lee JY (2009) Expression of BrD1, a plant defensin from *Brassica rapa*, confers resistance against brown planthopper (*Nilaparvata lugens*) in transgenic rices. *Molecular Cells* 28, 131-137
- Christy LA, Arvinth S, Saravanakumar M, Kanchana M, Mukunthan N, Srikanth J, Thomas G, Subramonian N (2009) Engineering sugarcane cultivars with bovine pancreatic trypsin inhibitor (aprotinin) gene for protection against top borer (*Scirpophaga excerptalis* Walker). *Plant Cell Reports* 28, 175-184
- Coca M, Bortolotti C, Rufat M, Peñas G, Eritja R, Tharreau D, del Pozo AM, Messeguer J, San Segundo B (2004) Transgenic rice plants expressing the antifungal AFP protein from *Aspergillus giganteus* show enhanced resistance to the rice blast fungus *Magnaporthe grisea*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 54, 245-259
- Coca M, Penas G, Gomez J, Campo S, Bortolotti C, Messeguer J, Segundo BS (2006) Enhanced resistance to the rice blast fungus *Magnaporthe grisea* conferred by expression of cecropin A gene in transgenic rice. *Planta* 223, 392-406
- Corbin DR, Grebenok RJ, Ohnmeiss TE, Greenplate JT, Purcell JP (2001) Expression and chloroplast targeting of cholesterol oxidase in transgenic tobacco plants. *Plant Physiology* **126**, 1116-1128
- Corbin DR, Greenplate JT, Wong EY, Purcell JP (1994) Cloning of an insecticidal cholesterol oxidase gene and its expression in bacteria and plant protoplasts. *Applied Environmental Microbiology and Biotechnology* 44, 133-138
- Cox KD, Layne DR, Scorza R, Schnabel G (2006) Gastrodia anti-fungal protein from the orchid *Gastrodia elata* confers disease resistance to root pathogens in transgenic tobacco. *Planta* 224, 1373-1383
- Cui X, Harling R (2005) N-acyl-homoserine lactone-mediated quorum sensing blockage, a novel strategy for attenuating pathogenicity of Gram-negative bacterial plant pathogens. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 111, 327-339
- Cuozzo M, O'Conell KM, Kaniewski W, Fang R, Chua N, Tumer NE (1988) Viral protection in transgenic tobacco plants expressing the *Cucumber* mosaic virus coat protein or its antisense RNA. *Biotechnology* 6, 549-557
- Datta K, Tu J, Oliva N, Ona I, Velazhahan R, Mew TW, Muthukrishnan S, Datta SK (2001) Enhanced resistance to sheath blight by constitutive expression of infection-related rice chitinase in transgenic elite indica rice cultivars. *Plant Science* **160**, 405-414
- **Datta K, Vasquez A, Tu J, Torrizo L, Alam MF, Oliva N, Abrigo E, Khush GS, Datta SK** (1998) Constitutive and tissue-specific differential expression of the *cryIA(b)* gene in transgenic rice plants conferring resistance to rice insect pests. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **97**, 20-30
- Datta K, Velazhahan R, Oliva N, Ona I, Mew TW, Khush GS, Muthukrishnan S, Datta SK (1999) Overexpression of cloned rice thaumatin-like protein (PR-5) in transgenic rice plants enhances environmental-friendly resistance to *Rhizoctonia solani* causing sheath blight disease. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 98, 1138-1145
- Day AG, Bejarano ER, Buck KW, Burrell M, Lichtenstein CP (1991) Expression of an antisense viral gene in transgenic tobacco confers resistance to the DNA virus tomato golden mosaic virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 88, 6721-6725
- Ding Z, Li S, An X, Liu X, Qin H, Wang D (2009) Transgenic expression of MYB15 confers enhanced sensitivity to abscisic acid and improved drought tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Journal of Genetics and Genomics 36, 17-29

- **Dong Y-H, Wang L, Xu J-L, Zhang H-B, Zhang XF, Zhang LH** (2001) Quenching quorum-sensing-dependent bacterial infection by an *N*-acyl homoserine lactonase. *Nature* **411**, 813-817
- Dong YH, Xu JL, Li XZ, Zhang LH (2000) AiiA, an enzyme that inactivates the acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing signal and attenuates the virulence of Erwinia carotovora. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 3526-3531
- Donson J, Kearney CM, Turpen TH, Khan IA, Kurath G, Turpen AM, Jones GE, Dawson WO, Lewandowski DJ (1993) Broad resistance to tobamoviruses is mediated by a modified *Tobacco mosaic virus* replicase transgene. *Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions* 6, 635-642
- Duan X, Li X, Xue Q, M Abo el Saad, Xu D, Wu R (1996) Transgenic rice plants harbouring an introduced potato proteinase inhibitor II gene are insect resistant. *Nature Biotechnology* 14, 494-498
- Durell SR, Raghunathan G, Guy HR (1992) Modeling the ion channel structure of cecropin. *Biophysical Journal* 63, 1623-1631
- Düring K, Porsch P, Fladung M, Lörz H (1993) Transgenic potato plants resistant to the phytopathogenic bacterium *Erwinia carotovora*. *Plant Journal* 3, 587-598
- Durrant WE, Dong XN (2005) Systemic acquired resistance. Annual Review of Phytopathology 42, 185-209
- Elfstrand M, Sitbon F, Lapierre C, Bottin A, Von Arnold S (2002) Altered lignin structure and resistance to pathogen in spi-2 expressing tobacco plants. *Planta* 214, 708-716
- Eltayeb AE, Kawano N, Badawi GH, Kaminaka H, Sanekata T, Shibahara T, Inanaga S, Tanaka K (2007) Overexpression of monodehydroascorbate reductase in transgenic tobacco confers enhanced tolerance to ozone, salt and polyethyleneglycol stresses. *Planta* **225**, 1255-1264
- Fernadez-Cornejo J, McBride WD (2002) Adoption of bioengineered crops. USDA Agricultural Economic Report No. AER810, May 2002. 67 pp
- Fernandez-Cornejo J, Caswell M (2006) First decade of genetically engineered crops in the United States. USDA, ERS, Economic Information Bulletin No. 11, Washington.
- Ferreira SA, Pitz KY, Manshardt R, Zee F, Fitch M (2002) Virus coat protein transgenic papaya provides practical control of papaya ringspot virus in Hawaii. *Plant Disease* 86, 101-105
- Foissac X, Loc NT, Christou P, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse JA (2000) Resistance to green leafhopper (*Nephotettix virescens*) and brown planthopper (*Nilaparvata lugens*) in transgenic rice expressing snowdrop lectin (*Galanthus nivalis* agglutinin; GNA). Journal of Insect Physiology 46, 573-583
- Fuchs M, Providenti R, Slightom JL, Gonsalves D (1996) Evaluation of transgenic tomato plants expressing the coat protein gene of *Cucumber* mosaic virus strain WL under field conditions. *Plant Disease* 80, 270-275
- Fujimoto H, Itoh K, Yamamoto M, Kayozuka J, Shimamoto K (1993) Insect resistant rice generated by a modified delta endotoxin genes of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *BioTechnology* 11, 1151-1155
- Fujita Y, Fujita M, Satoh R, Maruyama K, Parvez MM, Seki M (2005) AREB1 is a transcription activator of novel ABRE dependent ABA signaling that enhances drought stress tolerance in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 17, 3470-3488
- Fukuda A, Chiba K, Maeda M, Nakamura A, Maeshima M, Tanaka Y (2004) Function, intracellular localization and the importance in salt tolerance of a vacuolar NaC/HC antiporter from rice. *Plant Cell and Physiology* 45, 146-159
- Gal-On A, Wolf D, Wang Y, Faure J, Pilowsky M, Zelcer A (1998) Transgenic resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* in tomato: Blocking of longdistance movement of the virus in lines harboring a defective viral replicase gene. *Phytopathology* 88, 1101-1107
- Galun E, Wolf S, Mailer-Slasky Y (1996) Defence against plant pathogenic bacteria in transgenic potato plants. In: *Third International Symposium on in Vitro Culture and Horticultural Breeding*, June 16-21 1996, Jerusalem, p 10 (Abstract)
- Gao AG, Hakimi SM, Mittanck CA, Wu Y, Woerner BM, Stark DM, Shah DM, Liang J, Rommens CM (2000) Fungal pathogen protection in potato by expression of a plant defensin peptide. *Nature Biotechnology* 18, 1307-1310
- Gao M, Tao R, Miura K, Dandekar AM, Sugiura A (2001) Transformation of Japanese persimmon (*Diospyroskaki* Thunb.) with apple cDNA encoding NADP-dependent sorbitol-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Plant Science* 160, 837-845
- Gao X, Ren Z, Zhao Y, Zhang H (2003) Overexpression of SOD2 increases salt tolerance of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 133, 1873-1881
- Garg AK, Kim JK, Owens TG, Ranwala AP, Do Choi Y, Kochian LV, Wu RJ (2002) Trehalose accumulation in rice plants confers high tolerance levels to different abiotic stresses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 99, 15898-15903
- Gargouri-Bouzid R, Jaoua L, Rouis S, SaidiMN, Bouaziz D, Ellouz R (2006) PVY-resistant transgenic potato plants expressing an anti-NIa protein scFv antibody. *Molecular Biotechnology* **33**, 133-140
- Gartland KMA, Crow RM, Fenning TM, Gartland JS (2003) Genetically modified trees: Production, properties, and potential. *Journal of Arboriculture* **29**, 259-266

Gartland KMA, Kellison RC, Fenning TM (2002) Forest biotechnology and

Europe's forests of the future. In: McCord S, Gartland. KMA (Eds) *Proceedings of the Forest Biotechnology in Europe: Impending Barriers, Policy, and Implications*, 12–13 September 2002, Edinburgh, UK, pp 56-84

- Gatehouse AMR, Davison GM, Stewart JN, Gatehouse LN, Kumar A, Geoghegan IE, Birch ANE, Gatehouse JA (1999) Concanavalin A inhibits development of tomato moth (*Lecanobia oleracea*) and peach potato aphid (*Myzus persicae*) when expressed in transgenic potato plants. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 153-165
- Gaxiola RA, Li J, Unurraga S, Dang LM, Allen GJ, Alper SL, Fink GR (2001) Drought- and salt-tolerant plants result from overexpression of the AVP1 H<sup>+</sup>-pump. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 98, 11444-11449
- Gianessi LP (2008) Economic impacts of glyphosate-resistant crops. Pest Management Science 64, 346-352
- Gielen J, Ultzen T, Bontems S, Loots W, van Schepen A (1996) Coat proteinmediated protection to *Cucumber mosaic virus* infections in cultivated tomato. *Euphytica* 88, 139-149
- Girijashankar V, Sharma HC, Sharma KK, Swathisree V, Prasad LS, Bhat BV, Royer M, Secundo BS, Narasu ML, Altosaar I and Seetharama N (2005) Development of transgenic sorghum for insect resistance against the spotted stem borer (*Chilo partellus*). *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 513-522
- Goggin FL, Jia L, Shah G, Hebert S, Williamson VM, Ullman DE (2006) Heterologous expression of the Mi -12 gene from tomato confers resistance against nematodes but not aphids in eggplants. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 19, 383-388
- Goldbach R, Bucher E, Prins M (2003) Resistance mechanisms to plant viruses: An overview. *Virus Research* 92, 207-212
- Golemboski DB, Lomonossoff GP, Zaitlin M (1990) Plants transformed with a Tobacco mosaic virus nonstructural gene sequence are resistant to the virus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 87, 6311-6315
- Gomez-Ariza J, Campo S, Rufat M, Estopa M, Messeguer J, San Segundo B, Coca M (2007) Sucrose-mediated priming of plant defense responses and broad-spectrum disease resistance by overexpression of the maize pathogenesis-related protein (PRms) in rice plants. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 20, 832-842
- Gonsalves D (1998) Control of papaya ringspot virus in papaya: A case study. Annual Review of Phytopathology 36, 415-437
- Gonsalves D (2003) Transgenic papaya: A case for worldwide control of Papaya ringspot virus. Crop Protection Council British Proceedings, pp 1029-1034
- Gonsalves D, Chee P, Provvidenti R, Seem R, Slightom JL (1992) Comparison of coat protein-mediated and genetically-derived resistance in cucumbers to infection by *Cucumber mosaic virus* under field conditions with natural challenge inoculations by vectors. *BioTechnology* **10**, 1562-1570
- Gonsalves, C, Xue B, Yepes M, Fuchs M, Ling K, Namba S (1994) Transferring *Cucumber mosaic virus*-white leaf strain coat protein gene into *Cucumis melo* L. and evaluating transgenic plants for protection against infections. *Journal of the American Society of Horticulture Sciences* **119**, 345-355
- Gosal SS, SH Wani, MS Kang (2009) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. Journal Crop Improvement 23, 19-54
- Greenway H, Munns R (1980) Mechanisms of salt tolerance in nonhalophytes. Annual Review of Plant Physiology **31**, 149-190
- Griffitts JS, Haslam SM, Yang T, Garczynski SF, Mulloy B, Morris H, Cremer PS, Dell A, Adang MJ, Aroian RV (2005) Glycolipids as receptors for *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal toxin. *Science* 307, 922-925
- Gubis J, Vaňková R, Červená V, Dragúňová M, Hudcovicová M, Lichtnerová H (2007) Transformed tobacco plants with increased tolerance to drought. South African Journal of Botany 73, 505-511
- Guenoune D, Amir R, Ben-Dor B, Wolf S, Galli S (2003) Coexpression of the soybean vegetative protein β-subunit (SVSPβ) either with the bacterial feedback-insensitive dihydrodipicolinate synthase or with S-VSPα stabilizes the SVSPβ transgene protein and enhances lysine production in transgenic tobacco plants. *Tansgenic Research* 12, 123-126
- Guo O, Zhang J, Gao Q, Xing S, Li F, Wang W (2008) Drought tolerance through over-expression of mono ubiquitin in transgenic tobacco. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 165, 1745-1755
- Gurr SJ, Rushton PJ (2005) Engineering plants with increased disease resistance: What are we going to express? *Trends in Biotechnology* 23, 275-282
- Gusta M, Smyth SJ, Belcher K, Phillips PWB, Castle D (2010) Economic benefits of genetically modified herbicide tolerant canola for producers. *The Journal of Agrobiotechnology Management and Economics* **10** (3), 124-136
- Haggag WM (2008) Biotechnological aspects of plant resistant for fungal diseases management. American-Eurasian Journal of Sustainable Agriculture 2, 1-18
- Han SE, Park SR, Kwon HB, Yi BY, Lee GB, Byun MO (2005) Genetic engineering of drought resistant tobacco plants by introducing the trehalose phosphorylase (TP) gene from *Pleurotus sajor-caju*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 82, 151-158
- Harrison BD, Mayo MA, Baulcombe DC (1987) Virus resistance in transgenic plants that express *Cucumber mosaic virus* satellite RNA. *Nature* 328, 799-802
- Hatziloukas E, Panopoulos NJ (1992) Origin, structure, and regulation of argK, encoding the phaseolotoxin-resistant ornithine carbamoyltransferase in

Pseudomonas syringae pv. phaseolicola, and functional expression of argK in transgenic tobacco. Journal of Bacteriology **174**, 5895-5909

- Hayashi H, Alia ML, Deshnium PG, Id M, Murata N (1997) Transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* with the *codA* gene for choline oxidase; accumulation of glycinebetaine and enhanced tolerance to salt and cold stress. *Plant Journal* **12**, 133-142
- Hellwald KH, Palukaitis P (1994) Nucleotide sequence and infectivity of Cucumber mosaic cucumovirus (strain K) RNA2 involved in breakage of replicase-mediated resistance in tobacco. Journal of General Virology 75, 2121-2125
- Hernández-Campuzano B, Suárez R, Lina L, Hernández V, Villegas E, Corzo G, Iturriaga G (2009) Expression of a spider venom peptide in transgenic tobacco confers insect resistance. *Toxicon* 53, 122-128
- High SM, Cohen MB, Shu QY, Altosaar I (2004) Achieving successful deployment of *Bt* rice. *Trends in Plant Science* 9, 286-292
- Hilder VA, Gatehouse AMR, Sheerman SE, Baker RF, Boulter D (1987) A novel mechanism of insect resistance engineered into tobacco. *Nature* **330**, 160-163
- Hipskind JD, Paiva NL (2000) Constitutive accumulation of a resveratrol-glucoside in transgenic alfalfa increases resistance to *Phoma medicaginis*. Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions 13, 551-562
- Holmstrom KO, Somersalo S, Mandal A, Palva TE, Welin B (2000) Improved tolerance to salinity and low temperature in transgenic tobacco producing glycinebetaine. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51, 177-185
- Honda A, Takahashi H, Toguri T, Ogawa T, Hase S, Ikegami M, Ehara Y (2003) Activation of defense-related gene expression and systemic acquired resistance in *Cucumber mosaic virus*-infected tobacco plants expressing the mammalian 2'5'oligoadenylate system. *Archives Virology* 148, 1017-1026
- Hong BS, Liang Z-S, Shao M-A (2005) LEA proteins in higher plants: Structure, function, gene expression and regulation. *Colloids Surface Biology: Biointerface* 45, 131-135
- Horsch RB, Fraley RT, Rogers SG, Sanders PR, Lloyd A, Hoffmann N (1984) Inheritance of functional foreign genes in plants. *Science* 223, 496-498
- Hoshida H, Tanaka Y, Hibino T, Hayashi Y, Tanaka A, Takabe T (2000) Enhanced tolerance to salt stress in transgenic rice that overexpresses chloroplast glutamine synthase. *Plant Molecular Biology* **43**, 103-111
- Hu X, Bidney DL, Yalpani N, Duvick JP, Crasta O, Folkerts O, Lu G (2003) Overexpression of a gene encoding hydrogen peroxide-generating oxalate oxidase evokes defense responses in sunflower. *Plant Physiology* 133, 170-181
- Huang G, Allen R, Davis EL, Baum TJ, Hussey RS (2006) Engineering broad root-knot resistance in transgenic plants by RNAi silencing of a conserved and essential root-knot nematode parasitism gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 103, 14302-14306
- Huang HE, Ger M J, Yip MK, Chen CY, Pandey AK, Feng TY (2004) A hypersensitive response was induced by virulent bacteria in transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing a plant ferredoxin like protein (PFLP). *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 64, 103-110
- Huang H-E, Liu C-A, Lee M-J, Kuo C-G, Chen H-M, Ger M-J, Tsai Y-C, Chen Y-R, Lin M-K, Feng T-Y (2007) Resistance enhancement of transgenic tomato to bacterial pathogens by the heterologous expression of sweet pepper ferredoxin-I protein. *Phytopathology* **97**, 900-906
- Huang J, Hu R, Rozelle S, Pray C (2005) Insect-resistant GM rice in farmers' fields: Assessing productivity and health effects in China. *Science* 308, 688-690
- Huang J, Rozelle S, Pray C, Wang Q (2002) Plant biotechnology in China. Science 295, 674-677
- Huang Y, Li H, Gupta R, Morris PC, Luan S, Kieber JJ (2000) ATMPK4, an Arabidopsis homolog of mitogen-activated protein kinase, is activated in vitro by AtMEK1 through threonine phosphorylation. Plant Physiology 122, 1301-1310
- Huang Y, Nordeen RO, Di M, Owens LD, McBeth JH (1997) Expression of an engineered cecropin gene cassette in transgenic tobacco plants confers disease resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tabaci. Phytopathology* 87, 494-499
- Hultmark D, Engström Å, Andersson K, Steiner H, Bennich H, Boman HG (1983) Insect immunity. Attacins, a family of antibacterial proteins from *Hyalophora cecropia*. *EMBO Journal* 2, 571-576
- Hyde J, Martin MA, Preckel PV, Edwards CR (1999) The economics of *Bt* corn: Valuing protection from the European corn borer. *Review of Agriculture Economics* 21, 442-454
- Itoh Y, Takashahi K, Takizawa H, Nikaidou N, Tanaka H, Nishihashi H, Watanabe T, Nishizawa Y (2003) Family 19 chitinase of *Streptomyces* griseus HUT6037 increases plant resistance to the fungal disease. *Bioscience*, *Biotechnology and Biochemistry* **67**, 847-855
- Jackson RE, Bradley JR, Van Duyn JW (2004) Performance of feral and Cry1Ac selected Helicoverpa zea (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) strains on transgenic cottons expressing one or two Bacillus thuringiensis spp. kurstaki proteins under greenhouse conditions. Journal Entomological Science 39, 46-55
- Jacquemond M, Amselem J, Tepfer M (1988) A gene coding for a monomeric form of *Cucumber mosaic virus* satellite RNA confers tolerance to CMV. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 1, 311-316

- Jacquemond M, Teycheney PY, Carrère I, Navas-Castillo J, Tepfer M (2001) Resistance phenotypes of transgenic tobacco plants expressing different *Cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) coat protein genes. *Molecular Breeding* 8, 85-94
- Jaglo-Ottosen, KR, Gilmour SJ, Zarka DG, Schabenberger O, Thomashow MF (1998) Arabidopsis CBF1 overexpression induces COR genes and enhances freezing tolerance. Science 280, 104-106
- James C (2008) Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2008. ISAAA Briefs N 39. ISAAA (International Service for the Acquisition of Agribiotech Applications), Ithaca, NY. Available online: http://www.isaaa.org/resources/publications/briefs/41/executivesummary/defa

ult.asp James C (2009) Global status of commercialised Biotech /GM crops. ISAAA

- Brief 41. Executive Summary. Available online: http://www.isaaa.org/resources/publications/briefs/41/executivesummary/defa
- ult.asp
- Jan P-S, Huang H-Y, Chen H-M (2010) Expression of a synthesized gene encoding cationic peptide cecropin b in transgenic tomato plants protects against bacterial diseases. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 76, 769-775
- Jang G, Sohn SI, Wang MH (2006) The *hrpN* gene of *Erwinia amylovora* stimulates tobacco growth and enhances resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*. *Planta* 223, 449-456
- Jang IC, Oh SJ, Seo JS, Choi WB, Song SI, Kim CH (2003) Expression of a bifunctional fusion of the *Escherichia coli* genes for trehalose-6-phosphate synthase and trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase in transgenic rice plants increases trehalose accumulation and abiotic stress tolerance without stunting growth. *Plant Physiology* 131, 516-524
- Jani D, Meena LS, Rizwan-ul-Haq QM, Singh Y, Sharma AK, Tyagi AK (2002) Expression of cholera toxin B subunit in transgenic tomato plants. *Transgenic Research* 11, 447-454
- Jauhar PP (2006) Modern biotechnology as an integral supplement to conventional plant breeding: The prospects and challenges. Crop Science 46, 1841-1859
- Jauhar PP, Khush GS (2002) Importance of biotechnology in global food security. In: Lal R, Hansen DO, Uphoff N, Slack S (Eds) Food Security and Environmental Quality in the Developing World. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 107-128
- Jayaraj J, Punja ZK (2007) Combines expression of chitinase and lipid transfer protein genes in transgenic carrot plants enhances resistance to foliar fungal pathogens. *Plant Cell Reports* 26, 1539-1546
- Jaynes JM, Xanthopoulos KG, Destéfano-Beltrán L, Dodds JH (1987) Increasing bacterial disease resistance in plants utilizing antibacterial genes from insects. *Bioassays* 6, 263-270
- Jeanneau M, Gerentes D, Foueillassar X, Zivy M, Vidal J, Toppan A (2002) Improvement of drought tolerance in maize: Towards the functional validation of the Zm-Asr1 gene and increase of water use efficiency by overexpressing C4-PEPC. Biochimie 84, 1127-1135
- Jennings DB, Daub ME, Pharr DM, Williamson JD (2002) Constitutive expression of a celery mannitol dehydrogenase in tobacco enhances resistance to the mannitol-secreting fungal pathogen *Alternaria alternate*. *Plant Journal* 32, 41-49
- Jeong JS, Kim YS, Baek KH, Jung H, Ha SH, Choi YD, Kim M, Reuzeau C, Kim J (2010) Root-specific expression of OsNAC10 improves drought tolerance and grain yield in rice under field drought conditions. *Plant Physiology* 153, 185-197
- Jha S, Chattoo BB (2010) Expression of a plant defensin in rice confers resistance to fungal phytopathogens. *Transgenic Research* 19, 373-384
- Jha S, Tank HG, Prasad BD, Chattoo BB (2009) Expression of Dm-AMP1 in rice confers resistance to Magnaporthe oryzae and Rhizoctonia solani. Transgenic Research 18, 59-69
- Jia W, Wang Y, Zhang S, Zhang J (2002) Salt-stress-induced ABA accumulation is more sensitively triggered in roots than in shoots. *Journal Experimental Botany* 53, 2201-2206
- Jia Z, Gou J, Sun Y, Yuan L, Tang Q, Yang X, Pei Y, Luo K (2010) Enhanced resistance to fungal pathogens in transgenic *Populus tomentosa* Carr. by overexpression of an nsLTP-like antimicrobial protein gene from motherwort (*Leonurus japonicus*) Tree Physiology 30, 1599-1605
- Johnson R, Narvaez J, An G, Ryan C (1989) Expression of proteinase inhibitors I and II in transgenic tobacco plants: Effects on natural defence against Manduca sexta larvae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 86, 9871-9875
- Jongsma MA, Bakker PL, Peters J, Bosch D, Stiekema WJ (1995) Adaptation of *Spodoptera exigua* larvae to plant proteinase inhibitors by induction of proteinase activity insensitive to inhibition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 92, 8041-8045
- Kachroo A, He Z, Patkar R, Zhu Q, Zhong J, Li D, Ronald P, Lamb C, Chattoo BB (2003) Induction of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in transgenic rice leads to cell death and enhanced resistance to both bacterial and fungal pathogens. *Transgenic Research* 12, 577-586
- Kalaiarasan P, Sivakumar M, Sudhakar D (2008) Engineering genetic resistance against root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* in tomato using a antifungal rice chitinase gene (*chi* 11). *Indian Journal of Nematology* 38, 1-3

- Kalamaki MS, Alexandrou D, Lazari D, Merkouropoulos G, Fotopoulos V, Pateraki I (2009) Over-expression of a tomato N-acetyl-L-glutamate synthase gene (SINAGSI) in Arabidopsis thaliana results in high ornithine levels and increased tolerance in salt and drought stresses. Journal of Experimental Botany 60, 1859-1871
- Kaniewski W, Ilardi V, Tomassoli L, Mitsky T, Layton J, Barba M (1999) Extreme resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) in transgenic tomato expressing one or two viral coat proteins. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 111-119
- Karakas B, Ozias-Akins P, Stushnoff C, Suefferheld M, Rieger M (1997) Salinity and drought tolerance of mannitol-accumulating transgenic tobacco. *Plant Cell and Environment* 20, 609-616
- Karihaloo JL, Kumar PA (2009) Bt Cotton in India A Status Report (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), Asia-Pacific Consortium on Agricultural Biotechnology (APCoBA), New Delhi, India, total pp
- Karim S, Aronsson H, Ericson H, Pirhonen M, Leyman B, Welin B (2007) Improved drought tolerance without undesired side effects in transgenic plants producing trehalose. *Plant Molecular Biology* 64, 371-386
- Kashyap PL, Sanghera GS, Kumar A (2010) Quarum quenching: A new hope for phytobacterial disease management. In: Malik CP (Ed) *Biotechnology Developments and Applications*, Pointer Publishers, Jaipur, pp 66-86
- Kasuga M, Liu Q, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress inducible transcription factor. *Nature Biotechnology* 17, 287-291
- Katiyar-Agarwal P, Agarwal P, Reddy MK, Sopory SK (2006) Role of DREB transcription factors in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Reports 25, 1263-1274
- Katsube T, Kurisaka N, Ogawa M, Maruyama N, Ohtsuka R, Utsumi S, Takaiwa F (1999) Accumulation of soybean glycinin and its assembly with the glutelins in rice. *Plant Physiology* **120**, 1063-1073
- Kern MF, Maraschin SDF, Endt DV, Schrank A, Vainstein MA, Pasquali G (2010) Expression of a chitinase gene from *Metarhizium anisopliae* in tobacco plants confers resistance against *Rhizoctonia solani*. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 160, 1933-1946
- Kesarwani M, Azam M, Natarajan K, Mehta A, Datta A (2000) Oxalate decarboxylase from *Callybia velutipes*. Molecualr cloning and its overexpression to confer resistance to fungal infection in transgenic tobacco and tomato. *Journal of Biological Chemsitry* 275, 7230-7238
- Khanna HK, Raina SK (2002) Elite *indica* transgenic rice plants expressing modified Cry 1Ac endotoxin of *Bacillus thuringiensis* show enhanced resistance to yellow stem borer (*Scirpophaga incertulas*). *Transgenic Research* 11, 411-423
- Kikkert JR, Ali GS, Wallace PG, Reischh B, Reustle GM (2000) Expression of a fungal chitinase in *Vitis vinifera* L. Merlot and Chardonnay plants produced by biolistic transformation. *Acta Horticulture (Wageningen)* 528, 297-303
- Kim JK, Duan X, Wu R, Seok SJ, Boston RS, Jang IC, Eun MY, Nahm BH (1999) Molecular and genetic analysis of transgenic rice plants expressing the maize ribosome inactivating protein b-32 gene and the herbicide resistance bar gene. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 85-94
- Kim SJ, Lee SJ, Kim BD, Paek KH (1997) Satellite-RNA mediated resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* in transgenic plants of hot pepper (*Capsicum annuum* cv. Golden Tower). *Plant Cell Reports* 16, 825-830
- Kishor PBK, Hong Z, Miao GH, Hu CAA, Verma DPS (1995) Overexpression of [delta]-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase increases proline production and confers osmotolerance in transgenic plants. *Plant Physiology* 108, 1387-1394
- Ko K (1999) Attacin and T4 lysozyme transgenic 'Galaxy' apple: Regulation of transgene expression and plant resistance to fire blight (*Erwinia amylovora*). PhD dissertation, Cornell University, NY, 126 pp
- Ko K, Norelli JL, Reynoird JP, Boresjza-Wysocka E, Brown SK, Aldwinckle HS (2000) Effect of untranslated leader sequence of AMV RNA 4 and signal peptide of pathogenesis-related protein 1b on attacin gene expression, and resistance to fire blight in transgenic apple. *Biotechnology Letters* 22, 373-381
- Koziel MG, Beland GL, Bowman C, Carozzi NB, Crenshaw R, Crossland L, Dawson J, Desai N, Hill M, Kadwell S, Launis K, Lewis K, Maddox D, McPherson K, Meghji MR, Merlin E, Rhodes R, Warren GW, Wright M, Evola SV (1993) Field performance of elite transgenic maize plants expressing an insecticidal protein derived from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. *BioTechnology* 11, 194-200
- Krishnamurthy K, Balconi C, Sherwood JE, Giroux MJ (2001) Wheat puroindolines enhance fungal disease resistance in transgenic rice. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 1255-1260
- Krishnan R, McDonald KA, Dandekar AM, Jackman AP, Falk B (2002) Expression of recombinant trichosanthin, a ribosome-inactivating protein, in transgenic tobacco. *Journal of Biotechnology* **97**, 69-88
- Kumar N, Bhatt RP (2006) Transgenics: An emerging approach for cold tolerance to enhance vegetables production in high altitude areas. *Indian Journal of Crop Science* 1, 8-12
- Kung YJ, Yu TA, Huang CH, Wang HC, Wang SL, Yeh SD (2009) Generation of hermaphrodite transgenic papaya lines with virus resistance via transformation of somatic embryos derived from adventitious roots of *in vitro* shoots. *Transgenic Research* 56, 613-624

- Kwon C, Chung WI, Paek KH (1997) Ribozyme mediated targeting of *Cucumber mosaic virus* RNA 1 and 2 in transgenic tobacco plants. *Molecular Cells* 7, 326-334
- Lal S, Gulyani V, Khurana P (2008) Overexpression of HVA1 gene from barley generates tolerance to salinity and water stress in transgenic mulberry (*Morus indica*). *Transgenic Research* **17**, 651-663
- Lapidot M, Friedmann M (2002) Breeding for resistance to whitefly-transmitted geminiviruses. Annals of Applied Biology 140, 109-127
- Lauer J, Wedberg J (1999) Grain yields of initial Bt corn hybrid introductions to farms in the northern Corn Belt. Journal of Production Agriculture 12, 373-376
- Lee OS, Lee B, Park N, Koo JC, Kim YH, Prasad DT, Karigar C, Chun HJ, Jeong BR, Kim DH, Nam J, Yun JG, Kwak SS, Cho MJ, Yun DJ (2003) Pn-AMPs, the hevein-like proteins from *Pharbitis nil* confers disease resistance against phytopathogenic fungi in tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum*. *Phytochemistry* 62, 1073-1079
- Lee YH, Jung M, Shin SH, Lee JH, Choi SH, Her NH, Lee JH, Ryu KH, Paek KY, Harn CH (2009) Transgenic peppers that are highly tolerant to a new CMV pathotype. *Plant Cell Reports* 28, 223-232
- Lee SC, Hwang BK (2006) CASAR82A, a pathogen induced pepper SAR8.2 exhibits antifungal activity and its overexpression enhances disease resistance and stress tolerance. Plant Molecular Biology 61, 95-109
- Lee SI, Lee SH, Koo JC, Chun HJ, Lim CO, Mun JH, Song YH, Cho MJ (1999) Soybean kunitz trypsin inhibitor (SKTI) confers resistance to the brown planthopper (*Nilaparvata lugens* Stal) in transgenic rice. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 1-9
- Lee TJ, Coyne DP, Clemente TE, Mitra A (2002) Partial resistance to bacterial wilt in transgenic tomato plants expressing antibacterial lactoferrin gene. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **127**, 158-164
- Lemaux PG (2008) Genetically engineered plants and foods: A scientist's analysis of the issues. Annual Review Plant Biolology 59, 771-812
- Li D-H, Liu H, Yang Y-L, Zhen P-P, Liang J-S (2009) Down-regulated expression of *RACK1* gene by RNA interference enhances drought tolerance in rice. *Rice Science* 16, 14-20
- Li Q, Lwarence CB, Xing HY, Babbit RA, Bass WT, Maiti IB, Everett NP (2001) Enhanced disease resistance conferred by expression of an antimicrobial magainin analog I transgenic tobacco. *Planta* **212**, 635-639
- Li R, Wu N, Fan Y, Song B (1999) Transgenic potato plants expressing osmotin gene inhibits fungal development in inoculated leaves. *China Journal of Biotechnology* 15, 71-75
- Li X-Q, Wei J-Z, Tan A, Aroian RV (2007) Resistance to root-knot nematode in tomato roots expressing a nematicidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal protein. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 5, 455-464
- Liang H, Maynard CA, Allen RD, Powell WA (2001) Increased Septoria musiva resistance in transgenic hybrid poplar leaves expressing a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. *Plant Molecular Biology* **45**, 619-629
- Lin WC, Lu CF, Wu JW, Cheng ML, Lin YM, Yang NS, Black L, Green SK, Wang JF, Cheng CP (2004) Transgenic tomato plants expressing the *Arabidopsis APR1* gene display enhanced resistance to a spectrum of fungal and bacterial diseases. *Transgenic Research* 13, 567-581
- Liu B, Hibbard JK, Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ (2005) The production of synthetic chemodisruptive peptides in planta disrupts the establishment of cyst nematodes. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 3, 487-496
- Liu M, Sun ZX, Zhu J, Xu T, Harman GE, Lorito M (2004) Enhancing rice resistance to fungal pathogens by transformation with cell wall degrading enzyme genes from *Trichoderma atroviridae*. Journal of Zhejiang University Science 5, 133-136
- Liu QQ (2002) Genetically engineering rice for increased lysine. PhD dissertation, Yangzhou University and the Chinese University of Hong Kong, 68 pp
- Liu X, Hua X, Guo J, Qi D, Wang L, Liu Z (2008) Enhanced tolerance to drought stress in transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing. *Biotechnology Letters* 30, 1275-1280
- Liu X, Wanga Z, Wanga L, Wua R, Phillips J, Deng X (2009) LEA 4 group genes from the resurrection plant *Boea hygrometrica* confer dehydration tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Plant Science* 176, 90-98
- Liu, Q, Kasuga M, Sakuma Y, Abe H, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1998) Two transcription factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought and low temperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 10, 1391-1406
- Livingstone DM, Hampton JL, Phipps PM, Grabau EA (2005) Enhancing resistance to *Sclerotinia minor* in peanut by expressing a barley *oxalate oxidase* gene. *Plant Physiology* 137, 1354-1362
- Lodge JK, Kaniewski WK, Tumer NE (1993) Broad-spectrum virus resistance in transgenic plants expressing pokeweed antiviral protein. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 7089-7093
- Lomonossoff GP (1995) Pathogen-derived resistance to plant viruses. Annual Review of Phytopathology 33, 323-343
- Lorito M, Woo SL, Garcia I, Colucci G, Harman GE, Pintor-Toro JA, Filippone E, Muccifora S, Lawrence CB, Zoina A, Tuzun S, Scala F, Fernández IG (1998) Genes from mycoparasitic fungi as a source for improving plant resistnce to fungal pathogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 7860-7865

- Lu SY, Jing YX, Shen SH, Zhao HY, Ma LO, Zhou XJ, Li QR (2005) Antiporter gene from *Hordeum brevisubulatum* (Trin.) Link and its overexpression in transgenic tobaccos. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* **47**, 343-349
- Lu Y, Liu P, Xu Z-H, Zhang R-Y, Liu L, Li L-C, Chen M, Ye X-G, Chen Y-F, Ma Y-Z (2008) Overexpression of W6 gene increases salt tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants. *Acta Agronomica Sinica* **34**, 984-990
- Tian L, Huang C, Yu R, Liang R Li Z, Zhang L, Wang Y, Zhang X, Wu Z (2006) Overexpression *AtNHX1* confers salt-tolerance of transgenic tall fescue. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 5, 1041-1044
- Luo Y, Liu YB, Dong YX, Gao XQ, Zhang YS (2009) Expression of a putative alfalfa helicase increases tolerance to abiotic stress in *Arabidopsis* by enhancing the capacities for ROS scavenging and osmotic adjustment. *Journal* of Plant Physiology 166, 385-394
- MacFarlane SA, Davies JW (1992) Plants transformed with a region of the 201-kilodalton replicase gene from *Pea early browning virus* RNA1 are resistant to virus infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 89, 5829-5833
- Mae A, Montesano M, Koiv V, Palva ET (2001) Transgenic plants producing the bacterial pheromone *N*-acyl-homoserine lactone exhibit enhanced resistance to the bacterial phytopathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 1035-1042
- Makandar R, Essig JS, Schapaugh MA, Trick HN, Shah J (2006) Genetically engineered resistance to Fusarium head blight in wheat by expression of *Arabidopsis* NPR1. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 19, 123-129
- Manczinger L, Antal Z, Kredics L (2002) Ecophysiology and breeding of mycoparasitic Trichoderma strains. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica 49, 1-14
- Mangrauthia SK, Singh P, Praveen S (2010) Genomics of helper component proteinase reveals effective strategy for *Papaya ringspot virus* resistance. *Molecular Biotechnology* 44, 22-29
- Mann SK, Kashyap PL, Sanghera GS, Singh G, Singh S (2008) RNA Interference: An eco-friendly tool for plant disease management. *Transgenic Plant Journal* 2, 110-126
- Mansour MMF (2000) Nitrogen containing compounds and adaptation of plants to salinity stress. *Biologia Plantarum* 43, 491-500
- Marchive C, Mzid R, Deluc L, Barrieu F, Pirrello J, Gauthier A, Corio-Costet MF, Regad F, Cailleteau B, Hamdi S, Lauvergeat V (2007) Isolation and characterization of a *Vitis vinifera* transcription factor, VvWRKY1, and its effect on responses to fungal pathogens in transgenic tobacco plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 1999-2010
- Marra BM, Souza DS, Aguiar JN, Firmino AA, Sarto RP, Silva FB, Almeida CD, Cares JE, Continho MV, Martins-de-Sá C, Franco OL, Grossi-de-Sá MF (2009) Protective effects of a cysteine proteinase propeptide expressed in transgenic soybean roots. *Peptides* 30, 825-831
- McKersie BD, Murnaghan J, Bowley SR (1997) Manipulating freezing tolerance in transgenic plants. Acta Physiologia Plantarum 19, 485-495
- Mehlo L, Gahakwa D, Nghia PT, Loc NT, Capell T, Gatehouse JA, Gatehouse AM, Christou P (2005) An alternative strategy for sustainable pest resistance in genetically enhanced crops. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 7812-7816
- Mei C, Qi M, Sheng G, Yang Y (2006) Inducible overexpression of a rice allele oxide synthase gene increases the endogenous jasmonic acid level, PR gene expression, and host resistance to fungal infection. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 19, 1127-1137
- Melchers LS, Stuiver MH (2000) Novel genes for disease resistance breeding. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **3**, 147-152
- Mentag R, Lukevich M, Morency MJ, Seguin A (2003) Bacterial disease resistance of transgenic hybrid poplar expressing the synthetic antimicrobial peptide D4E1. *Tree Physiology* 23, 405-411
- Mes JJ, Van Doorn AA, Wijbrandi J, Simons G, Cornelissen BJ, Haring MA (2000) Expression of the *Fusarium* resistance gene 1-2 colocalizes with the site of fungal containment. *Plant Journal* 23, 183-193
- Milligan S, Bodeau J, Yaghoobi J, Kaloshian I, Zabel P, Williamson VM (1998) The root-knot nematode resistance gene *Mi* from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. *The Plant Cell* **10**, 1307-1319
- Miranda JA, Avonce N, Suárez R, Thevelein JM, Dijck PV, Iturriaga G (2007) A bifunctional TPSTPP enzyme from yeast confers tolerance to multiple and extreme abiotic-stress conditions in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Planta* **226**, 1411-1421
- Mitsuhara I, Matsufuru H, Ohshima M, Kaku H, Nakajima Y, Murai N, Natori S, Ohashi Y (2000) Induced expression of sarcotoxin 1A enhanced host resistance against both bacterial and fungal pathogens in transgenic tobacco. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 13, 860-868
- Mittler R, Shulaev V, Lam E (1995) Coordinated activation of programmed cell death and defense mechanisms in transgenic tobacco plants expressing a bacterial proton pump. *Plant Cell* **7**, 29-42
- Modelska A, Dietzschold B, Sleysh N, Fu ZF, Steplewski K, Hooper DC, Koprowski H, Yusibov V (1998) Immunization against rabies with plantderived antigen. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 95, 2481-2485

Mohanty A, Kathuria H, Ferjani A, Sakamoto A. Mohanty P, Murata N,

**Tyagi A** (2002) Transgenics of an elite indica rice variety Pusa Basmati 1 harbouring the *codA* gene are highly tolerant to salt stress. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **106**, 51-57

- Molina A, Ahl Goy P, Fraile A, Sanchez-Monge R, García-Olmedo F (1993) Inhibition of bacterial and fungal pathogens by thionins of types I and II. *Plant Science* **92**, 169-177
- Moreno AB, Penas G, Rufat M, Bravo JM, Estopa M, Messeguer J, San Segundo B (2005) Pathogen-induced production of the antifungal AFP protein from Aspergillus giganteus confers resistance to the blast fungus Magnaporthe grisea in transgenic rice. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 18, 960-972
- Mundembe R, Matibiri A, Sithole-Niang I (2009) Transgenic plants expressing the coat protein gene of cowpea aphid-borne mosaic potyvirus predominantly convey the delayed symptom development phenotype. *African Journal* of *Biotechnology* 8, 2682-2690
- Nakajima H, Muranaka T, Ishige F, Akutsu K, Oeda K (1997) Fungal and bacterial disease resistance in transgenic plants expressing human lysozyme. *Plant Cell Reports* 16, 674-679
- Nakajima M, Hayakawa T, Nakamura I, Suzuki M (1993) Protection against Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) strains O and Y and Chrysanthemum mild mottle virus in transgenic tobacco plants expressing CMV-O coat protein. Journal of General Virology 74, 319-322
- Nakayama H, Yoshida K, Ono H, Murooka Y, Shinmyo A (2000) Ectoine, the compatible solute of *Halomonas elongata*, confers hyperosmotic tolerance in cultured tobacco cells. *Plant Physiology* **122**, 1239-1247
- Namba S, Ling K, Gonsalves C, Gonsalves D, Slightom JL (1991) Expression of the gene encoding the coat protein of *Cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) strain WL appears to provide protection to tobacco plants against infection by several different CMV strains. *Gene* 107, 181-188
- Nanjo T, Kobayashi M, Yoshiba Y, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1999) Antisense suppression of proline degradation improves tolerance to freezing and salinity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. FEBS Letters 461, 205-210
- Nejidat A, Beachy RN (1990) Transgenic tobacco plants expressing a coat protein gene of tobacco mosaic virus are resistant to some other tobamoviruses. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 3, 247-251
- Norelli JL, Aldwinckle HS, Destéfano-Beltrán L, Jaynes JM (1994) Transgenic 'Malling 26' apple expressing the attacin E gene has increased resistance to *Erwinia amylovora*. *Euphytica* 77, 123-128
- Norelli JL, Borejsza-Wysocka E, Momol MT, Mills JZ, Grethel A, Aldwinckle HS, Ko K, Brown SK, Bauer DW, Beer SV, Abdul-Kader AM, Hanke V (1999) Genetic transformation for fire blight resistance in apple. *Acta Horticulturae* **489**, 295-329
- Norelli JL, Mills JZ, Momol MT, Aldwinkle HS (1998) Effect of cercropintype transgenes on fire blight resistanc of apple. Acta Horticulturae 489, 273-278
- Noris E, Accotto GP, Tavazza R, Brunetti A, Crespi S, Tavazza M (1996) Resistance to *Tomato yellow leaf curl geminivirus* in *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants transformed with a truncated viral C1 gene. *Virology* **224**, 130-138
- Oerke E-C, Dehne HW, Schonbeck F, Weber A (1994) Crop Production and Crop Protection: Estimated Losses in Major Food and Cash Crops, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 808 pp
- Ogawa T, Hori T, Ishida I (1996) Virus-induced cell death in plants expressing the mammalian 2',5'oligoadenylate system. *Nature Biotechnology* 14, 1566-1569
- Oh SJ, Kim YS, Kwon C, Park HK, Jeong JS, Kim JK (2009) Overexpression of the transcription factor AP37 in rice improves grain yield under drought conditions. *Plant Physiology* 150, 191-200
- **Oh SJ, Song SI, Kim YS, Jang HJ, Kim SY, Kim M** (2005) *Arabidopsis* CBF3/DREB1A and ABF3 in transgenic rice increased tolerance to abiotic stress without stunting growth. *Plant Physiology* **138**, 341-351
- Ohta M, Hayashi Y, Nakashima A, Hamada A, Tanaka A, Nakamura T, Hayakawa T (2002) Introduction of a Na+/H+ antiporter gene from *Atriplex gmelini* confers salt tolerance in rice. *FEBS Letters* 532, 279-282
- Okuno T, Nakayama M, Furusawa I (1993a) Cucumber mosaic virus coat protein-mediated protection. Virology 4, 357-361
- Okuno T, Nakayama M, Yoshida S, Furusawa I, Komiya T (1993b) Comparative susceptibility of transgenic tobacco plants and protoplasts expressing the coat protein gene of *Cucumber mosaic virus* to infection with virions and RNA. *Phytopathology* 83, 542-547
- Oldach KH, Becker D, Lorz H (2001) Heterologous expression of genes mediating enhanced fungal resistance in transgenic wheat. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 832-838
- Ono H, Sawads K, Khunajakr N, Tao T, Yamamoto M, Hiramoto M, Shinmyo A, Takano M, Murooka Y (1999) Characterization of biosynthetic enzymes for ectoine as a compatible solute in a moderately halophilic eubacterium, *Halomonas elongata*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **181**, 91-99
- **Ostlie KR, Hutchinson WD, Hellmich RL** (1997) *Bt* corn and European corn borer: Long term success through resistance management. Bulletin 7055-GO: 17. University of Minnesota Extension Service, 20 pp
- Osusky M, Zhou G, Osuska L, Hancock RE, Kay WW, Misra S (2000) Transgenic plants expressing cationic peptide chimeras exhibit broad-spectrum resistance to phytopathogens. *Nature Biotechnology* **18**, 1162-1166

- Padgette SR, Kolacz KH, Delannay X, Re DB, La Vallee BJ, Peschke VM, Nida DL, Taylor NB, Kishore GM (1995) Development, identification and characterization of a glyphosate tolerant soybean line. *Crop Science* 35, 1451-1461
- Padgette SR, Re DB, Barry GF, Eichholtz DE, Delannay X, Fuchs RL, Kishore GM, Fraley RT (1996) New weed control opportunities: development of soybeans with a Roundup Ready<sup>™</sup> gene. In: Duke SO (Ed) *Herbicide-resistant Crops: Agricultural, Environmental, Economic, Regulator, and Technical Aspects*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 53-84

Palevitz BA (2001) EPA reauthorizes Bt corn. Scientist 15, 11

- Pandey AK, Ger MJ, Huang HE, Yip MK, Zeng J, Feng TY (2005) Expression of the hypersensitive response-assisting protein in Arabidopsis results in harpin-dependent hypersensitive cell death in response to *Erwinia carotovora*. *Plant Molecular Biology* **59**, 771-780
- Parashina EV, Serdobinskii LA, Kalle EG, Lavorova NV, Avetisov VA, Lunin VG, Naroditskii BS (2000) Genetic engineering of oilseed rape and tomato plants expressing a radish defensin gene. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 47, 417-423
- Park BJ, Liu Z, Kanno A, Kameya T (2005a) Increased tolerance to salt and water deficit stress in transgenic lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) by constitutive expression of LEA. *Plant Growth Regulation* 45, 165-171
- Park BJ, Liu Z, Kanno A, Kameya T (2005b) Genetic improvement of Chinese cabbage for salt and drought tolerance by constitutive expression of a *B. napus* LEA gene. *Plant Science* 169, 553-558
- Park HC, Kang YH, Chun HJ, Koo JC, Cheong YH, Kim CY, Kim MC, Chung WS, Kim JC, Yoo JH, Koo YD, Koo SC, Lim CO, Lee SY, Cho MJ (2002) Characterization of a stamen-specific cDNA encoding a novel plant defensin in Chinese cabbage. *Plant Molecular Biology* 50, 57-68
- Park JR, McFarlane I, Phipps RH, Ceddia G (2010) The role of transgenic crops in sustainable development. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* in press
- Parkhi V, Kumar V, Campbell LM, Bell AA, Shah J, Rathore KS (2010) Resistance against various fungal pathogens and reniform nematode in transgenic cotton plants expressing *Arabidopsis* NPR1. *Transgenic Research* 11, 347-359
- Pasapula V, Shen G, Kuppu S, Paez-Valencia J, Mendoza M, Hou P, Jian Chen J, Qiu X, Zhu L, Zhang X, Auld D, Blumwald E, Zhang H, Gaxiola R, Payton P (2011) Expression of an *Arabidopsis* vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-pyrophosphatase gene (*AVP1*) in cotton improves drought- and salt tolerance and increases fibre yield in the field conditions. *Plant Biotechnology Jopurnal* 9, 88-99
- Pastori GM, Foyer CH (2002) Common components, networks and pathways of cross tolerance to stress. The central role of "redox" and abscisic acidmediated controls. *Plant Physiology* 129, 460-468
- Patra B, Ray S, Richter A, Majumder AL (2010) Enhanced salt tolerance of transgenic tobacco plants by co-expression of PcINO1 and McIMT1 is accompanied by increased level of *myo*-inositol and methylated inositol. *Protoplasma* 245, 143-152
- Pellegrineschi A, Reynolds M, Pacheco M, Brito RM, Almeraya R, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Hoisington D (2004) Stress-induced expression in wheat of the Arabidopsis thaliana DREB1A gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. Genome 47, 493-500
- Peña L, Trad J, Díaz-Ruiz JR, McGarvey PB, Kaper JM (1994) Cucumber mosaic virus protection in transgenic tobacco plants expressing monomeric, dimeric or partial sequences of a benign satellite RNA. Plant Science 100, 71-81
- Perl A, Perl-Treves R, Galili S, Aviv D, Shalgi E, Malkin S, Galun E (1993) Enhanced oxidative-stress defense in transgenic potato overexpressing tomato Cu, Zn superoxide dismutase. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 85, 568-576
- Perlak FJ, Deaton RW, Armstrong TA, Fuchs RL, Sims SR, Greenplate JT, Fischhoff DA (1990) Insect-resistant cotton plants. *BioTechnology* 8, 939-943
- Perlak FJ, Stone TB, Muskopf YN, Petersen LJ, Parker GB, McPherson SA, Wyman J, Love S, Reed G, Biever D, Fischhoff DA (1993) Genetically improved potatoes: Protection from damage by Colorado potato beetles. *Plant Molecular Biology* 22, 313-321
- Peschen D, Li HP, Fischer R, Kreuzaler F, Liao YC (2004) Fusion poteins comprising a *Fusarium*-specific antibody linked to antifungal peptides protect plants against a fungal pathogen. *Nature Biotechnology* 22, 732-738
- Phap PD, Xuan HTL, Sudhakar D, Balasubramanian P (2010) Engineering resistance in brinjal against nematode (*Meloidogyne incognita*) using cry1Ab gene from Bacillus thuringiensis Berliner. In: Proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> International Conference on the Development of BME, Vietnam, 11-14<sup>th</sup> Jan 2010, pp 277-280
- Phillips P (2003) The economic impact of herbicide tolerant canola in Canada. In: Kalaitzanondakes N (Ed) *The Economic and Environmental Impacts of Agbiotech: A Global Perspective, New York: Kluwer*, pp 119-140
- Pinto YM, Kok RA, Baulcombe DC (1999) Resistance to *Rice yellow mottle virus* (RYMV) in cultivated African rice varieties containing RYMV transgenes. *Nature Biotechnology* 17, 702-707
- Pommerrenig B, Papini-Terzi FS, Sauer N (2007) Differential regulation of sorbitol and sucrose loading into the phloem of *Plantago major* in response to salt stress. *Plant Physiology* 144, 1029-1038
- Pooggin M, Shivaprasad PV, Veluthambi K, Hohn T (2003) RNAi targeting of DNA virus in plants. *Nature Biotechnology* 21, 131-132

- Powell Abel P, Nelson RS, De B, Hoffmann N, Rogers SG, Fraley RT, Beachy RN (1986) Delay of disease development in transgenic plants that express the tobacco mosaic virus coat protein gene. *Science* 232, 738-743
- Powell AL, Van Kan J, Ten Have A, Visser J, Greeve LC, Benntt AB, Labavitch JM (2000) Transgenic expression of pear PGIP in tomato limits fungal colonization. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 13, 942-950
- Prashanth SR, Sadhasivam V, Parida A (2008) Over expression of cytosolic copper/zinc superoxide dismutase from a mangrove plant Avicennia marina in indica rice var Pusa Basmati-1 confers abiotic stress tolerance. Transgenic Research 17, 281-291
- PRB (2009) 2009 World population data sheet. Population Reference Bureau http://www.prb.org/Publications/Datasheets/2009/2009wpds.aspx
- Provvidenti R, Gonsalves D (1995) Inheritance of resistance to Cucumber mosaic virus in a transgenic tomato line expressing the coat protein gene of the white leaf strain. Journal of Heredity 86, 85-88
- Punja ZK (2007) Biotechnology and Plant Disease Management, Hardback Publishers, New York, 580 pp
- Qin F, Kakimoto M, Sakuma Y, Maruyama K, Osakabe Y, Tran LSP, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2007) Regulation and functional analysis of *ZmDREB2A* in response to drought and heat stress in *Zea mays* L. *Plant Journal* 50, 54-69
- Qu J, Ye J, Fang R (2007) Artificial microRNA-mediated virus resistance in plants. *Journal of Virology* 81, 6690-6699
- Qaim M (2005) Agricultural biotechnology adoption in developing countries. American Journal Agriculture Economics 87, 1317-1324
- Quan R, Shang M, Zhang H, Zhao Y, Zhang J (2004) Engineering of enhanced glycinebetaine synthesis improves drought tolerance in maize. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 2, 477-486
- Quemada HD, Gonsalves D, Slightom JL (1991) Expression of coat protein gene from *Cucumber mosaic virus* strain C in tobacco: Protection against infections by CMV strains transmitted mechanically or by aphids. *Phytopathol*ogy 81, 794-802
- Rajasekaran K, Cary JW, Jacks TJ, Stromberg KD, Cleveland TE (2000) Inhibition of fungal growth in plants and *in vitro* by transgenic tobacco expressing a bacterial nonheme chloroperoxidase gene. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 333-338
- Raman KV (1995) Management of insect pest resistance by using transgenic plants. *African Crop Science Journal* **3**, 361-366
- Ramesh S, Nagadhara D, Pasalu IC, Kumari AP, Sarma NP, Reddy VD, Rao KV (2004a) Development of stem borer resistant transgenic parental lines involved in the production of hybrid rice. *Journal of Biotechnology* 111, 131-141
- Ramesh S, Nagadhara D, Reddy VD, Rao KV (2004b) Production of transgenic *indica* rice resistant to yellow stem borer and sap-sucking insects, using super-binary vectors of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Science* 166, 1077-1085
- Rao KV, Rathore KS, Hodges TK, Fu X, Stoger E, Sudhakar D, Williams S, Christou P, Bharathi M, Bown DP, Powell KS, Spence J, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse JA (1998) Expression of snowdrop lectin (GNA) in transgenic rice plants confers resistance to rice brown planthopper. *Plant Journal* 15, 469-477
- Reddy KN, Duke SO, Rimando AM (2004) Aminomethylphosphonic acid, a metabolite of glyphosate, causes injury in glyphosate-treated, glyphosateresistant soybean. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* 52, 5139-5143
- Ribeiro SG, Lohuis H, Goldbach R, Prins M (2007) Tomato chlorotic mottle virus is a target of RNA silencing but the presence of specific siRNAs does not guarantee resistance in transgenic plants. Journal of Virology 81, 1563-1573
- Rizhsky L, Mittler R (2001) Inducible expression of bacterio-opsin in transgenic tobacco and tomato plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 46, 313-323
- Rizos H, Gillings MR, Pares RD, Gunn LV, Frankham R, Daggard G (1996) Protection of tobacco plants transgenic for *Cucumber mosaic cucumovirus* (CMV) coat protein is related to the virulence of the challenging CMV isolate. *Australian Plant Pathology* 25, 179-185
- Rohini VK, Sankara Rao K (2001) Transformation of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) with tobacco chitinase gene: Variable response of transformants to leaf spot disease. *Plant Science* 160, 883-892
- Romero C, Belles JM, Vaya JL, Serrano R, Culiáñez-Macià FA (1997) Expression of the yeast trehalose-6-phosphate synthase gene in transgenic tobacco plants: Pleiotropic phenotypes include drought tolerance. *Planta* 201, 293-297
- Ronde JAD, Cress WA, Krugerd GHJ, Strasserd RJ, van Staden J (2004) Photosynthetic response of transgenic soybean plants, containing an Arabidopsis P5CR gene, during heat and drought stress. Journal of Plant Physiology 161, 1211-1224
- Roxas VPJ, Smith RK, Allen ER, Allen RD (1997) Overexpression of glutathione S-transferase/glutathione peroxidase enhances the growth of transgenic tobacco seedlings during stress. *Nature Biotechnology* 15, 988-991
- Roy-Barman S, Sautter C, Chattoo BB (2006) Expression of the lipid transfer protein Ace-AMP1 in transgenic wheat enhances antifungal activity and defense responses. *Transgenic Research* 15, 435-446
- Ruan C-J, Teixeira da Silva JA, Qin P, Lutts S, Gallagher JL (2010) Halophyte improvement for a salinized world. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences

29 (6), 329-359

- Ruan C-J, Teixeira da Silva JA (2011) Metabolomics: Creating new potentials for unraveling mechanisms in response to salt and drought stress and for biotechnological improvement of xero-halophytes. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* **31(2)**, 153-169
- Saha P, Dasgupta I, Das S (2006a) A novel approach for developing resistance in rice against phloem limited viruses by antagonizing the phloem feeding hemipteran vectors. *Plant Molecular Biology* 62, 735-752
- Saha P, Majumder P, Dutta I, Ray T, Roy SC, Das S (2006b) Transgenic rice expressing *Allium sativum* leaf lectin with enhanced resistance against sapsucking insect pests. *Planta* 223, 1329-1343
- Sahrawat AK, Becker D, Lütticke S, Lörz H (2003) Genetic improvement of wheat via alien gene transfer, an assessment. *Plant Science* 165, 1147-1168
- Saijo Y, Hata S, Kyozuka J, Shimamoto K, Izui K (2000) Over-expression of a single Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent protein kinase confers both cold and salt/drought tolerance on rice plants. *Plant Journal* 23, 319-327
- Sakamoto A, Alia H, Murata N (1998) Metabolic engineering of rice leading to biosynthesis of glycinebetaine and tolerance to salt and cold. *Plant Molecular Biology* 38, 1011-1019
- Sanghera GS, Kashyap PL, Wani SH, Singh G (2010b) QTL herald: A revival of biometrical genetics. In: Malik CP (Ed) *Genetic Engineering: A New Hope for Crop Production and Improvement*, Aavishkar Publishers, New Delhi, pp 33-48
- Sanghera GS, Wani SH, Gill MS, Kashyap PL, Gosal SS (2010a) RNA interference: Its concept and application in crop plants. In: Malik CP, Verma A (Eds) *Biotechnology Cracking New Pastures*, MD Publishers, New Delhi, pp 33-78
- Sanghera GS, Wani SH, Gill MS, Gosal SS (2009) Recent approaches for optimization of transgene expression in plants. In: Malik CP, Wadhwani C, Kaur B (Eds) Crop Breeding and Biotechnology, Pointer Publishers, Jaipur, pp 1-27
- Schneider SM, Rosskopf EN, Leesch JG, Chellemi DO, Bull CT, Mazzola M (2003) United States Department of Agriculture – Agricultural Research Service research on alternatives to methyl bromide: Pre-plant and post-harvest. *Pest Management Science* 59, 814-826
- Schubert J, Matou Sek J, Mattern D (2004) Pathogen-derived resistance in potato to *Potato virus Y*: Aspects of stability and biosafety under field conditions. *Virus Research* 100, 41-50
- Serazetdinova L, Oldach KH, Lorz H (2005) Expression of transgenic stilbene synthases in wheat causes the accumulation of unknown stilbene derivatives with antifungal activity. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 162, 985-1002
- Serraj R, Sinclair TR (2002) Osmolyte accumulation: Can it really increase crop yield under drought conditions? *Plant Cell and Environment* 25, 333-341
- Shade RE, Schroeder HE, Pueyo JJ, Tabe LM, Murdock LL, Higgins TJV, Chrispeels MJ (1994) Transgenic pea seeds expressing a-amylase inhibitor of the common bean are resistant to bruchid beetles. *BioTechnology* 12, 793-796
- Shah JM, Raghupathy V, Veluthambi K (2008) Enhanced sheath blight resistance in transgenic rice expressing an endochitinase gene from *Trichoderma* virens. Biotechnol Letters 31, 239-244
- Shao M, Wang J, Dean RA, Lin Y, Gao X, Hu S (2008) Expression of a harpin-encoding gene in rice confers durable nonspecific resistance to Magnaporthe grisea. Plant Biotechnology Journal 6, 73-81
- Sharma M, Charak KS, Ramanaiah TV (2003) Agricultural biotechnology research in India: Status and policies. *Current Science* 84, 297-302
- Sharma, A, Sharma R, Imamura M, Yamakawa M, Machii H (2000) Transgenic expression of cecropin B, an antibacterial peptide from *Bombyx mori*, confers enhanced resistance to bacterial leaf blight in rice. *FEBS Letters* 484, 7-11
- Shen YG, Du BX, Zhang WK, Zhang JS, Chen SY (2002) AhCMO, regulated by stresses in *Atriplex hortensis*, can improve drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 105, 815-821
- **Shi H, Lee BH, Wu SJ, Zhu JK** (2003) Overexpression of a plasma membrane Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter gene improves salt tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Nature Biotechnology* **21**, 81-85
- Shi J, Thomas CJ, King LA, Hawes CR, Posee RD, Edwards ML, Pallett D, Cooper JI (2000) The expression of a baculovirus-derived chitinase gene increased resistance of tobacco cultivars to brown spot (*Alternaria alternata*). *Annals of Applied Biology* 136, 1-8
- Shimizu T, Yoshii M, Wei T, Hirochika H, Omura T (2010) Silencing by RNAi of the gene for *Pns12*, a viroplasm matrix protein of *Rice dwarf virus*, results in strong resistance of transgenic rice plants to the virus. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 7, 24-32
- Shin R, Han JH, Lee GJ, Paek KH (2002b) The potential use of a viral coat protein gene as a transgene screening marker and multiple virus resistance of pepper plants coexpressing coat proteins of *Cucumber mosaic virus* and *Tomato mosaic virus. Transgenic Research* 11, 215-219
- Shin R, Park JM, An JM, Paek KH (2002a) Ectopic expression of *Tsi1* in transgenic hot pepper plants enhances host resistance to viral, bacterial, and oomycete pathogens. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 15, 983-89
- Singh Z, Jones MGK, Jones RAC (1998) Effectiveness of coat protein and defective replicase gene-mediated resistance against Australian isolates of

Cucumber mosaic virus. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 38, 375-383

- Sivamani E, Bahieldin A, Wraith JM, Al-Niemi T, Dyer WE, Ho THD, Wu R (2000) Improved biomass productivity and water use efficiency under water deficit conditions in transgenic wheat constitutively expressing the barley HVA1 gene. Plant Science 155, 1-9
- Sivamani E, Brey CW, Talbert LE, Young MA, Dyer WE, Kaniewski WK, Qu R (2002) Resistance to Wheat streak mosaic virus in transgenic wheat engineered with the viral coat protein gene. Transgenic Research 11, 31-41
- Sivamani E, Huet H, Shen P, Shen P, Ong CA, de Kochko A, Fauquet C, Beachy RN (1999) Rice plant (*Oryza sativa* L.) containing *Rice tungro spherical virus* (RTSV) coat protein transgenes are resistant to virus infection. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 177-185
- Smigocki AC, Neal JW, McCanna I, Douglass L (1993) Cytokinin-mediated insect resistance in *Nicotiana* plants transformed with *ipt* gene. *Plant Molecular Biology* 23, 325-335
- Sohn KH, Lee SC, Jung HW, Hong JK, Hwang BK (2006) Expression and functional roles of the pepper pathogen induced transcription factor RAV1 bacterial disease resistance and drought and salt tolerance. *Plant Molecular Biology* 61, 897-915
- Sohn SI, Kim H, Kim BR, Lee SY, Lim CK, Hur JH, Lee JY (2007) Transgenic tobacco expressing the *hrpN* (EP) gene from *Erwinia pyrifoliae* triggers defense responses against *Botrytis cinerea*. *Molecular Cells* **31**, 232-239
- Spelbrink RG, Dilmac N, Allen A, Smith TJ, Shah DM, Hockerman GH (2004) Differential antifungal and calcium channel-blocking activity among structurally related plant defensins. *Plant Physiology* 135, 2055-2067
- Srivastava A, Raj SK (2008) Coat protein-mediated resistance against an Indian isolate of the *Cucumber mosaic virus* subgroup IB in *Nicotiana benthamiana. Journal of Bioscience* 33, 249-257
- Starr JL, Bridge J, Cook R (2002) Resistance to plant-parasitic nematodes: history, current use and future potential. In: Starr JL, Cook R, Bridge J (Eds) *Plant Resistance toPparasitic Nematodes*, CAB International, Wallingford, pp 1-22
- Stommel JR, Tousignant ME, Wai T, Pasini R, Kaper JM (1998) Viral satellite RNA expression in transgenic tomato confers field tolerance to *Cucumber mosaic virus*. *Plant Disease* 82, 391-396
- Streber W R, Kutschka U, Thomas F, Pohlenz HD (1994) Expression of a bacterial gene in transgenic plants confers resistance to the herbicide phenmedipham. *Plant Molecular Biology* 25, 977-987
- Sunkar R, Kapoor A, Zhu JK (2006) Post transcriptional induction of two Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase genes in *Arabidopsis* is mediated by down regulation of miR398 and important for oxidative stress tolerance. *Plant Cell* 18, 2051-2065
- Suzuki M, Masuta C, Takanami Y, Kuwata S (1996) Resistance against Cucumber mosaic virus in plants expressing the viral replicon. FEBS Letters 379, 26-30
- Swaminathan MS (2006) An evergreen revolution. Crop Science 46, 2293-2303
- Tai TH, Dahlbeck D, Clark ET, Gajiwala P, Pasion R, Whalen MC, Stall RE, Staskawicz BJ (1999) Expression of the Bs2 pepper gene confers resistance to bacterial spot disease in tomato. Proceedingss of the National Academy of Sciences USA 23, 14153-14158
- Takaichi M, Oeda K (2000) Transgenic carrots with enhanced resistance against two major pathogens, *Erwinia heraclei* and *Alternaria dauci*. *Plant Science* 153, 135-144
- Takashahi W, Fujimori M, Miura Y, Komatsu T, Nishizawa Y, Hibi T, Takamizo T (2005) Increased resistance to crown rust disease in transgenic Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiforum* Lam.) expressing the rice chitinase gene. *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 811-818
- Takatsu Y, Nishizawa Y, Hibi T, Akutsu K (1999) Transgenic chrysanthemum (Dendranthema grandiflorum (Ramat.) Kitamura) expressing a rice chitinase gene shows enhanced resistance to gray mold (Botrytis cinerea). Scientia Horticulturae 82, 113-123
- Tang K, Sun X, Hu Q, Wu A, Lin C, Lin H, Twyman RM, Christou P, Feng TY (2001) Transgenic rice plants expressing the ferredoxin-like protein (AP1) from sweet pepper show enhanced resistance to *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. oryzae. Plant Science 160, 1035-1042
- Tang W, Lin YJ (2007) Field experiment of transgenic cry1Ab insect resistant rice. Hereditas 29, 1008-1012
- Tarczynski MC, Jensen RG, Bohnert HJ (1993) Stress protection of transgenic tobacco by production of the osmolyte mannitol. Science 259, 508-510
- Tepfer D, Boutteaux C, Vigon C, Aymes S, Perez V, O'Donohue MJ, Huet JC, Pernollet JC (1998) *Phytophthora* resistance through production of a fungal protein elicitor (B-cryptogein) in tobacco. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 11, 64-67
- Terras FR, Eggermont K, Kovalega V, Raikhel NV, Osborn RW, Kester A, Rees SB, Torrekens S, Van Leuven F, Vanderleyden J (1995) Small cysteine-rich antifungal proteins from radish: Their role in host defense. *Plant Cell* 7, 573-588
- Thomas JC, Adams DG, Keppenne VD, Wasmann CC, Brown JK, Kanosh MR, Bohnert HJ (1995) Proteinase inhibitors of *Manduca sexta* expressed in transgenic cotton. *Plant Cell Reports* 14, 758-762
- Thompson CJ, Movva NR, Tizard R, Crameri R, Davies JV, Lauwereys M,

**Botterman J** (1987) Characterization of the herbicide-resistance gene *bar* from *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*. *EMBO Journal* **6**, 2519-2523

- Tobias DJ, Manoharan M, Pritsch C, Dahleen LS (2007) Co-bombardment, integration and expression of rice chitinase and thaumatin-like protein genes in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* cv. Conlon). Plant Cell Reports 26, 631-639
- Tomassoli L, Ilardi V, Barba M, Kaniewski W (1999) Resistance of transgenic tomato to *Cucumber mosaic cucumovirus* under field conditions. *Molecular Breeding* 5, 121-130
- Tricoli DM, Carney KJ, Russel PF, McMaster JR, Groff DW, Hadden KC, Himmel PT, Hubbard JP, Boeshore ML, Quemada HD (1995) Field evaluation of transgenic squash containing single or multiple virus coat protein gene constructs for resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus*, *Watermelon mosaic virus 2*, and *Zucchini yellow mosaic virus*. BioTechnology 13, 1458-1465
- Tripathi L, Mwaka H, Tripathi JN, Tushemereirwe WK (2010) Expression of sweet pepper *Hrap* gene in banana enhances resistance to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *musacearum*. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **11**, 721-731
- Tripathi SJ, Suzuki Y, Ferreira SA, Gonsalves D (2008) Papaya ringspot virus-P: Characteristics, pathogenicity, sequence variability and control. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 9, 269-280
- Tripathi L, Tripathi JN, Tushemereirwe WK (2004) Strategies for resistance to bacterial wilt disease of bananas through genetic engineering. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 3, 688-692
- Trudel J, Potvin C, Asselin A (1995) Secreted hen lysozyme in transgenic tobacco: Recovery of bound enzyme and *in vitro* growth inhibition of plant pathogens. *Plant Science* 106, 55-62
- Tuberosa R, Salvi S (2006) Genomics approaches to improve drought tolerance in crops. *Trends in Plant Science* 11, 405-412
- Tumer NE, Hemenway C, O'Connell KM, Cuozzo M (1987a) Expression of coat protein genes in transgenic plants confers protection against *Alfalfa mosaic virus*, *Cucumber mosaic virus* and *Potato virus* X. In: von Wettstein D, Chua N-H (Eds) *Plant Molecular Biology*, Plenum Publishing Corp., London, UK, pp 351-356
- Tumer NE, O'Connell KM, Nelson RS, Sanders PR, Beachy RN, Fraley RT, Shah DM (1987b) Expression of *Alfalfa mosaic virus* coat protein gene confers cross-protection in transgenic tobacco and tomato plants. *EMBO Journal* 6, 1181-1188
- Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ, Waller DA, McPherson MJ (1995) Engineered oryzacystatin-I expressed in transgenic hairy roots confers resistance to *Globodera pallida*. *Plant Journal* 8, 121-131
- Urwin PE, Levesley A, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (2000) Transgenic resistance to the nematode *Rotylenchulus reniformis* conferred by *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants expressing proteinase inhibitors. *Molecular Breeding* 6, 257-264
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Resistance to both cyst and root-knot nematodes conferred by transgenic *Arabidopsis* expressing a modified plant cystatin. *Plant Journal* **12**, 455-461
- Vain P, Worland B, Clarke MC, Richard G, Beavis M, Kohli A, Leech M, Snape J (1998) Expression of an engineered cysteine protease inhibitor (*Oryzacystatin*-I1D86) for nematode resistance in transgenic rice plants. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 96, 266-271
- Vaira AM, Semeria L, Crespi S, Lisa V, Allavena A, Accotto GP (1995) Resistance to tospoviruses in *Nicotiana benthamiana* transformed with the N gene of *Tomato spotted wilt virus*: Correlation between transgene expression and protection in primary transformants. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 8, 66-73
- Vendruscolo ECG, Schuster I, Pileggi M, Scapim CA, Molinari HBC, Marur CJ (2007) Stress induced synthesis of proline confers tolerance to water deficit in transgenic wheat. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 164, 1367-1376
- Verberne MC, Verporte R, Bol JF, Mercado-Blanco J, Linthorst HJM (2000) Overproduction of salicylic acid in plants by bacterial transgenes enhances pathogen resistance. *Nature Biotechnology* 18, 779-783
- Villani ME, Roggero P, Bitti O, Benvenuto E, Franconi R (2005) Immunomodulation of *Cucumber mosaic virus* infection by intrabodies selected *in vitro* from a stable single-framework phage display library. *Plant Molecular Biology* 58, 305-316
- Vinocur B, Altman A (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: Achievements and limitations. *Current Opinion in Biotechnol*ogy 16, 1-10
- Vishnudasan D, Tripathi MN, Rao U, Khurana P (2005) Assessment of nematode resistance in wheat transgenic plants expressing potato proteinase inhibitor (*PIN2*) gene. *Transgenic Research* 14, 665-675
- Vos P, Simons G, Jesse T, Wijbrandi J, Heinen L, Hogers R, Frijters A, Groenendijk J, Diergaarde P, Reijans M, Fierens-Onstenk J, de Both M, Peleman J, Liharska T, Hontelez J, Zabeau M (1998) The tomato Mi-1 gene confers resistance to both root-knot nematodes and potato aphids. Nature Biotechnology 16, 1365-1369
- Vunnam S, Juvvadi P, Merrifield RB (1997) Synthesis and antibacterial action of cecropin and proline-arginine-rich peptides from pig intestine. *Journal* of Peptide Research 49, 59-66
- Wally O, Jayaraj J, Punja Z (2009) Comparative resistance to foliar fungal pathogens in transgenic carrot plants expressing genes encoding for chitinase, β-1,3-glucanase and peroxidase. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 123,

331-342

- Wang Y, Guo S (2010) Insect-resistance and high-yield transgenic tobacco obtained by molecular breeding technology. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 40, 6626-6631
- Wang J, Zuo K, Wu W, Song J, Sun X, Lin J, Li X, Tang K (2004) Expression of a novel antiporter gene from *Brassica napus* resulted in enhanced salt tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants. *Biologia Plantarum* 48, 509-515
- Wang P, Zoubenko O, Tumer NE (1998) Reduced toxicity and broad spectrum resistance to viral and fungal infection in transgenic plants expressing pokeweed antiviral protein II. *Plant Molecular Biology* 38, 957-964
- Wang YC, Qu GZ, Li, HY, Wu YJ, Wang C, Liu GF, Yang CP (2010) Enhanced salt tolerance of transgenic poplar plants expressing a manganese superoxide dismutase from *Tamarix androssowii*. *Molecular Biology Reports* 37, 1119-1124
- Wang YJ, Hao YJ, Zhang ZG, Chen T, Zhang JS, Chen SY (2005) Isolation of trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase gene from tobacco and its functional analysis in yeast cells. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 162, 215-223
- Wang YP, Nowak G, Culley D, Hadwiger LA, Fristensky B (1999) Constitutive expression of pea defense gene DRR206 confers resistance to blackleg (Leptosphaeria maculans) disease in transgenic canola (Brassica napus). Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 12, 410-418
- Wani SH, Sanghera GS (2010) Genetic engineering for viral disease management in plants. *Notulae Scientia Biologicae* 2, 20-28
- Watanabe Y, Ogawa T, Takahashi H, Ishida I, Takeuchi Y, Yamamoto M, Okada Y (1995) Resistance against multiple plant viruses in plants mediated by a double stranded-RNA specific ribonuclease. FEBS Letters 372, 165-168
- Wei AY, He CM, Li B, Li N, Zhang JR (2010) The pyramid of transgenes *TsVP* and *BetA* effectively enhances the drought tolerance of maize plants. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* **8**, 678-690
- Wei J-Z, Hale K, Carta L, Platzer E, Wong C, Fang S-C, Aroian RV (2003) Bacillus thuringiensis crystal proteins that target nematodes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100, 2760-2765
- Wang W, Wu C, Liu M, Liu X-R, Hu G-C, Si H-M, Sun Z-X, Liu W-Z, Fu Y-P (2011) Resistance of antimicrobial peptide gene transgenic rice to bacterial blight. *Rice Science* 18 (1), 1-7
- Weng LX, Deng HH, Xu JL, Li Q, Zhang YQ, Jiang ZD, Li QW, Chen JW, Zhang LH (2010) Transgenic sugarcane plants expressing high levels of modified *cry1Ac* provide effective control against stem borers in field trials. *Transgenic Research* 3, in press
- Wesseler J (2003) Resistance economics of transgenic crops under uncertainty. In: Laxminarayan R (Ed) Battling Resistance to Antibiotics and Pesticides: An Economic Approach, Resources for the Future, Washington, DC, pp 214-237
- Whitfield J (2003) Transgenic cotton a winner in India. Nature News Service, MacMillan Magazines Ltd. Feb. 7, 2003, pp 1-3
- Winter MD, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (2002) Neuronal uptake of pesticides disrupts chemosensory cells of nematodes. *Parasitology* 125, 561-565
- Wintermantel WM, Zaitlin M (2000) Transgene translatability increases effectiveness of replicase-mediated resistance to Cucumber mosaic virus. Journal of General Virology 81, 587-595
- Wu CA, Yang GD, Meng QW, Zheng CC (2004) The cotton GhNHX1 gene encoding a novel putative tonoplast Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter plays an important role in salt stress. Plant Cell Physiology 45, 600-607
- Wu LQ, Fan ZM, Guo L, Li YQ, Chen ZL, Qu LJ (2005) Overexpression of the bacterial *nhaA* gene in rice enhances salt and drought tolerance. *Plant Science* 168, 297-302
- Wu R, Garg A (2003) Engineering rice plants with trehalose-producing genes improves tolerance to drought, salt, and low temperature. ISB News Report; February 2003, pp 3-7
- Wurbs D, Ruf S, Bock R (2007) Contained metabolic engineering in tomatoes by expression of carotenoid biosynthesis genes from the plastid genome. *Plant Journal* 49, 276-288
- Xiao B, Huang Y, Tang N, Xiong L (2007) Over expression of *LEA* gene in rice improves drought resistance under field conditions. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 115, 35-46
- Xu D, Duan X, Wang B, Hong B, Ho THD, Wu R (1996) Expression of late embryogenesis abundant protein gene HVA1, from barley confers tolerance to water deficit and salt stress in transgenic rice. *Plant Physiology* 110, 249-257
- Xu DP, Xue QZ, McElroy D, Mawal Y, Hilder VA, Wu R (1996) Constitutive expression of a cowpea trypsin inhibitor gene, *CpTi*, in transgenic rice plants confers resistance to two major rice insect pests. *Molecular Breeding* 2, 167-173
- Xue B, Gonsalves C, Provvidenti R (1994) Development of transgenic tomato expressing a high level of resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* strains of subgroups I and II. *Plant Disease* 78, 1038-1041
- Xue ZY, Zhi DY, Xue GP, Zhang H, Zhao YX, Xia GM (2004) Enhanced salt tolerance of transgenic wheat (*Tritivum aestivum* L.) expressing a vacuolar Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter gene with improved grain yields in saline soils in the field and a reduced level of leaf Na<sup>+</sup>. *Plant Science* 167, 849-859

Yadav BC, Veluthambi K, Subramaniam K (2006) Host-generated doublestranded RNA induces RNAi in plant-parasitic nematodes and protects the host from infection. *Molecular Biochemistry and Parasitology* 148, 219-222

Yamada M, Morishita H, Urano K, Shiozaki N, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K,

Shinozaki K (2005) Effects of free proline accumulation in petunias under drought stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 56, 1975-1981

- Yamaguchi T, Blumwald E (2005) Developing salt-tolerant crop plants: Challenges and opportunities. *Trends in Plant Science* **10**, 615-620
- Yamamoto T, Iketani H, Ieki H, Nishizawa Y, Notsuka K, Hibi T, Hayashi T, Matsuta N (2000) Transgenic grapevine plants expressing a rice chitinase with enhanced resistance to fungal pathogens. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 639-646
- Yang WJ, Rich PJ, Axtell JD, Wood KV, Bonham CC, Ejeta G (2003) Genotypic variation for glycinebetaine in sorghum. Crop Science 43, 162-169
- Yang Y, Sherwood TA, Patte CP, Hiebert E, Polston JE (2004) Use of *Tomato yellow leaf curl virus* (TYLCV) *Rep* gene sequence to engineer TYLCV resistance in tomato. *Phytopathology* **94**, 490-496
- Yanga Q, Chena ZZ, Zhoua XF, Yina HB, Lia X, Xina XF, Honga XH, Zhu JK, Gonga Z (2009) Overexpression of SOS (Salt Overly Sensitive) genes increases salt tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. Molecular Plant 2, 22-31
- Ye R, Huang H, Yang Z, Chen T, Liu L, Li X, Chen H, Lin Y (2009) Development of insect-resistant transgenic rice with Cry1C\*-free endosperm. *Pest Management Science* 65, 1015-1020
- Ye XD, Wu XL, Zhao H, Frehner M, Nösberger J and Potrykus I (2001) Altered fructan accumulation in transgenic *Lolium multiflorum* plants expressing a *Bacillus subtilis* sacB gene. *Plant Cell Reports* **20**, 205-212
- Yeo AR (1999) Predicting the interaction between the effects of salinity and climate change on crop plants. *Scientia Horticulturae* 78, 159-174
- Yeo AR, Koyama ML, Chinta S, Flowers T (2000) Salt tolerance at the whole plant level. In: Cherry JH (Ed) *Plant Tolerance to Abiotic Stresses in Agriculture: Role of Genetic Engineering* (Vol 3), Kluwer, Netherlands, pp 107-123
- Yevtushenko DP, Romero R, Forward BS, Hancock RE, Kay WW, Misra S (2005) Pathogen-induced expression of a cecropin A-melittin antimicrobial peptide gene confers antifungal resistance in transgenic tobacco. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 1685-1695
- Yie Y, Zhao F, Zhao SZ, Liu YZ, Liu YL, Tien P (1992) High resistance to *Cucumber mosaic virus* conferred by satellite RNA and coat protein in transgenic commercial tobacco cultivar G-140. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 5, 460-465
- Yin XY, Yang AF, Zhang KW, Zhang JR (2004) Production and analysis of transgenic maize with improved salt tolerance by the introduction of *AtNHX1* gene. *Acta Botanica Sinica* 46, 854-861
- Wang Y, Guo S (2010) Insect-resistance and high-yield transgenic tobacco obtained by molecular breeding technology. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 9, 6626-6631
- Zainal Z, Marouf E, Ismail I, Fei CK (2009) Expression of the Capsicuum annuum (Chili) defensin gene in transgenic tomatoes confers enhanced resistance to fungal pathogens. American Journal of Plant Physiology 4, 70-79
- Zaitlin M, Anderson JM, Perry KL, Zhang L, Palukaitis P (1994) Specificity of replicase-mediated resistance to Cucumber mosaic virus. Virology 201,

200-205

- Zhang J, Martin JM, Balint-Kurti P, Huang L, Giroux MJ (2010) The wheat puroindoline genes confer fungal resistance in transgenic corn. *Journal* of *Phytopathology* 159, 188-190
- Zhang GH, Su Q, An LJ, Wu S (2008) Characterization and expression of a vacuolar Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter gene from the monocot halophyte *Aeluropus littoralis. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 46, 117-126
- Zhang HX, Blumwald E (2001) Transgenic salt-tolerant tomato plants accumulate salt in foliage but not in fruit. *Nature Biotechnology* 19, 765-768
- Zhang HX, Hodson JN, Williams JP, Blumwald E (2001) Engineering salttolerant *Brassica* plants: characterization of yield and seed oil quality in transgenic plants with increased vacuolar sodium accumulation. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 12832-12836
- Zhao BY, Lin XH, Poland J, Trick H, Leach J, Hulbert S (2005) From the cover: A maize resistance gene functions against bacterial streak disease in rice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 102, 15383-15388
- Zhao FY, Zhang H (2006a) Salt and paraquat stress tolerance results from coexpression of the Suaeda salsa glutathione S-transferase and catalase in transgenic rice. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Culture 86, 349-358
- Zhao FY, Zhang H (2006b) Expression of Suaeda salsa glutathione S-transferase in transgenic rice resulted in a different level of abiotic stress tolerance. Journal of Agricultural Sciences 144, 1-8
- Zhao J, Ren W, Zhi D, Wang L, Xia G (2007) Arabidopsis DREB1A/CBF3 bestowed transgenic tall fescue increased tolerance to drought stress. Plant Cell Reports 26, 1521-1528
- Zheng SJ, Henken B, Maagd RA, Purwito A, Krens FA, Kik C (2005) Two different Bacillus thuringiensis toxin genes confer resistance to beet armyworm (Spodoptera exigua Hubner) in transgenic Bt-shallots (Allium cepa L.). Transgenic Research 14, 261-272
- Zhou JY, Cheng LQ, Zheng XJ, Wu JX, Shang SB, Wang JY, Chen JG (2004) Generation of the transgenic potato expressing full-length spike protein of infectious bronchitis virus. *Journal of Biotechnology* 111, 121-130
- Zhou P, Ren B, Zhang XM, Wang Y, Wei CH, Li Y (2010) Stable expression of rice dwarf virus *Pns10* suppresses the post-transcriptional gene silencing in transgenic *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants. *Acta Virologica* 54, 99-104
- Zhou W, Li Y, Zhao BC, Ge RC, Shen YZ, Wang G, Huang ZJ (2009) Overexpression of *TaSTRG* gene improves salt and drought tolerance in rice. *Jour*nal of Plant Physiology 15, 1660-1670
- Zhu H, Xu X, Xiao G, Yuan L, Li B (2007) Enhancing disease resistance of Super Hybrid Rice with four antifungal genes. Science in China Series C: Life Sciences 50, 31-39
- Zrachya A, Kumar PP, Ramakrishnan U, Levy Y, Loyter A, Arazi T, Lapidot M, Gafni Y (2007) Production of siRNA targeted against *TYLCV* coat protein transcripts leads to silencing of its expression and resistance to the virus. *Transgenic Research* 16, 385-398